
Legal & Governance Reform
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
HeadHead  ofof  LegalLegal  andand  GovernanceGovernance  ReformReform

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Middleton Township 
Planning Sub Committee

Enquiries to: Caroline Denyer
Telephone: 01706 9247117
Date: 9th December 2015

Dear Councillor

Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Middleton Township Planning Sub 
Committee to be held in St Anne's Academy, Hollin Lane, Middleton, Manchester, 
M24 6XN on Thursday, 17th December 2015 commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

Please note that a site visit has been arranged for Members of the 
Committee to Keswick Close. Meet at Number One Riverside at 2:30pm or 
Keswick Close at 2:50pm. (Members are advised to wear appropriate footwear 
for the visit as the site is overgrown). 

Chairman's Agenda Meeting: There will be a Chair’s briefing at 5pm, which all 
Committee Members are requested to attend.

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Head of Legal and Governance Reform

Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee Membership 2015/16
Councillor Andy Bell
Councillor Malcolm Boriss
Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Christopher Furlong
Councillor Pat Greenall
Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor June West



Rochdale Borough Council

MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

Thursday, 17th December 2015 at 6.15 pm

St Anne's Academy, Hollin Lane, Middleton, Manchester, M24 6XN

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Submitted Planning Application 4 - 163

3.  Planning Appeals 

i) Notification that the following appeals have been lodged

• None

ii)  Notification that the following appeals have been dismissed

• None

ii) Notification that the following appeals have been allowed

• None





DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to:  Middleton Township Planning 
Committee

Date:         9 December 2015 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or related 
consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration and/or determination 
of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related matters which 
may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as detailed in the 
following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in accordance with the 
provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 
2008, Localism Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where relevant, 
any such material considerations will be referred to in the report.

    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed against the 
relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the Borough (currently the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) and any Supplementary Planning 
Documents or Guidance adopted by the Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)



3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a requirement to 
have regard to relevant national policies as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a material consideration.  Where relevant, 
the provisions of the NPPF and any other relevant national guidance will be referred to 
in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers dealing with 
Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have full regard to the Code 
in discharging their responsibilities and duties in relation to planning matters on behalf 
of the Council.  The Code seeks to ensure that all decision making is governed by an 
open and transparent process and represents a standard against which the conduct of 
Officers and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the commencement of the 
Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any Member sitting on the Committee ought to 
declare any interest on any item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning applications on 
their individual merits having regard to the development plan and other material 
planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of certain 
characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These protected 
characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, Marriage or Civil 
Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual 
Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the effects of its 
decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, including a duty to make 
reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all material planning considerations, 
including Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
all opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on relevant 
planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be included within the 
reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in designing access when dealing with 
the planning applications. Where applicable, any issues relating to these matters or 
other equal opportunity matters will be referred to in individual planning application 
reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of the Human 
Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those third parties, including 
local residents, who have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to 
this end the Committee must give full consideration to their comments.



6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s home, other 
land and business assets.  In taking account of all material considerations, including 
Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan, the Director (Economy and 
Environment) has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that 
might be affected may be interfered with but that that interference is in accordance with 
the law and justified by being in the public interest and on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights 
posed by approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council 
under the Town and Country Planning Acts.

Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on this agenda 
will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with scaled 
drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have been consulted 
or commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received and of 

relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the application 
file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports on planning 
applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of relevance to 
the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted planning applications or related 
consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 15/00869/FUL    Ward: West Middleton
     

Proposal: Erection of 3 storey extra care unit comprising 88 self-contained apartments, 
cafe, hairdressers and treatment room and the erection of 10 bungalows with 
associated car parking and landscaping

Site Address: Land At Keswick Close Langley Middleton  

Applicant: Mr Andrew Booth
                  Mulbury Homes Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

The application is referred to the Middleton Township Planning Sub-Committee for 
determination as four letters of objection have been received and the recommendation is for 
approval.  



SITE

The application relates to a 1.25 hectare vacant site that was previously occupied by three 
high-rise blocks of flats.  The site was cleared in 2010 following demolition of the flats and the 
land has since become naturally vegetated with grass, shrubs and young trees.  More mature 
trees and hedgerows are also present, particularly towards the western and southern site 
boundaries.

The site is surrounded by existing residential development, consisting of traditional two-storey 
dwellings on Bowness Road, Millbeck Road and Lingmell Close to the south, west and north-
west, and more recent three and four-storey apartment buildings (Rydal Gardens and Millbeck 
Gardens) and a doctors’ surgery to the north-east.  The retail units and associated car park at 
Lakeland Court lie adjacent to the northern corner of the site, connected by a footpath.  Other 
former footpath links from the site to the residential areas to the south and west have 
previously been closed and secured.

The majority of the site is relatively flat but levels falls away on the north-western and south-
western edges, with a maximum fall across the site from east to west of 2.5 metres.  The 
existing access road (Keswick Close) enters the site from Bowness Road, currently serving 
the apartments at Millbeck Gardens.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks planning permission for the erection of three-storey building to form an 
extra care facility comprising 88 no. one and two-bed apartments, along with facilities including 
communal lounges, café, hairdressers and treatment room.  The proposed building has two 
main wings, with a maximum height of approximately 12 metres to ridge and 9 metres to 
eaves.  The building would be constructed of red brick and dark red concrete roof tiles and 
includes large areas of glazing, particularly to the communal ground floor areas and upper 
floors with balconies.  The south-western elevation includes a terraced gable approach to the 
roofline, to reference traditional terraced housing in the area and to break-up the long 
elevation facing the rear of the properties on Millbeck Road.  A total of 62 car parking spaces 
(including 9 accessible) are proposed in car parks within the central part of the site and 
adjacent to Bowness Road, along with cycle parking provision.

The proposal also includes 10 no. bungalows (5 no. one-bed and 5 no. two-bed) in the north-
western part of the site, served by a cul-de-sac with driveway car parking and fenced private 
gardens.  The bungalows are arranged in two blocks of two and two blocks of three.  The 
design and materials reflect those of the main building, with terrace-style gables and 
prominent bay window features to the front.  The applicant states that the occupiers of the 
bungalows would be encouraged to use the communal facilities within the adjacent extra care 
unit.   

Some of the existing trees on the site would need to be removed to allow for the proposed 
development, including those in the northern, western and southern corners of the site.  
However, 9 no. trees would be retained, including a Norway Maple adjacent to the entrance to 
Millbeck Gardens and a group of four trees adjacent to the rear boundary of 46 and 48 
Millbeck Road.  Landscaped communal gardens are proposed to the south and west of the 
extra care building, with the introduction of replacement tree and shrub planting along with 
bicycle store, greenhouse, gazebo, water features and raised planters.  



The proposal also includes the permanent closure of the footpath links from the site to 
Lakeland Court to the north and Millbeck Road to the west.  These and the former access and 
parking areas serving the blocks of flats formed part of the adopted highway, and the applicant 
has separately applied to the highways authority for a closure of these through Section 247 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act.

The applicant states that the proposed development will be developed and managed by the 
Riverside Group, a registered provider of social housing who own and manage a significant 
number of properties in the area and work closely with the Council.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF set out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1              Defined Urban Area

G/H/1 Housing

H/3 Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas

H/5 Residential Density

H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development

H/7 Affordable Housing

H/10 Residential Homes, Group Homes and Sheltered Housing

G/R/1 Physical Regeneration

R/2 Langley Physical Regeneration Area

G/G/1 Greenspace

G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space

G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/5 New Provision of Outdoor Sports Facilities



G/A/1 Accessibility

A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy

A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People

A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists

A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services

A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network

A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic

A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking

A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments

A/13 Local Walking Route Network

A/14 A Strategic Cycling Route Network

A/15 Facilities for Buses

G/BE/1 Design Quality

BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development

BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control

EM/2 Pollution

EM/3 Noise and New Development

EM/4 Contaminated Land

EM/7 Development and Flood Risk

EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation

NE/3 Biodiversity and Development

NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands

NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement

NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):

Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD



Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG

Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD

Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

Rochdale Strategic Housing Market Assessment (January 2015)

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

06/D48194 – Erection of two blocks of 24 two-bed flats and two 2-bed bungalows, new site 
access road, car parking, landscaping and boundary walls.  Approved June 2006.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Design For Security - No objection. We recommend the following measures raised in section 
3.3 of the Crime Impact Statement are implemented along with the physical security measures 
listed in section 4: 

 The Millbeck Road footpath link is either closed completely or redesigned to provide a 
safe and secure residents only route;

 The footpath link to Lakeland Court is appropriately secured;

 Rear garden access paths to mid-terrace bungalows are secured; 

 Suitably secure fencing.

 Environment Agency - No objection. Comments as follows:

 The leachability of the made ground materials for nickel is 8.2 ug/l compared to an 
EQS of 8.0 ug/l, and we would expect that attenuation etc. of this contaminant would 
decrease its polluting potential, which leaves the leachable copper as the main 
pollutant in respect of groundwaters.

 Copper has a leachability that is three times the EQS, and has been found at 3 
locations on this site. As the site is underlain by impermeable glacial clays, and the 
nearest surface water course is approximately 500 metres away, we would agree that 
the potential for the made ground leachate to pollute either target is minimal. We would 
not require any further assessment of the contaminated soils on this site.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – No objection. Comments as follows:

Summary:

 No significant ecological constraints were identified by the developer’s ecological 
consultant.  Minor issues relating to nesting birds and ecological mitigation were 
identified which can be resolved via condition.

 Protected Species - The site was assessed for protected species by a suitably qualified 
ecologist.  No evidence of any such species was found and we have no reason to 



doubt the findings of the assessment.  No further information is required and no 
informatives or conditions are required.

 Nesting Birds - Habitats with bird nesting potential will be lost as a result of the 
development.  All British birds’ nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are 
protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended.  Please 
apply the following condition to any permission.

 No works to trees or shrubs shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in any 
year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been 
carried out immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that no 
active bird nests are present which has been agreed in writing by the LPA.

 Ecological Mitigation - The site has only low local ecological value but without 
mitigation there is a potential risk of a net loss of biodiversity contrary to guidance 
within the NPPF.  There is however adequate scope within the site to mitigate for the 
loss of trees, scrub and hedgerow that may occur as a result of the development and 
also provide potential bird nesting habitat.  Please apply the following condition to any 
permission.  I am satisfied that adequate mitigation will be possible within the proposed 
landscaping scheme.

 A landscape management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
LPA, prior to commencement of development.  The content of the plan should include 
elements to mitigate for loss of trees shrubs and bird nesting habitat.   The approved 
plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

GM Fire Service - No objection. Comments as follows:

 The above proposal should meet the requirements for Fire Service access.

 The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all 
points within the dwellings. 

 The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 
tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, 
hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum 
length of any cul-de-sac network should be 250 m.

 There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.

 The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 
positive measure to protect persons.

Green Infrastructure Officer - No objections.  The recommended tree protection should be in 
place for the trees to be retained, prior to the building works starting. Comments are awaited 
on the revised landscape and planting plans.

Highways And Engineering – No objection. Comments as follows:

 The existing highways at this location require a formal closure. The applicant has 
applied for and funded such a closure.



 It is generally accepted that the hairdressers and Café will not generate much traffic 
with many of the users being residents of the local area. The provision of 58 parking 
bays is satisfactory.  I have no concerns regarding Refuse Collection.  The access to 
the highway is satisfactory. 

 This development will not have a negative impact upon the local network capacity or 
on road safety. Highways Drainage will not change as a result of this development.

Highways England - No objection. The development would not result in a significant impact on 
the strategic road network.

John Ashley (Drainage) -  No objection. It appears that the existing drainage is to be used with 
the agreement of UU.  

Public Protection (Environment) – No objection. Comments as follows.

The site has not had a particularly problematic previous use although the Ground Investigation 
did identify the presence of asbestos fibres. The proposed remedial measures of a 600mm 
cover is appropriate however all imported material should be tested to ensure it is suitable for 
use, a ratio of 1:50m cubed for garden material and 1:250m cubed for material intended for 
landscaping.  Testing should include metals, PAH, TPH and an asbestos screen.  A validation 
report will be required.  

Public Protection - Noise/Odours - No objection. Recommend the following condition be 
considered: The hours of construction are restricted to 07:30am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday; 
9.00am to 2.00pm on Saturdays. No work on Sundays.

Public Rights Of Way - No objections.  There are no public rights of way in the area to which 
the planning application refers and so I have not comments on the application.

Strategic Housing – No objection. This is an extra care affordable housing scheme for older 
people which the Council is supporting through the provision of land at nil value. There have 
been a number of scheme design meetings with the developer, Mulberry Homes, and the 
registered provider, the Riverside Group.

Transport For Greater Manchester - The site is well located in relation to local amenities and 
bus stops.  Unfortunately the site layout has been designed to give priority to the car driver, 
with a central car park and walking routes to surrounding facilities closed off, encourages car 
use for even short journeys.  Recommend that the proposal be amended to cater for 
pedestrian/cycle desire lines and for routes to be fully integrated into the design of the 
development.

United Utilities - No objection. Comments as follows:

Drainage Comments:

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Building Regulations, the site 
should be drained on a separate system with foul draining to the public sewer and surface 
water draining in the most sustainable way.

Building Regulation H3 clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when 
considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer to consider the 
drainage options in the following order of priority:



a) an adequate soak away or some other adequate infiltration system, (approval must be 
obtained from local authority/building control/Environment Agency); or, where that is 
not reasonably practicable;

b) a watercourse (approval must be obtained from the riparian owner/land drainage

authority/Environment Agency); or, where that is not reasonably practicable;

c) a sewer (approval must be obtained from United Utilities).

United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following conditions are 
attached to any approval: -

• This site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage connected into 
the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to a Sustainable Drainage System to 
meet the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and part H3 of the 
Building Regulations.

• No surface water from this development is discharged either directly or indirectly to the 
combined sewer network.

Water Comments:

The applicant must undertake a complete soil survey, as and when land proposals have 
progressed to a scheme design i.e. development, and results submitted along with an 
application for water. This will aid in our design of future pipework and materials to eliminate 
the risk of contamination to the local water supply. 

The existing 180 mm main in Keswick Close crosses the site. The route of this main will need 
to be reviewed with respect to potential diversion due to the development. The existing 4" 
supplies to the demolished development off the 180mm main may need to be abandoned; the 
Network Customer Inspector has been to site but was unable to check if these connections 
are still live due to the overgrown nature of the site.  As we need access for operating and 
maintaining it, we will not permit development in close proximity to the main. 

You will need an access strip of no less than 5 metres, measuring at least 2.5 metres either 
side of the centre line of the pipe. The applicant must comply with our standard conditions for 
work carried out on, or when crossing aqueducts and easements. This should be taken into 
account in the final site layout, or a diversion will be necessary, which will be at the applicant's 
expense. 

Any necessary disconnection or diversion required as a result of any development will be 
carried out at the developer's expense. Under the Water Industry Act 1991, Sections 158 & 
159, we have the right to inspect, maintain, adjust, repair or alter our mains. This includes 
carrying out any works incidental to any of those purposes. Service pipes are not our property 
and we have no record of them. 

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours.  In addition, as the proposal 
constitutes major development and affects a right of way, appropriate notices were posted 
adjacent to the site and in the local press.  Four letters of objection and one neutral comment 
have been received, as summarised below:



 Loss of trees and nature conservation

 Concerned for the wildlife that is settled in the trees as there are bats, squirrels, birds 
and other wildlife.  

 Need more information about what I can do about effects on trees and nature 
conservation.

 The trees and shrubs give good security around the neighbouring houses, protecting 
us from intruders.

 Erection of 3 storey buildings so close to our property invades pure privacy, security 
and would reduce our sunlight by a good amount. We are not against development on 
the land just not 3 storey buildings at the bottom of our garden.

 I am in principle for something being built on the land but the plans shown come right 
up to the back of my property showing nine windows that come up to the border of my 
garden giving me no privacy.

 I can see why some people on Bowness Road, and Millbeck Road could object at 
being overlooked. The bungalows could be at the Bowness Rd end, or the access road 
could run along the back of the homes on Bowness Rd and Millbeck Rd, to create a 
space from being overlooked.

 I am concerned about the hours of work access in the mornings and at weekends due 
to the proximity of the site to domestic dwellings (most of which are occupied by 
pensioners). The hours of work should be written into the planning permission, and 
should be agreed with the planning applicant and the subsequent contractors.

 The building doesn't lend itself to direct daylight and sunlight for many of the residents. 

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

The underpinning principle embedded within the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. In terms of decision taking, this means:

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; 
and

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless: 

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in [the] Framework taken as a 
whole; or

o specific policies in [the] Framework indicate development should be restricted.

The NPPF identifies one of the core planning principles as to “encourage the effective use of 
land by reusing land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is 
not of high environmental value.”  Previously-developed land is defined as “land which is or 



was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land ….and 
any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes…..land in built-up areas such as 
private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was 
previously-developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface 
structure have blended into the landscape in the process of time.”

Policy H/3 of the Unitary Development Plan allows for the release of greenfield sites for 
residential development if the supply of housing land falls below 5 years, which is currently 
considered to be the case.

The application site was previously occupied by three high-rise blocks of flats, which were 
demolished in 2010. The site is clearly previously-developed but there are no longer any 
visible remnants of the previous development and the land has become naturally vegetated 
due to the passage of time.  The site is therefore considered to comprise greenfield land 
based on the above definition and the proposed development does not strictly comply with the 
principle of encouraging development on brownfield land.  However, the whole of the site falls 
within the defined urban area of Middleton, and also within the Langley Physical Regeneration 
Area as defined by policy R/2 of the Unitary Development Plan which states that:

“Within the Langley Physical Regeneration Area, the Council will support, facilitate and 
implement proposals for the comprehensive regeneration of the area in accordance with 
an approved masterplan. Future programmes for physical regeneration and renewal will 
be expected to…provide the planning framework for a sustainable community with new 
employment opportunities, a wider range of quality housing and supporting community 
facilities and a substantially improved environment.  Development within the estate will 
be expected to contribute, or avoid prejudice, to… the diversification of the housing 
stock to meet changing local demand, through refurbishment, clearance and new 
build;…..bringing underused and neglected land into beneficial use and making effective 
use of land created from demolition…”

The Rochdale Strategic Housing Market Assessment (January 2015) suggests a net 
affordable housing requirement in the Borough from 2014/15 to 2018/19 of 204 dwellings per 
annum, and identifies a specific requirement of 63 dwellings per annum for affordable housing 
for older people.

The proposed development will bring a prominent vacant site in the urban area back into use 
and contribute towards an identified need for specialist affordable housing provision within the 
area. The development of the site would therefore make a significant contribution towards the 
regeneration of Langley, as set out in policy R/2, and would make a significant contribution to 
husing supply in the borough.

It is therefore considered that the principle of the development proposal accords with local 
planning policy and with the overarching principle of the NPPF of a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.

Location, Layout, Scale and Design

Criteria (b), (c) and (e) of UDP policy H/3 state that proposals for housing development on 
sites not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted providing that:



 The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 
transport other than the car;

 The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size;

 The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, 
both in terms of its impact upon these uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon 
the amenity of future residents.

Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design 
by:

 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure;

 Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout.

 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;

 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide and the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

The proposed development is in an appropriate location in relation to the surrounding 
residential development and local shops and services including the doctors’ surgery on Wood 
Street.  The scale and height of the extra care building is in keeping with the existing three and 
four-storey apartment buildings to the north-east of the site, although it is significantly larger in 
scale than the two-storey properties to the south and west.  Given that the site was previously 
occupied by high-rise blocks of flats, it is not considered that the proposed development would 
have an unacceptably overbearing impact due to its scale and massing.

The design of the development is of a high quality, with the pitched roofs and gable features of 
the proposed extra care unit carried through to the bungalows.  The proposed red brick with 



dark red concrete roof tiles are considered to be appropriate materials, along with 
contemporary features including large areas of glazing, recessed balconies, grey/green bay 
windows and canopy features.

Transport for Greater Manchester’s comments that the proposed site layout and the closure of 
walking routes to surrounding facilities would encourage car use rather than walking or cycling 
are noted.  In terms of the connectivity of the development and integration with the 
surrounding community, the loss of these routes could be considered detrimental.  However, 
in terms of providing for a safe and secure development, Greater Manchester Police support 
the permanent closure of the existing footpath connections to Lakeland Court and Millbeck 
Road.  In addition, the provision of some facilities within the extra care unit will reduce 
residents’ need to make local trips.  Pedestrian routes within the development site, including 
between the bungalows and extra care unit, have been considered, with the provision of 
footways where necessary.  On balance, the lack of connectivity of the site to areas to the 
north and west is considered to be acceptable in this case, based on the particular nature of 
the development.

Subject to the provision of full details of materials as required by the proposed condition, it is 
considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of location, layout, scale and design, and 
complies with the requirements of the UDP and the NPPF.

Residential Amenity

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings.  In addition, in order to prevent unacceptable 
loss of privacy or amenity, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s 
SPG Note “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a 
minimum separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of 
opposing dwellings, increasing to 26 metres where three-storey development is proposed.

The nature of the proposed development is considered to be fully compatible with the 
surrounding residential dwellings and should not result in any form of disturbance to existing or 
future residents once completed.  During the construction phase, the Council’s Public 
Protection Officer has recommended that working hours are restricted, as detailed in the 
proposed conditions below.

It is considered that the proposed development generally meets the above interface standards 
in relation to privacy and overbearing impacts.  The extra care unit is sited an adequate 
distance from the pair of bungalows on Bowness Road, and the proposed new bungalows 
would not result in any loss of privacy to the adjacent houses on Lingmell Road.  

As detailed above, objections were received raising concerns over a loss of privacy, security 
and sunlight to properties adjacent to the southern corner of the site, due to the three-storey 
nature of the development and the loss of the existing trees.  In response, the extra care unit 
has been re-sited significantly further north and east.  The minimum distance between the 
proposed three-storey building and the adjacent properties is now 24.1 metres.  Whilst this 
falls slightly short of the 26 metres specified in the SPG, it is noted that the building will not 



benefit from permitted development rights for any future extensions.  The windows in the 
south-facing gable of the building are secondary in nature, serving the small second bedrooms 
of the apartments and the corridors.  Any overlooking of the rear windows and gardens of the 
adjacent properties from the windows and balconies of the ECU will be partially screened by 
proposed new 1.8 metre panel fencing on the boundary, which will also provide security for 
existing and future residents. In addition, the landscaping plan has been amended to show a 
continuous row of new tree planting in the south-western corner of the site. 

The visual scale and mass of the long western elevation of the building will be broken up 
through the use of the roof gables and other design features on this elevation, to reduce any 
overbearing impact when viewed from the rear of the properties on Millbeck Road. It is 
considered that the extra care unit and bungalows will have benefit from adequate levels of 
daylight and sunlight due to the large windows proposed and will provide an acceptable level 
of amenity for the future occupants. 

A condition is proposed restricting the hours of working during the construction phase to 
protect the amenity of the occupants of nearby properties.  

On balance, it is considered that the proposed development complies with the above UDP 
policies and the guidance in the SPG.

Access and Parking

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well-lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and

d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;

b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c) Substantially increase congestion;

d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or

e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.



UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be “compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.”

The application site is sustainably located in relation to local shops, services and public 
transport routes and safe access is provided within the site for pedestrians and cyclists. As 
detailed above, the closure of existing footpath connections is considered acceptable in this 
case. The highways officer is satisfied that the access arrangements are acceptable, and the 
level of parking provision is considered appropriate to the nature of the use and complies with 
the Council’s maximum standards.

It is considered that the proposed development complies with the above policies in respect of 
access and highway safety. 

Ecology and Trees

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. In order to conserve 
and enhance the natural environment, the planning system should minimise impacts on 
biodiversity and provide net gains in biodiversity where possible.

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;

• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and



• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on sites 
containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;

• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 
(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and

• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

As detailed above, the plans indicate the removal of some trees, most notably in the northern, 
western and southern corners of the site, to allow for the proposed development. The 
applicant has submitted an ecological report which concludes that no protected species are 
present on the site.  It is stated that the habitats within the site are species-poor in character, 
although the boundary trees and shrubs are of local value as they are suitable for nesting and 
foraging birds. However, the report concludes that the proposed development will provide an 
opportunity to secure ecological enhancement for fauna typically found in residential areas. 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit is satisfied that the loss of trees and vegetation can be 
effectively mitigated subject to the protection of nesting birds, and has advised that the 
replacement species used should be suitable to encourage nesting birds.

It is noted that nine trees would be retained on the site, including a Grade B Norway Maple 
adjacent to the entrance to Millbeck Gardens and a group of four trees adjacent to the rear 
boundary of 46 and 48 Millbeck Road.  A landscape strategy plan has been provided showing 
significant replacement tree and shrub planting within the communal garden areas on the 
southern and western boundaries of the site and also within the car parking areas.  As detailed 
above, additional tree planting has been proposed in the south-western corner of the site to 
provide additional screening to neighbouring residents. Greater Manchester Ecology Unit is 
satisfied that the loss of trees and vegetation can be effectively mitigated, subject to the 
protection of nesting birds and the provision of replacement trees suitable for nesting birds, as 
detailed in the conditions below.

It is considered that the proposed development complies with the national and local policy in 
relation to biodiversity and trees. 

Contamination and Ground Conditions 

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner.



Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:

• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 
or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.

UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land 
which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, the 
Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial 
treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in 
accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

A Phase I and II Geo-Environmental Report has been submitted which concludes that there is 
a need for remediation and mitigation measures, including due to the presence of asbestos 
fibres within made ground on the site.  The Council’s Public Protection Officer (Environment) is 
satisfied with the proposed remedial measures.  The Environment Agency is satisfied the 
potential for the made ground leachate to pollute groundwater or surface water courses is 
minimal.

Subject to the remediation strategy being completed and validated through the imposition of a 
condition, as detailed below, it is considered that the development complies with Policy EM/4 
of the UDP and the NPPF.  

Drainage and Flood Risk

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere”.

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, which 
aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood zone 1 
is the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 
1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the 
application site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the 
application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and outline drainage 
strategy. 



The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. It notes that the site has not 
been subject to flooding from rivers, the sea, highways, sewers, reservoirs or canals. 

Based on the Flood Risk Assessment and outline drainage strategy provided, the council as 
Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities are satisfied that the site can be adequately 
drained, subject to full details being provided and the Environment Agency has raised no 
objections. Therefore, it is considered that in principle adequate measures can be put in place 
in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either 
on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and 
the policies within the NPPF.

Developer Contributions

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD ‘Affordable Housing’ identify that, subject to viability 
appraisal, residential developments will be expected to make a contribution towards the 
provision of affordable housing in the borough.  As stated above, the development will be 
managed by a registered social housing provider.  All of the extra care units and the 
bungalows will be affordable dwellings and this can be secured through condition as 
recommended below.

UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space.  In addition, an appropriate contribution may be sought towards 
education provision where development will result in an increased demand for new primary 
and secondary school places and the council’s schools service identify a deficiency in the 
locality.

As the development will provide accommodation for older people, it will not result in any 
additional demand for school places and therefore a contribution towards education would not 
meet the statutory tests set out in paragraph 204 of the NPPF (for planning obligations to be 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the 
development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development).  It is 
further considered that a contribution towards recreational open space would not meet all of 
the tests.  As detailed above, the extra care unit would be provided with landscaped gardens 
to suit the particular needs of the occupiers for outdoor recreation.  It is therefore considered 
that there is inadequate justification for the provision of financial contributions towards open 
space or education provision in this case.

Summary

The proposed development would provide extra-care housing to meet an identified local need, 
and would bring a currently vacant site within the Langley Physical Regeneration Area back 
into beneficial re-use. The proposed development is of a high quality of design and the loss of 
trees within the site can be mitigated through the provision of replacement tree planting, and 
the potential overlooking of neighbouring properties has been reduced through re-siting the 
proposed building.  

In summary, it is considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and 
accords with the underpinning principle of the National Planning Policy Framework to 
encourage sustainable development.  Significant weight is afforded to the contribution of the 
development to meeting an identified need for specialist affordable housing provision within 



the area. The adverse impacts of the proposal, including the loss of trees and potential 
impacts on neighbour amenity have been minimised through amendments, are proposed to be 
mitigated and as such, would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the 
scheme.  It is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted for the proposed 
development.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolves that it is minded to authorise the closure of the 
highways under section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to 
grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out below:

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

2. This permission relates to the following plans:-

13-146-P01 Location Plan

13-146-P02-F Proposed Site and Ground Floor Plan

13-146-P03-E ECU Proposed Ground Floor Plan

13-146-P04-E ECU Proposed First Floor Plan

13-146-P05-E ECU Proposed Second Floor Plan

13-146-P06-B ECU Proposed Elevations

13-146-P12 ECU Proposed Roof Plan

13-146-P07-A Type 1 Bungalow

13-146-P08-A Type 2 Bungalow

13-146-W09-A Type 3 Bungalow

13-146-W10-A Type 4 Bungalow

13-146-W11-B Proposed Visuals

13-146-W12-B ECU Proposed Roof Plan

13-146-W13-B Aerial View Looking North



13-146-W14-B Aerial View Looking East

13-146-W15-B Aerial View Looking South

13-146-W16-B Aerial View Looking West

PS-0959-TS Topographical Survey

2293-02-A Tree Protection & Removal

2293-03-D Landscape Layout

2293-04-B Planting Plan

2293-05-B Boundary Treatments

and the development shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with 
these drawings hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the provision of the dwellings 
as affordable housing has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The dwellings shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the 
approved affordable housing scheme. The scheme shall include:

i. The arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both initial and 
subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and

ii. The occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of prospective and 
successive occupiers of the affordable housing, and the means by which such 
occupancy shall be enforced.

For the avoidance of doubt, the term 'affordable housing' means subsidised housing at 
below market prices or rents intended for those households who cannot afford housing at 
market rates. 

Reason: In order to secure the provision of affordable housing in accordance with policy 
H/7 of the Rochdale Council Unitary Development Plan and to achieve sustainable 
development in accordance with the NPPF.

4. No development shall take place until details of the finished floor and external site levels 
relative to off-site datum have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and retained thereafter.

Reason:  In the interests of visual and neighbour amenity in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, EM/7 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works, an understanding of site levels will therefore be necessary prior to 



commencement of any building or engineering works on site. Finished floor levels are 
intrinsically linked to site levels.

5. No development shall take place until details of a scheme to dispose of foul and surface 
water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The surface water drainage scheme shall be based on sustainable drainage 
principles and shall incorporate adequate on site attenuation storage where necessary. 
The submitted scheme shall include:

(i) details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the 
rate set at Qbar if no infiltration is provided

(ii) details of exceedance event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change 
allowance

(iii) a timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan 
for the lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for 
adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in 
accordance with the management and maintenance plan.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to 
ensure that surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) 
levels in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and to ensure 
satisfactory disposal of surface and foul water from the site in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works, these details are required prior to commencement of any building or 
engineering works on site.

6. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application, no above ground works 
shall take place until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the 
buildings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only 
the materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such approval.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

7. No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of development 
shall take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) unless an 
ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird nesting. Should the 
survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no development including 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for protecting nest 
sites during the course of the development has been agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. Nest site protection shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved methodology.



Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

8. The approved landscaping and planting scheme shall be carried out in full accordance 
with drawings 2293-03-D Landscape Layout and 2293-04-B Planting Plan during the first 
planting season after the development is substantially completed.  The areas which are 
landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs 
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five 
years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted.

Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of the 
amenities of the area in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/8 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan.

9. The approved boundary walls/fences shall be erected in accordance with drawing 2293-
05-B Boundary Treatments before the development hereby approved is first occupied, 
and shall thereafter be retained unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.   

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential 
properties and the general visual amenities of the vicinity in accordance with policies 
H/4/ H/11/and BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

10. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations 
contained in the approved Phase I and II Geo-Environmental Site Assessment e3p dated 
July 2015 and a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before first occupation of any of the buildings hereby approved. 

Reason: To ensure the safe development of the site in the interests of the amenity of 
future occupiers in accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and 
BE/2, and the National Planning Policy Framework.

11. No trees identified for retention on the Tree Protection and Removal Drawing 2293-02-A 
shall be removed without the approval of the local planning authority. No development 
shall take place until all trees that are to be retained have been enclosed with temporary 
protective fencing in accordance with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction. Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained during 
the period of construction and no work, excavation, tipping, or stacking/storage of 
materials shall take place within such protective fencing during the construction period.

Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the amenities 
of the area and in accordance with Policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/8 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: The existing trees should be protected prior to 
any earthworks taking place.

12. No construction or excavation or earthmoving or similar works shall be carried out other 
than between 07:30am and 6.00pm on Monday to Friday inclusive and between 9.00am 



and 2.00pm on Saturday unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area, and in particular that of the nearest 
neighbouring residents and to prevent nuisance in accordance with policy EM/3 of the 
Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan.

13. No building hereby approved shall be occupied until such time as the car parking and 
servicing areas within the site relevant to that building have been laid out, hard surfaced 
and drained in accordance with a detailed scheme to have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. The car parking/servicing areas shall be 
retained for those uses thereafter. 

Reason: In order to ensure that there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked 
clear of the highway in the interests of road safety and amenity and to prevent 
obstruction in accordance with Policy A/10 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

Procedure Statement 

The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify 
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised 
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were incorporated 
into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local Planning 
Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraphs 186-187 of the NPPF.

Report Author Alison Truman

____________________________________________



Application Number: 15/01183/OUT    Ward: North Middleton      

Proposal: Outline application (including access) for up to 205 residential units (Use 
Class C3) with associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car 
parking (Resubmission of 14/00849/OUT)

Site Address: Land At Hollin Lane Middleton   

Applicant: Ms Kate McClean
                  Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions



DELEGATION

Application reference 14/00849/OUT was previously considered by the Council’s Planning and 
Licensing Committee at its meeting on 21 September 2015, where the Committee resolved to 
refuse the application. The application has been resubmitted with revised information in an 
attempt to overcome the Council’s reasons for refusal. The application is therefore before the 
Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee for comments before referral to the Council’s 
Planning and Licensing Committee for determination.  

SITE

The application relates to a circa 10.8 hectare area of land located to the east side of the 
A6046 (Hollin Lane) in Middleton. The site follows the boundaries of an area designated as 
Protected Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map 
running between Hazelhurst Drive (to the south) and Hatters Farm (to the north). Adjoining land 
flanking the northern boundary lies within the Green Belt, with a secondary school (St Anne’s 
Academy) and associated playing fields falling within an adjoining area of Protected Open Land 
to the southeast. 

A public right of way (Stott Lane – MidRupp118) runs in a north-easterly direction through the 
site from its junction with Hazelhurst Drive up to Hatters Farm before merging with Oaken 
Bank Road further to the north. This bisecting right of way separates the site into two distinct 
land parcels to the west (circa 6.1 hectares) and east (circa 4.7 hectares) of the route. A pond 
lies to the northwest corner of the smaller (eastern) site.  A second public right of way 
(MidRupp117) borders the south-western tip of the site and runs in an easterly direction 
alongside the southern boundary of the school grounds from its junction with Hollin Lane into 
Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve. 

The site comprises of separate field parcels delineated by a combination of fencing, hedgerows 
and trees on the eastern side of Hollin Lane. With the exception of an initial dip alongside Hollin 
Lane to the southern part of the site where the site is set at a lower level to the road, the 
ground level rises generally to the north (towards Hatters Farm) and east (towards Stott Lane) 
across the site. With respect to the eastern parcel beyond Stott Lane, levels fall to the south 
east towards the adjacent school playing fields.

Surrounding land uses include open farmland, a cluster of buildings and a telecommunications 
mast, which form part of Hatters Farm located within the Green Belt to the north; a large 
expanse of farmland set on lower lying ground on the opposite side of Hollin Lane to the west 
(including a section to the southern end which falls within the designation of Protected Open 
Land); the secondary school of St Anne’s Academy and its associated playing fields to the east 
and south; and a combination of detached and semi-detached housing of moderate density off 
Hazelhurst Drive to the south. The school playing fields form an intervening buffer between the 
site and the Hopwood Woods nature reserve to the east.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline permission for a development of up to 205 dwellings and is a 
resubmission of planning application 14/00849/OUT. The application seeks approval of access 
only, with the layout, scale, landscaping and external appearance of the buildings being 
reserved for a later stage. The matter of access is defined in the Development Management 
Procedure Order 2015 as ‘the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and 
pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how 
these fit into the surrounding access network.”

A single access point to the site is proposed from Hollin Lane. The access would be situated 
some 150 metres to the north of the junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive, and directly 



opposite (though slightly offset in a southerly direction) the existing access to Dingle Farm. It is 
proposed to form dedicated right hand turning lanes and associated ‘ghost island’ approaches 
into the application site from Hollin Lane (35 metres long) and to Dingle Farm (15 metres 
long). These turning lanes would replace the existing refuge marked by hatching to the centre 
of the carriageway. The site access would form a bell-mouth junction with Hollin Lane, with 
give way ground markings and a curved kerb radius achieving visibility splays of 2.4 metres or 
4.5 metres x 84.8 metres (northbound) and 2.4 metres or 4.5 metres x 56.8 metres 
(southbound) with Hollin Lane. The access (achieving a maximum width of 26 metres at its 
junction with Hollin Lane) would merge into a 5.5 metre wide estate road flanked by 2 metre 
footways running into the site. This estate road would cross Stott Lane at a broadly central 
point along the road, providing access to the eastern parcel of the site.

An indicative parameters plan sets out a conceptual masterplan for the development of the 
site.  These parameters include the location of the housing, areas of public open space, main 
and emergency access points, footpath and cycle routes through the site, and size and 
location of landscape buffer zones. The application sets maximum parameters with respect to 
the number of dwellings (up to 205) and their scale (comprising a mix of bungalows, two-
storey dwellings and two and a half storey dwellings).  

The parameters plan shows two principal building locations within the site, with housing on the 
eastern parcel of the site beyond Stott Lane to the north of St Anne’s Academy and on the 
western parcel of the site to the north and south of the primary estate road merging with Hollin 
Lane.  

It is indicated that the proposed development would provide a range of two bedroom dwellings 
(comprising between 5-20% of the total dwellings); three bedroom dwellings (40–55%); four 
bedroom dwellings (20-40%); and five bedroom dwellings (0-10% of the total dwellings).  

The application proposes a scheme of off-site highways works comprising alterations to the 
carriageway of Hollin Lane along a circa 365 metre stretch extending from the junction with 
Hazelhurst Drive alongside the eastern site boundary, to include the following:

- The removal of an existing pedestrian refuge located in close proximity to the junction 
with Hazelhurst Drive and its replacement with a signalised pedestrian crossing to the 
north of the existing crossing;

- The introduction of new northbound and southbound bus stops to the north of the site 
access respectively;

- The introduction of an additional pedestrian refuge and crossing points to serve the two 
new bus stops;

- Traffic calming measures on the southbound approach to the site in the form of ‘dragon 
teeth’ to signal the approach to an existing 30 MPH zone;

- The provision of green corridors comprising a combination of landscaping and public 
open space to the perimeter of the site, including a large buffer alongside the northern 
boundary and incorporating a Locally Equipped Area for Play (LEAP); and

- Upgrading of existing junction markings at the junction of Hillin Lane and Langley Lane 
and extension of the zig zag markings to the south.

In addition to the above, the application includes the following to be secured through the 
completion of a section 106 planning obligation and a section 278 highways act agreement as 
follows:

 The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu 
of onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards the provision of primary schools places in 
Middleton (current calculation of £631,400.51 for up to 205 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in 
Middleton Township (current calculation of £315,700.20 for up to 205 dwellings);



 A financial contribution of Ј23,137.70 towards cycle lane improvements comprising 
new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction 
with Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation 
facilities at Bowlee Playing Fields (current calculation of £190,477.80);

 A financial contribution not exceeding £30,000 towards the provision of access 
improvements at Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve;

 A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally 
Equipped Area of Play (LEAP); and

 A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 
management of the landscape open space within the site.

Taylor Wimpey has also confirmed their commitment to providing appropriate training, 
apprenticeships and utilising local labour as part of the development proposals.

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application forms part of a wider framework masterplan submitted by the applicant (the 
‘Hollin Lane Masterplan Area’) which comprises two further parcels of land to the west. One 
parcel comprises land to the north of Langley Lane, which is also the subject of a resubmitted 
planning application, reference 15/01195/OUT, for the erection of up to 150 dwellings and a 
potential primary school, and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and 
car parking. That application is a resubmission of application reference 14/00851/OUT 
submitted by the same applicant and is similarly for outline planning permission with all 
matters reserved other than access.

Another parcel of land shown within the submitted Hollin Lane Masterplan Area to the east of 
this site indicates a potential future phase of development between these two sites, located to 
the west of Hollin Lane and north of Langley Lane. Part of this area of land is also the subject 
of a current application submitted by a different applicant, reference number 15/01207/OUT for 
up to 88 dwellings (resubmission of 15/00358/OUT).

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Council’s Core Strategy Examination in Public hearing sessions reconvened in June 2015 
in respect of a single issue, that of housing need.  The Council is currently awaiting the 
Inspector’s recommended Main Modifications and a further period of public consultation will 



take place once these are identified. The Core Strategy may only be afforded limited weight in 
decision making at the current time and it is anticipated that the Core Strategy may be 
adopted in 2016.

The following policies of the emerging Core Strategy (known more formally as the emerging 
Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health Facilities



G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan (April 2013)

Policy 2 Key Planning and Environmental Criteria
Policy 8 Prior Extraction of Mineral Resources 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)



SITE HISTORY

14/00849/OUT – Outline application (including access only) for up to 205 dwellings (Use Class 
C3) and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car parking provision. 
All matters reserved save for access – Refused September 2015 for the following reasons:

1. The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that 
proposed under application 15/00358/OUT and in close proximity to the junction of 
Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and access to St Anne's Academy, with an existing 
pedestrian crossing at the junction, would be harmful to highway and pedestrian safety 
in this location contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. The proposed development, by virtue of the cumulative impact of the additional traffic 
generated by this and other proposed developments in the area, would be detrimental 
to the safe and efficient operation of the highway network and would increase 
congestion in the area, contrary to Policies G/A/1 and A/8 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The proposed development would place additional pressure on local infrastructure, 
including schools and sports facilities, which would be unable to accommodate the 
additional demand that would be placed on local infrastructure as a result of additional 
residents and resulting increase in local population arising from the proposed 
development. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policies H/6, G/CF/1, G/4 and G/5 of 
the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

14/00691/SO – Request for a screening opinion under The Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 in respect of a proposed development 
off Hollin Lane, Middleton – It was deduced that this does not constitute EIA development.

12/D55272 – Removal of hedgerows at nine locations alongside the eastern and western 
frontages of Middleton Road and Hollin Lane (application under the hedgerows regulations 
1997) – No objection.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Coal Authority: - No comments received. Comments in relation to application 14/00849/OUT 
as follows:  

 The site falls outside the defined Development High Risk Area and accordingly, would 
not normally require consultation with the Coal Authority under the agreed Risk Based 
Approach to Development Management.

 The site does, however, fall within a Minerals Safeguarding Area defined in the Greater 
Manchester Minerals Plan. The submitted Mineral Assessment Report has been 
informed by a review of available geological and mining information for the sites and 
follows the methodology of the British Geological Survey/Coal Authority publication 
Mineral Safeguarding in England: Good Practice Advice. Based on this review the 
report author concludes that the prior extraction of coal resources would not be viable 
as part of the development proposal.

 The applicant has addressed the requirements of Policy 8 of the adopted Greater 
Manchester Minerals Plan through the consideration of prior extraction of coal 
resources as part of the Mineral Assessment Reports submitted. Therefore, the Coal 
Authority has no objection to the planning application.

 An informative should be added to the decision notice to advise the applicant that the 
site lies within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded coal mining related 
hazards. The applicant should contact the Coal Authority if any such features are 
encountered during the course of development.

Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 



submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any development 
take place.

Design for Security: - No objection. Recommend the proposed development should be 
designed and constructed in accordance with the recommendations contained within section 3 
of the submitted Crime Impact Statement dated (10/07/2014 – URN: 2014/0430/CIS/01 
Version B) and any reserved matters applications where layout is to be considered should be 
accompanied by a full Crime Impact Statement. 

Environment Agency:- No comments received.  

Environmental Health Officer (EHO): - No comments received. Comments in relation to 
application 14/00849/OUT as follows:  

 A condition should be imposed restricting hours of construction to between 07:30 and 
18:00 Monday to Friday and between 09:00 and 14:00 on Saturdays. No work should 
take place on Sundays.

 The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut and 
other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 hour) 
in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided at 
all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms. 

 An acoustic fence of at least 1.8m in height, with a mass greater than 28Kg/m2, shall 
be installed in the position shown in figure 3, appendix 3 of the submitted Noise Impact 
Assessment in order to achieve external noise levels of 55 dB(A) for the dwellings.

 Appropriate conditions should be imposed to deal with the above and a verification 
report should be submitted on completion of the dwellings in order to demonstrate that 
the stipulated noise levels have been achieved. 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): No comments received. 
Comments in relation to application 14/00849/OUT as follows:  

a. The application is supported by an archaeological Desk Based Assessment (DBA). 
The Historic Environment Record (HER) for Greater Manchester was consulted in 
preparing the DBA. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, historic mapping and 
documentary sources the DBA concludes that, apart from the remains of three 
buildings denoted on the 1839/40 Middleton and Hopwood tithe maps, there is a low/ 
nil potential for unknown archaeology of earlier periods to survive.

b. The proposed development area (PDA) consists of six fields in a landscape that is and 
has been in the recent historic past dominated by pasture. There are records for 
prehistoric stone axe hammers (HER 5030.1.0 & 2437.1.0) in the surrounding search 
area. It is possible that these two records are duplicates, and that the most accurate of 
the two is HER 5030.1.0 as it is closest to Hopwood where the discovery was made. 
HER 5030.1.0 lies about 140m east of the PDA boundary. Topographically, the PDA 
occupies an area of relatively level high ground (c.150 – 140m AOD) which is 
surrounded by radiating drainages flowing down to land below c.120m where they join 
Trub Brook to the south and east and Whittle Brook to the north and west. Such 
relatively elevated locations are well understood to have provided a preferred focus for 
prehistoric and possibly early historic activity.

c. Whilst the known HER content may suggest there is a low/ nil chance of prehistoric 
remains being encountered, this does not take into account the lack of any previous 
fieldwork in the vicinity that would reveal such remains. In addition, the HER does not 
account for the local topographic context in considering where activity of the earlier 
periods might have been focussed, nor the discovery of one or more stone axe 
hammers nearby.

d. The DBA concludes that there is some potential for remains of the three post-medieval 
buildings to be encountered in the centre and the south of the site and that some 



investigation of these below ground remains may need to be undertaken as a condition 
of any permission. GMAAS accepts these conclusions, but also recommends that a 
conditioned programme of works should include phased evaluation of the PDA using 
geophysics and trenching to see if earlier remains do survive.

e. A condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring that a programme 
of archaeological works be undertaken in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI). This WSI should include: a geophysical evaluation and trenching, 
a programme for post investigation assessment, provision for publication and 
dissemination of the report on the site investigation, provision for archive deposition of 
the report, finds and records of the site investigation and nomination of an competent 
person(s) to undertake the works outlined in the WSI. GMAAS will monitor the 
implementation of the work on behalf of the Local Authority.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - No objection. Comments as follows:
 The GMEU commented on the previous application 14/00849/OUT and raised no 

objections requesting a number of conditions and informative should permission be 
granted.  Whist the survey information is now becoming out of date, our position has 
not changed.  I have however updated our previous comments to take the age of the 
ecological surveys.

Great Crested Newts
 Great crested newt surveys located one breeding pond over 400m to the north of 

development. The surveys are now over 1 year old and given the presence of this 
population and the population around Hopwood Hall, it is possible that ponds nearer to 
the development could have been colonised, particularly given it was noted that some 
of the ponds were newly dug. 

 Please therefore apply the following condition to any permission: If the development 
hereby approved does not commence before 28th February 2016, all ponds within 
250m will be fully surveyed for great crested newt breeding following best practice 
guidelines and the finding supplied to and agreed in writing by the LPA. Whilst there is 
only a low risk of great crested newts being present, the following informative should 
be applied: 

 The applicant is reminded that under the Habitat Regulation it is an offence to disturb, 
harm or kill great crested newts.  If a great crested newt is found during the 
development all work should cease immediately and a suitably licensed amphibian 
ecologist employed to assess how best to safeguard the newt(s). Natural England 
should also be informed.

Bats
 Only one tree on the site had significant bat roosting potential and this is to be retained. 

There are no buildings on the site. Bat activity surveys indicated generally low levels of 
common pipistrelle activity along boundaries and hedgerows, with occasional high 
levels of activity along the southern boundary. The illustrative site layout indicates the 
external boundary features will be retained but internal hedgerows heavily 
impacted/lost. On balance however enough connectivity is being kept around the site 
and land set aside that the status of common pipistrelle will not be impacted upon by 
the development.  

 External lighting could however impact upon the retained features, therefore a lighting 
strategy should be conditioned.

 The retention of the mature oak on Stott Lane should be conditioned.

Surface Water Drainage
 Drainage in to Oaken Bank Wood is intimated. If this is to the case then a WFD 

assessment should be provided to demonstrate compliance with the WFD with regards 
potential negative impacts on the Trub Brook and Whit Brook downstream and 



potentially the River Irk.
 Prior to determination please request further information on whether surface water 

drainage will be towards Oaken Bank Wood. 

Breeding Birds
 Potential bird nesting habitat will be lost as a result of the development. No ground 

nesting birds were recorded. All British birds nests and eggs (with certain limited 
exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended.  

 Please apply the following condition to any permission: No works to trees, hedgerows 
or shrubs shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in any year unless a 
detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out 
immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that no active bird 
nests are present which has been agreed in writing by the LPA.

Badgers
 No badger setts were recorded on-site, but badgers occur in the wider landscape.  As 

the survey data is becoming out of date please apply the following condition to any 
permission and following informative.

 Prior to commencement of earthworks a survey of the site and within 30m of the 
boundaries for badger setts will occur and the findings supplied to and agreed in writing 
by the LPA.

 The applicant is reminded that under the Protection of Badgers Act 1992 it is an 
offence to intentionally or recklessly interfere with a badger sett. If a badger sett is 
found on or near the developments site work should cease immediately and a suitably 
experienced ecologist employed to advise on how best to proceed.

Invasive Species
 Japanese knotweed and himalayan balsam were recorded on the site. It is an offence 

under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended to introduce, plant or cause to 
grow wild any plant listed in Schedule 9 part 2 of the Act such as Himalayan balsam 
and Japanese knotweed. 

 Please apply a condition along the following lines to any permission: Prior to any 
earthworks a method statement detailing eradication and/or control and/or avoidance 
measures for himalayan balsam and Japanese knotweed, should be supplied to and 
agreed in writing to the LPA.  The agreed method statement shall be adhered to and 
implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA.

Habitat Loss and Landscaping
 The development site covers approximately 10.8ha of generally low value ecological 

habitats, farmland, with moderate to high value habitats associated with the ponds and 
hedgerows.  The scale of the development is such however that despite the low value 
of the majority of the site, mitigation should be provided in order to comply with 
guidance within the NPPF (section 109). Significant landscaping is proposed along the 
northern and southern boundary with vegetation retention along the western and 
eastern boundaries.  Some hedgerows will be lost. I am satisfied that for the loss of 
around 65% of generally low value habitat the provision of around 35% of habitat 
mitigation and landscaping provides sufficient scope to provide adequate ecological 
mitigation on-site the detail of which can be conditioned along the following lines:

 No development shall take place until an ecological mitigation strategy been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the LPA.  The content of the mitigation strategy shall 
include:
- A detailed ecological enhancement plan for the land to the north and south of the 

development
- Mitigation for loss of hedgerow and habitat connectivity internally within the site



- Mitigation for loss of grassland
- Mitigation and enhancement of wetland features
- Mitigation for loss of bird nesting habitat
- Timing of works 
- Maintenance
- Monitoring
The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.

Animal Welfare
 It is likely that various mammals utilise the site including badger, hedgehog, fox and 

rabbit. Whilst not protected under wildlife law it is still and offence to cause 
unnecessary suffering.  Please apply the following informative.

 The applicant is reminded that, under the Wild Mammal (Protection) Act 1996 it is an 
offence to inflict unnecessary suffering to wild mammals.  Planning consent does not 
provide a defence against prosecution under this act.

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
 The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 

scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access 
for the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval.

 Comments on amendments:
 The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all 

points within the dwellings. 
 The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 

tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, 
hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum 
length of any cul-de-sac network should be 250 m.

 There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.
 The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 

positive measure to protect persons.  At a small cost occupants’ can be given the 
reassurance of a high level of protection.  All developers should positively consider the 
viability of installing domestic sprinkler systems.

 The access requirements for a dwelling fitted with an approved sprinkler system can 
deviate from the required standard detailed above, further consultation will be required.

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No objection. I would want to see detailed planting plans and a 
species list, particularly for the woodland areas because of the proximity to Hopwood Woods 
Local Nature Reserve, SBIs and Ancient woodland areas and the possibility of invasive or 
problem species being introduced.  This is particularly important for the Hollin Lane site. The 
proposals offer an opportunity to increase tree cover within the area.

Highways and Engineering: - No comments received.  Comments in relation to application 
14/00849/OUT as follows:  

 The impact of the development has been considered in conjunction with the 
planning applications for the development of adjacent land in this area. We have 
also considered the improvements to Junction 19 of the M62 and the South 
Heywood Development. 

 Inevitably this development will generate more traffic than the existing situation and 
even more so with the addition of the school site. The Transport Assessment 
submitted has been produced to the scope agreed with Rochdale Borough Council 
and has not revealed any step change from the current situation. Highways 
England has raised no objection.  I cannot therefore raise any objection to this 
application on the grounds that the local transport network would not support the 
additional traffic.

 I would however like to see some improvements made to the existing infrastructure 



at the junction of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. 
 The applicant has indicated a fully permeable site for cyclists and pedestrians. The 

impression is that the development will provide a number of new routes through the 
site whilst preserving the existing rights of way.  This will be of benefit to residents 
and other network users travelling through this area.  I therefore think it is 
necessary to improve the connectivity by improving the crossing point for cyclists 
and pedestrians. 

 The applicant has indicated a number of emergency access points to be 
established. Given the size of the site it is sensible to provide emergency access 
points around the site. This is acceptable. 

 No Public Right of Way will be obstructed by this development.
 The following should be secured as part of the scheme, either through condition or 

planning obligation: (i) a programme of improvement works at the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lane, to include an additional lane for vehicles turning left from 
Langley Lane onto Hollin Lane. These should be implemented before any of the 
dwellings are first occupied; (ii) the provision of a toucan crossing across Hollin 
Lane to ensure the safe movement of pedestrians and cyclists across the 
carriageway; (iii) a contribution of £4000 towards the amendment of the TRO on 
Hollin Lane to extend the length of the 30 mph zone alongside the development 
site, to be introduced before any of the dwellings are first occupied; (iv) The entire 
development shall be subject to a self-enforcing 20mph zone.

Highways England: No objection. Comments as follows:
 A condition should be imposed on any permission stating that none of the dwellings 

shall be first occupied until a travel plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and all the measures in the approved travel plan have 
been implemented.

Lead Local Flood Authority: - No comments received. Comments in relation to application 
14/00849/OUT as follows:  

 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and surface water drainage strategy 
indicate the intention to connect the surface water drainage systems from both sites 
into adjacent brooks. The proposals include flow attenuation measures to limit surface 
water discharge to greenfield run off rate and to deal with the impact of climate change.

 A condition should be imposed requiring submission of a detailed drainage design 
including calculations identifying the rate of surface water discharge from the site 
(which should not exceed the existing, greenfield rate).

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments in relation to application 14/00849/OUT 
relevant as follows:  
 The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for coal and brick clay. In accordance 

with policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan, the submitted Minerals 
Assessment investigates the exceptions which would exempt the development from the 
requirements of prior mineral extraction. The report submitted by the applicant 
concludes that mineral extraction should be exempted in line with Policy 8 on the 
grounds that: 
o There is an overriding need for the residential development that outweighs the 

need to avoid sterilisation of the mineral resource; 
o The prior extraction of minerals cannot be carried out in an environmentally 

acceptable manner and would also conflict with policies 2 and 5. 
o Prior extraction is not economically viable due to the depth of the mineral and 

the environmental issues associated with quarrying. 
 The report indicates that Rochdale is currently not meeting its need for 5 year housing 

stock. If this is accurate then the conclusion in point 1 above is agreed and the 
development is exempted from prior mineral extraction requirements in accordance 



with policy 8 of the Joint Waste and Minerals Plan as, in these circumstances, the need 
for housing outweighs the need to avoid sterilisation.

 With respect to points 2 and 3: (2) it is not agreed that extraction could not be 
undertaken in an environmentally acceptable manner. The report mentions the close 
proximity of housing and a school. However, suitable planning conditions could be 
imposed to mitigate the impact of mineral extraction on the environment; (3) The Coal 
Authority report referred to in the Minerals Assessment would only indicate known 
worked seams of coal rather than coal seams underlying the site, as the report is 
aimed at identifying risks from coal mining. No information has been provided as to the 
depth of potential brick clay and so its potential for extraction is unknown. Therefore, 
insufficient information on the underlying geology at site has been provided to make a 
judgment on whether or not extraction would be economic.

 The proposed changes to the layout and design of the site would not affect the original 
comments. 

Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows:
 Natural England has assessed this application using the Impact Risk Zones data 

(IRZs). Natural England advises your authority that the proposal, if undertaken in strict 
accordance with the details submitted, is not likely to have a significant effect on the 
interest features for which Rochdale Canal SAC has been classified. Natural England 
therefore advises that your Authority is not required to undertake an Appropriate 
Assessment to assess the implications of this proposal on the site’s conservation 
objectives.

 In addition, Natural England is satisfied that the proposed development being carried 
out in strict accordance with the details of the application will not damage or destroy 
the interest features for which the Rochdale Canal SSSI has been notified. We 
therefore advise your authority that this SSSI does not represent a constraint in 
determining this application. Should the details of this application change, Natural 
England draws your attention to Section 28(I) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended), requiring your authority to re-consult Natural England.

 We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on 
protected species. Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected 
species. You should apply our Standing Advice to this application as it is a material 
consideration in the determination of applications in the same way as any individual 
response received from Natural England following consultation. The Standing Advice 
should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any assurance in respect of 
European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed development is unlikely to affect 
the EPS present on the site; nor should it be interpreted as meaning that Natural 
England has reached any views as to whether a licence is needed (which is the 
developer’s responsibility) or may be granted. 

 If the proposal site is on or adjacent to a local site, e.g. Local Wildlife Site, Regionally 
Important Geological/Geomorphological Site (RIGS) or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 
the authority should ensure it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact 
of the proposal on the local site before it determines the application.

 This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design which 
are beneficial to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting opportunities for bats or 
the installation of bird nest boxes. The authority should consider securing measures to 
enhance the biodiversity of the site from the applicant, if it is minded to grant 
permission for this application. This is in accordance with Paragraph 118 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. Additionally, we would draw your attention to 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) which states 
that ‘Every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is 
consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving 
biodiversity’. Section 40(3) of the same Act also states that ‘conserving biodiversity 



includes, in relation to a living organism or type of habitat, restoring or enhancing a 
population or habitat’.

 This application may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local 
distinctiveness of the surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources 
more sustainably; and bring benefits for the local community, for example through 
green space provision and access to and contact with nature. Landscape 
characterisation and townscape assessments, and associated sensitivity and capacity 
assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider new development 
and ensure that it makes a positive contribution in terms of design, form and location, 
to the character and functions of the landscape and avoids any unacceptable impacts.

Peaks and Northern Footpaths Society:- If permission is granted, a condition is recommended 
that there must be no obstruction of any public right of way 118.  

The Ramblers (Rochdale Group):- Objection. Comments as follows:
 I acknowledge your letter by e-mail in respect of planning application 

15/01183/OUT and a further e-mail in relation to planning application 
15/01207/OUT. In addition I have also received a letter dated the 11th November 
seeking my views in relation to 15/01195/OUT and the two applications in respect 
of Hollin Lane. 

 The Rochdale Group of the Ramblers object to the proposals in each of these three 
planning applications.

 This land has been designated as "Protected Open Land" and that status should 
continue. Previous planning applications to develop this land have failed. One 
recent application received over 230 local objections such is the opposition to these 
developments.

 We feel that nothing has changed and we would urge the Council to refuse all three 
applications

 We object on the grounds that this would be a loss of amenity and any 
development would have an adverse effect on the environment and the wildlife. 
These areas are used by local residents and visitors for walking and exercise and 
link in to an extended network of Public Rights of Way which includes part of the 
Rochdale Way. This area is one of the remaining green spaces left between the 
built up urban areas of Middleton and Heywood.

 Rochdale is a town full of brown field development opportunities, old mills and 
factories where there is no rural beauty to destroy. It has not gone unnoticed that 
the developers have chosen a country area on the edge of an attractive green belt 
within easy access of the motorway, factors that would influence sales, rather than 
develop any one of a number of brown field sites available throughout Rochdale.

Rights of Way Officer: - Comments in relation to previous application 14/00849/OUT remain 
relevant:

 The route of MidRupp118 (which follows Stott Lane) can legitimately be used by 
people on foot, pedal cyclists, horse riders, horse and carts and motorised vehicles 
associated with residents who live along the route and require this for access. 
However, the Council do not maintain private rights and would not know who 
legally has these rights.

 The route should not be disturbed or obstructed in any way by plant machinery, 
excavation or by placing materials along its surface. It may not be used as an 
access road during construction as it is not acceptable for the public to negotiate 
plant machinery while using the right of way and any improvements to the surface 
would require permission from Environmental Management to ensure that the 
surface is suitable for its legitimate users.

 The road crossing to be created running over the width of MidRupp118 should be 
created as follows: (i) during the works, there should be banks men on site at the 



crossing to ensure that there are no risks to the general public and to avoid any 
accidents involving plant machinery and users of the route; (ii) it would be 
beneficial to create a Pegasus crossing to provide a continuous safe route for 
horse riders, cyclist and pedestrians at the point where the road crosses the right of 
way. This should form a condition of any approval.

 Any alterations to the route (e.g. a temporary diversion or permanent closure) must 
first be authorised by the completion of an order carried out by the Council. The 
route must remain in its original location and condition until an order allows any 
such changes to be made.  Should a temporary diversion be required, the 
landowner must apply to the Council for the order to be carried out, they must 
provide documentation that they are indeed the landowner,  the reason for the 
diversion, confirmation that the Council's costs will be paid for the order, 
confirmation that the route will be reinstated to a standard agreed with 
Environmental Management, and accept that should no work be carried out during 
the first 2 weeks of the period of the order the Council have the right to void the 
order and deem it not necessary.  The landowner must forward the name and 
address of the person(s) who will be paying for the order to enable an invoice to be 
sent for all costs involved, and forward a map showing the existing definitive route 
to be diverted and the exact route of the diversion. The land over which the 
diverted route will run should be in the landowner’s ownership or the Council will 
accept written authorisation from the neighbouring landowner with a copy of their 
title deeds showing the land in their ownership. 

Schools Service:- No objection. Comments as follows:  
 In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, the school place 

availability for the Middleton Township as a whole has been considered, rather 
than a 2 mile or 3 mile walking distance for primary and secondary places 
respectively. This is because it references our place planning areas, and more 
closely relates to meeting overall school place demand.

 The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional places to meet that 
expected demand in existing schools, without over-providing too many places. The 
Authority will consult in summer term 2015 on how additional places will be 
provided to meet current projected demand.

 Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for 
admission in 2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by 
the Local Authority will be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a 
margin for preference and movement.  The School Capacity and projections 
Returns of 2014 show there would be a shortfall in capacity without the provision of 
the additional planned places to accommodate the peak in demand.

  A number of primary schools in the Township have been extended, either on a 
permanent or temporary basis to make sure there are enough places to meet 
planned demand to 2016.  As stated in paragraph 2 above, consultation on the 
need for extra Reception places for 2017 and 2018 will be undertaken in summer 
2015.

 Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 
2018, above those already planned. The Local Authority is consulting with schools, 
parents Diocesan Authorities to provide additional places in Middleton. The 
proposals for 2016, 2017 and 2018 are to:
 increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and 

to consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of 
potential housing developments in this area of Middleton; and

 increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a 
further 2 years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review).

 To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with 
schools, parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet 



approved proposals to provide 60 extra Year 7 places in the Township for the 
period to 2019. These places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places 
from September 2016 onwards at Cardinal Langley RC; and 30 additional places 
from September 2017 onwards at St. Anne’s Academy. This would meet the 
current expected demand, although this will be kept under review.

 The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula across both the Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lanes sites (355 houses) is 89 primary places and 36 
secondary places, applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an 
expected 13 children per year group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). 
There would also be an expected 7 children per year group post 16.

 Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in 
the Township for both primary and secondary sectors. 

 The reason for this is that, because of the need to meet existing demographic 
demand, existing school sites across the whole of Middleton, north of the Town 
Centre, will be at their realistic maximum capacity. 

 For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated (subject to 
consultation) within an existing primary school, which would need to be expanded 
further than currently planned. The developer contribution for primary school places 
for the Hollin Lane site would be as follows:
 (205 dwellings x 0.25 =51.25 children) x £12,320.01 = £631,400.51

 For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within 
existing secondary schools, which would need to be expanded further than 
currently planned. Based on the DfE cost multiplier for Basic Need Allocations of 
£15,400.01 per place, the expected developer contribution for secondary places 
would be £315,700.20.

 Additional considerations: the Local Authority would require the contributions 
before the commencement of the development, because the school places would 
need to be ready prior to the occupation of properties on the development.

 The Local Education Authority confirms that the contributions proposed would 
mitigate the effect of the additional school place demand arising from this 
development.  

Sport England: - Comments as follows:
 Summary: Sport England raises no objections subject to a suitable S106 contribution 

towards sport.
 The occupiers of new development, especially residential, will generate demand for 

sporting provision. The existing provision within an area may not be able to 
accommodate this increased demand without exacerbating existing and/or predicted 
future deficiencies.  Therefore, Sport England considers that new developments should 
contribute towards meeting the demand that they generate through the provision of on-
site facilities and/or providing additional capacity off-site.  The level and nature of any 
provision should be informed by a robust evidence base such as an up to date Sports 
Facilities Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy or other relevant needs assessment.  

 I note that this planning application is the resubmission of 14/00849/OUT. In the 
previous planning application, my colleague Ms Pudge wrote on the 9th September 
2015, that her objection was to be withdrawn subject to a suitable level of contribution 
towards sporting infrastructure is made.

 I note in the applicants Planning Statement Addendum (2) section 2: Sports Facilities, 
paragraph 2.42, the applicants are willing to make a S106 contribution towards sport 
which I welcome.

 The level of the contribution and where it is to be spent I leave up to the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough council, but I would refer both the applicants and the council to 
our Sports Facility Calculator as a guide of the level of contributions which could be 
justifiably sought for the various typologies.

 Sport England, in conjunction with Public Health England, has produced ‘Active 



Design’ (October 2015), a guide to planning new developments that create the right 
environment to help people get more active, more often in the interests of health and 
wellbeing. The guidance sets out ten key principles for ensuring new developments 
incorporate opportunities for people to take part in sport and physical activity. The 
Active Design principles are aimed at contributing towards the Government’s desire for 
the planning system to promote healthy communities through good urban design. Sport 
England would commend the use of the guidance in the master planning process for 
new residential developments.

 This being the case, Sport England offers its support for this application subject to 
suitable contributions being made to the sporting infrastructure.

Strategic Planning: - Assessed within Analysis section of report.  

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - Comments in relation to application 
14/00849/OUT relevant as follows:  
o We have consistently recommended that four new bus stops (two northbound and two 

southbound) be provided on Hollin Lane to serve these developments and a 
contribution from each of the three developers would be sufficient to provide new stops 
and/or upgrades

o At present, only the southwest corner of the site is located in a reasonable walking 
distance of public transport – this being within 400 metres of bus stops on Hollin Lane. 
The bus stops offer access to a frequent (Monday – Saturday daytime) bus service 
between Manchester, Middleton, Heywood and Bury. The majority of the site (to the 
north and east) is not, however, as accessible by public transport as it lies beyond the 
reasonable walking distance from these bus stops. Nevertheless, this could be 
overcome through improvements to existing infrastructure to make these areas of the 
site more accessible by public transport. Such improvements would then mean that 
future residents would have access to a choice of travel modes, which would help to 
reduce the number of car journeys generated by the development.

o It is noted that the provision of two new bus stops (northbound and southbound) and 
an associated pedestrian refuge is intended as part of the scheme. The nearest 
existing northbound and southbound bus stops on Hollin Lane are located 180-200 
metres from the southernmost boundary of the site. As bus stops are typically located 
200-250 metres apart, TfGM recommend that four new bus stops (two northbound and 
two southbound) are provided to improve the accessibility of the site. New bus stops 
should include raised kerbs and shelters, and should be provided in accordance with 
TfGM’s bus stop design guidelines. A condition should be imposed to secure the 
provision of new stops as follows:

o A pair (northbound and southbound) of new bus stops located towards the 
southern end of the site close to St Anne’s Academy, thus improving 
accessibility for these community buildings and the proposed dwellings in this 
location (these would also serve the possible future development site on the 
west side of Hollin Lane).

o A pair (northbound and southbound) of new bus stops located approximately 
230 metres north of (i) further along Hollin Lane to serve dwellings to the 
northern and eastern parts of the site.

o The site layout should be designed to maximise the benefits of the site’s location in 
relation to public transport and to encourage travel by sustainable modes, including 
walking and cycling. The pedestrian and cycling environment within and around the site 
should be designed to be as safe, attractive and convenient as possible, including 
natural surveillance from active frontages of the development where possible. 
Particular attention should be paid to walking/cycling routes through the site and links 
to Hollin Lane and St Anne’s Academy. The development provides an opportunity to 
improve the cycle network by: (i) the provision of a traffic free, segregated cycle route 
along the site’s frontage with Hollin Lane; and (ii) the upgrading of any rough surfaces 
of the existing traffic free route along Stott Lane within the site. The proposed cycle 



parking at the community building should be secure, sheltered, positioned in a 
convenient location close to the entrance and benefit from natural surveillance or 
CCTV. Conditions should be attached to any permission granted requiring a scheme 
for cycle improvements.

o The application is accompanied by a Framework Travel Plan to reduce dependence on 
single occupancy car travel and to encourage the use of more sustainable transport 
modes. A condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring the further 
development, submission, implementation and monitoring of a full residential travel 
plan.

o The application also includes the provision of additional car parking for St Anne’s 
Academy. This parking area is to be accessed from the existing school site and will not 
be accessible from within the development site. There does not appear to be any 
explanation or justification of the need for this additional car parking for the Academy. 
Car parking at the school should be provided in accordance with RMBC parking 
standards and travel plan measures put in place to encourage alternative travel to and 
from the school by sustainable modes. 

o (Note: the parking is no longer proposed by this application).

United Utilities (UU): - No objection. Comments as follows:
 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system 
with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most 
sustainable way. 

 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system 
with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most 
sustainable way. The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the 
developer when considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the 
developer to consider the following drainage options in the following order of priority:  
(1) into the ground (infiltration); (2) to a surface water body; (3) to a surface water 
sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; (4) to a combined sewer.

 United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following 
conditions are attached to any approval: -
 Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 

 The pumped water mains supplying Hatters Service Reservoir cross the Northern side 
of the site. As we need access for operating and maintaining them, we will not permit 
development in close proximity to the main. 

 You will need an access strip of no less than 10 metres, measuring at least 5 metres 
either side of the centre line of each of the pipes. 

 The applicant must comply with our standard conditions, a copy of which is enclosed, 
for work carried out on, or when crossing aqueducts and easements. 

 This should be taken into account in the final site layout, or a diversion will be 
necessary, which will be at the applicant's expense. 

 Any necessary disconnection or diversion required as a result of any development will 
be carried out at the developer's expense. Under the Water Industry Act 1991, 
Sections 158 & 159, we have the right to inspect, maintain, adjust, repair or alter our 
mains. This includes carrying out any works incidental to any of those purposes. 
Service pipes are not our property and we have no record of them. 

 A domestic water supply can be made available to the proposed development. 
 Our water mains may need extending to serve any development on this site. The 

applicant, who may be required to pay a capital contribution, will need to sign an 
Agreement under Sections 41, 42 & 43 of the Water Industry Act 1991.

 The applicant must undertake a complete soil survey, as and when land proposals 
have progressed to a scheme design i.e. development, and results submitted along 
with an application for water. This will aid in our design of future pipework and 



materials to eliminate the risk of contamination to the local water supply. 
 Each individual unit will require a separate metered supply at the applicant's expense 

and all internal pipework must comply with current water supply (water fittings) 
regulations 1999. 

 The level of cover to the water mains and sewers must not be compromised either 
during or after construction. 

 Should this planning application be approved, the applicant should contact United 
Utilities on 03456 723 723 regarding connection to the water mains/public sewers. 

 Should this application be approved the applicant must contact our water fittings 
section at Warrington North WwTW, Gatewarth Industrial Estate, off Liverpool Road, 
Sankey Bridges, Warrington, WA5 1DS. 

 It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between any 
United Utilities' assets and the proposed development. United Utilities offers a fully 
supported mapping service and we recommend the applicant contact our Property 
Searches Team on 03707 510101 to obtain maps of the site. 

 Due to the public sewer transfer, not all sewers are currently shown on the statutory 
sewer records, if a sewer is discovered during construction; please contact a Building 
Control Body to discuss the matter further. A separate metered supply to each unit will 
be required at the applicant's expense and all internal pipe work must comply with 
current water supply (water fittings) regulations 1999. 

 The level of cover to the water mains and sewers must not be compromised either 
during or after construction.

 Should this planning application be approved, the applicant should contact United 
Utilities on 03456 723 723 regarding connection to the water mains or public sewers. 

 Should this application be approved the applicant must contact our water fittings 
section at Warrington North WwTW, Gatewarth Industrial Estate, off Liverpool Road, 
Sankey Bridges, Warrington, WA5 1DS.

 It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between any 
United Utilities' assets and the proposed development. United Utilities offers a fully 
supported mapping service and we recommend the applicant contact our Property 
Searches Team on 03707 510101 to obtain maps of the site. 

 Due to the public sewer transfer, not all sewers are currently shown on the statutory 
sewer records, if a sewer is discovered during construction; please contact a Building 
Control Body to discuss the matter further. 

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the UDP 
and has the potential to affect public rights of way, notices have also been posted on the site 
and in the local press. 

To date, a total of 19 letters of objection and two letters of support have been received. The 
previous application attracted a total of 253 letters in objection to the application; ten letters 
were received in support of the proposal and one was submitted declaring a neutral stance. 

Those letters in support raised the following matters:
 The proposals would provide opportunities for residents of Middleton to get on the 

housing ladder and provide new housing within close proximity to an existing 
school, Middleton Town Centre and the motorway. 

 There is a need for more new and affordable housing in Middleton.

The points of objection made in the letters are summarised as follows:



 Previous objection maintained, the grounds for which are detailed in the objections by 
the group The People vs Taylor Wimpey. it is ludicrous in having to object repeatedly 
to the same sets of plans by the same people

 The site forms an area of Protected Open Land located outside the Defined Urban 
Area. Applications have been submitted in 1995 and 2010 for development of the site 
and have always been refused. An appeal in 1985 (reference 017143/APP/P/423/A/85) 
has also been dismissed. There has been no change in circumstances since the 
refusal of previous applications and the dismissal of an appeal on the site to indicate 
that a different decision should be reached. The site performs the same function as the 
Green Belt and should remain open, as intended by the policy in the UDP.

 Taylor Wimpy have identified a cost for Abnormals of between £300,000 and £500,000 
per hectare for this site. I find this hard to believe as a Green Field Site how can there 
be abnormals? I view this an attempt to make the site more financial viable by stating a 
fabricated case regarding abnormals.

 Taylor Wimpy state that a cost of £3000 extra per dwelling for a Code Level Three 
Dwelling should be attributed. This may have been correct six years ago, but 
compliance with Code is no more expensive than complying with building regulations, 
and again is an attempt to fabricate abnormal costs, to achieved code three through a 
fabric first approach has NIL cost.

 There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should 
be developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. 
The Council’s own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build 
over 11,500 new properties throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing 
land supply target without any need to build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an 
annual quota (laid down by government) to construct approximately 400 houses on an 
annual basis within the borough and is currently the only Local Authority in Greater 
Manchester to be ahead of its building quota. Recent applications approved in 
Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) have allowed the construction of over 600 
new houses in the township. Houses of the type proposed are already freely available 
on the market and those already for sale are currently struggling to sell. Therefore, 
there is no justifiable need for further housing within the borough at the present time, 
and certainly not within the countryside.

 The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in 
Middleton, will detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual 
terms and will diminish the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational purposes 
through the removal and obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths (including 
removing this benefit for future generations).  The development of this area of 
Protected Open Land would see the effective merging of Middleton and Heywood and 
an associated 12 mile long urban sprawl between Manchester and Bamford. The land 
has been left open for centuries and designated as Protected Open Land in order to 
avoid this, and to provide a green buffer between the two towns. The release of the 
land for housing would set a precedent allowing the development of additional, 
adjoining land in the future.

 The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of 
which are protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts) and known to exist within the 
site. 

 The proposed development would lead to a significant increase in traffic generation on 
the already busy thoroughfares of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. This would include 
construction traffic during the course of development and additional vehicles 
associated with future occupiers of the houses. Both schemes propose 2 car parking 
spaces per dwelling, resulting in a minimum of 710 additional vehicles in the locality 
(355 x 2). There is insufficient capacity on surrounding streets and junctions to 
accommodate this increase in traffic and this would also be exacerbated through by 
the forthcoming construction of a new trunk road at junction 19 of the M62, located a 



short distance to the north of the site. Accordingly, the development would have a 
detrimental impact on road safety. Pedestrian safety is also of particular concern in this 
location given the site’s close proximity to St Anne’s Academy.

 The increase in traffic arising from the development, both during the anticipated seven 
year build regime and following the occupation of the houses, would result in an 
increase in airborne pollutants, which would have an adverse impact on air quality in 
the area and, accordingly, the health of surrounding residents. The length of time 
required to construct the development would also mean noise, disturbance, dust and 
traffic disruption throughout the build period, thereby creating a burden on the local 
community lasting for a number of years.

 It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future 
flooding and whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal 
with the additional foul and surface water generated by the proposal. The water 
pressure in the area is already very low and is likely to be further impacted as a result 
of the development.

 The development is intended to provide executive homes and will result in Middleton 
becoming a commuter town for residents working in Manchester. This type of housing 
would not fall within the definition of social housing and the prices would put the 
houses out of the reach of local people.

 The addition of new homes on the site would put increased pressure on local schools 
and other public services (e.g. transport, GPs, dentists, utilities etc.) which are already 
stretched. The development is likely to add a further circa 300 children requiring new 
schools places. These are not presently capable of being provided in the area and the 
education system is already operating at/over capacity. The cost of this will be borne 
by the Council.

 The development would also increase the potential for crime and disorder both during 
the construction period and once the houses are finished (e.g. through burglaries and 
trespassing onto a construction site). This would increase pressure on the already 
under-resourced local police force.

 The proposed community facility (which has been mentioned for a range of possible 
uses including a community centre, convenience store or a pub) is not required in the 
area. Such a facility would cause additional traffic issues in this busy location and 
increased parking pressures. There are already a number of shops and pubs available 
in the locality which would be adversely affected by the proposed community use.

 The developer suggests that the scheme will create new construction jobs for local 
people in the area. However, it is common practice for developers to use their own 
contractors/workforce in such circumstances and, accordingly, this should not be 
considered as an advantage of the development. In addition, the loss of the land would 
result in the closure of existing stables on the site and an associated loss of 
employment for local residents. The development is also likely to result in a reduction 
in houses prices for surrounding occupiers.

 There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support 
the views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and 
the force of public opinion.

ANALYSIS

Scope of the Planning Application

This application is a resubmission of 14/00849/OUT and seeks outline planning permission for 
the development of the site to provide up to 205 houses with associated landscaping, open 
space, access arrangements and car parking. These proposals are in outline with only 
approval being sought at this time for access, and therefore further reserved matters 
applications would be necessary to deal with the matters of design and appearance, the scale, 



layout and landscaping of the proposed development. Each of these matters is defined in the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 as 
follows:

Access – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network.

Appearance – the aspects of a building or place within the development which determine the 
visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture.

Landscaping – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 
protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes—

(a) screening by fences, walls or other means;
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass;
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks;
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or 
public art; and
(e) the provision of other amenity features;

Layout – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
the development.

Scale – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings.

This application is being considered at the same time as planning application 15/01195/OUT 
for a development of up to 150 dwellings and a potential primary school on a site to the north 
of Langley Lane (resubmission of 14/00851/OUT) and also planning application 
15/01207/OUT for up to 88 dwellings on the western side of Hollin Lane (resubmission of 
15/00358/OUT). Whilst assessment needs to be undertaken of their cumulative impacts when 
assessing each application, they are entirely separate applications and therefore fall to be 
considered on their respective merits.  

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, 
particularly given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the 
Protected Open Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to 
be allocated for development.  

Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was not 
included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north and 
west of Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt are not 
known but it is noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban areas of 
Greater Manchester were left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the permanence of 
the Green Belt by not making it overly restrictive in terms of meeting the future development 
needs of the existing built up area. This buffer land has been similarly designated as either 
Protected Open Land or Safeguarded Land within the local plans of other Greater Manchester 
Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of 



Protected Open Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at that 
time. It is noted that land was released for residential development to the south of Langley 
Lane (former Bishop Marshall school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of the 
current St. Anne’s Academy in the 1990’s. It is also noted land was released for development 
in the 1980’s to allow for an expansion of Stakehill Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a commitment 
being made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the boundaries of the 
Green Belt in 2011.  

1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 
GMGBLP with some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane was not within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land Protection 
policy (Policy C/9) for land between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green Belt.  Since 
the land in question falls between the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy was relevant to 
this site.  Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was as follows:

On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt and 
the Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will normally 
grant planning permission only for development which would be permissible if the land were in 
Green Belt, or for development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in 

general and especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an 

outdoor facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially 
Policy R/27; and

(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-
(i) an existing dwelling;
(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or
(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact on 
the immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in 
connection with a new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet 
development needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will be 
safeguarded for that purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all the 
provisions of this Policy during the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of both 
the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these requests 
the Inspector considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green Belt: (1) that 
Green Belts should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open, and 
(2) that the boundary around an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it 
becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary development in the future.  The 
Inspector concluded that the addition of these sites to the Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, 
neither was he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment 
development at that time, despite representations received in respect of the land north of 



Langley Lane. On this matter, he concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open 
Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only 
slight change was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed to 
Open Land Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the 
following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development 
proposals will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

a) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
b) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in scale 

with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or
c) a limited extension to an existing building which:

 forms part of an existing source of employment; or
 is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which 

satisfies other policies of the Plan; and
 is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not 

adversely affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing 
buildings.  Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, 
should be sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All 
buildings and extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are 
compatible with the landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and 
environment of adjacent Green Belt.

As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites 
within the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the 
size of the site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review of 
Green Belts within Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance indicated 
that such a review was not necessary. He added that, considering national and regional 
guidance, the objectors had not established the exceptional circumstances sufficient for him to 
recommend a modification to include the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector 
did not deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of the 
approach to identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this wider 
assessment all the omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate number 
of residential allocations. This proposed modification to the plan was not taken forward as it 
was considered that sufficient land would come forward to the meet the relatively low housing 
target for the Borough as set out in regional guidance at that time. 

The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during 
the examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination of 
the Green Belt Local Plan dated 1984. At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector 
considered requests to include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green Belt. 
The Inspector concluded that: Green Belts should not include land that it is unnecessary to 
keep permanently open; and the boundary around an existing built up area should not be 



drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary 
development in the future.  The Inspector ultimately concluded that the addition of the 
Protected Open Land into the Green Belt was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not 
intended to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate 
future development needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 1999 
Unitary Development Plan. The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently carried 
forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: economic, social and 
environmental.  

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in 
people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):

 making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;
 moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature;
 replacing poor design with better design;
 improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and
 widening the choice of high quality homes. 

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the 
NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour 



of sustainable development means: 
• Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay, and
• Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

planning permission unless: 
1. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

2. Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development plan, 
specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an assessment of 
the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not they are out-of-date.  

Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the 
purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-of-date 
simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, due 
weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the framework - the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies 
in the framework, the greater the weight they may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (Residential Development Outside Allocated 
Areas), Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (Protected Open Land) of the UDP. 
Policy H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-50 
dwellings per hectare. Minimum density requirements have been removed from national 
guidance and this policy is therefore significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight in 
the determination of this application.

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which 
followed the refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on Protected 
Open Land in the Borough.  These are considered further in the subsequent section of this 
report. 

Release of Protected Open Land in 2013

In allowing two appeals relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Keswick Street, 
Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, Rochdale (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), Inspectors have concluded as follows: 

• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to 
prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, have 
been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of housing, and 
are therefore effectively out-of-date.

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for market 
and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this weighs 
substantially in favour of the proposal.

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the land 
supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the accrued 
shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly not 
challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply.

• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged.



Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when the 
supply of land available for residential development falls below five years, Policies D/10 and 
H/3, which seek to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land 
supply, have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing and are therefore out-of-date.

Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  It is noted that the site is not subject to any of the 
designations listed in the NPPF that would indicate development should be restricted; and 
therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts and benefits is necessary to determine 
whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as defined by the NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane 
and Keswick Street, there have been material changes in circumstances of relevance to this 
application: the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 2013; the subsequent 
suspension of the examination following the Inspector’s direction that an update to the 
evidence base was necessary; and the updated evidence base itself.  This is considered in 
further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers may 
also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of preparation of 
the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and the 
degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF 
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector 
was appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took 
place in October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent 
evidence emerging from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth 
and household formation rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 
which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the 
evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the 
submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be 
suspended in order for the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to update 
the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s recommendations on the 
proposed main modifications are currently awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate 
annual housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, 



taking account levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census 
data.  It is important at this point however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need 
between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector 
to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until the Inspector issues the final report, the 
Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan period that would determine the 
number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any emerging housing target, whether it 
be 460 or otherwise, would therefore have limited weight at this time. It is however clear that in 
light of this most recent evidence of housing need; the UDP policy requirement for 240 new 
homes per annum is significantly out of date.  

In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to 
consider the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent 
appeal decisions have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial Strategy 
(RSS) target into account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was revoked in 
May 2013, the evidence base supporting the document remains relevant.  The RSS target for 
the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ arising as a 
result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 2003.  

In considering housing land supply targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% be included 
in order to ensure that any target continues to be met. This would typically be land brought 
forward in the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for land. However, 
this approach would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been a record of 
persistent under delivery of new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer should be 
increased to 20% brought forward in the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, housing 
completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 2003, are well below the previous 
target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as a result of the major 
demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which applied from 
2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, 
Planning Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be 
applied in assessing whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the 
Borough.  This is the approach taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals in 
the Borough relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and Keswick 
Street and designated green space for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  

If the recalculated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would 
give an annual target of 672 dwellings per annum (as at 1st April 2015). This figure could be 
met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with the 5% supply 
buffer but cannot be met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 
there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year, thus well below the RSS 
target and significantly below the recalculated target of 672 dwellings per year.  Following the 
submission of the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the 
Borough has been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 
2013/14 and 313 for 2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the 
recalculated requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period of 2013 until 2028 
and now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence of 



population growth and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be therefore 
recognised that, were the Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing target for the 
Borough is 460, the Council would already be facing a shortfall of 340 housing completions 
against this target for the first two years of the Core Strategy period.  It is therefore concluded 
that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and accepted by the Inspectors as being 
relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick Street appeals would 
similarly apply at the present time.

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are 
proposed to be demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of 
existing housing areas.  The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new 
housing completions in order to avoid a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of 
new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed 
to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing 
needs are met over the Core Strategy plan period. The Inspector, in considering the 
soundness of the Core Strategy, may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and 
dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, paragraph 
14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 
relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land 
between the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy 
acknowledges that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then the 
development of protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria within 
the section are satisfied. This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and seeks to 
reflect the guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local Plans are 
sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs over the plan 
period. Again, at the current time, it is not clear whether this policy will be carried forward 
without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively assessed housing need for 
the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited 
weight at this time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for housing 
developments within such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the NPPF in 
providing a more flexible and responsive approach to dealing with changes to development 
needs over the plan period.  However, the Core Strategy covers a period between 2013 up to 
2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply against the housing target in the Core 
Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would further exacerbate the 
undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the delivery of the Core Strategy 
in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF requirement to boost significantly the 
supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and 
dealt earlier in the plan period.     

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, it is 
noted that the site is located adjacent to a frequent bus service along Hollin Lane to the west 
of the site. This route provides 3 services into Middleton Town Centre, Bury and Manchester 



with a frequency of a service every 10 minutes during the day provided on one of these 
services. The site is immediately adjacent to a secondary school, and it is noted that there are 
a number of primary schools within a 20 minute walking distance from the site. With regards to 
other local facilities, three small retail and commercial units are located at the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lane, and a public house and further small convenience shop are located 
within walking distance further along Hollin Lane to the south of the site. A wide variety of 
employment, leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and amenities located within 
Middleton and Heywood, accessible within short bus journey times of 10 minutes, with the 
regional centre of Manchester located approximately a 30 minute journey. Having regard to 
the above, the application site is considered to be within a sustainable location for the 
purposes of the NPPF. 

It is noted that the number of dwellings proposed would make a significant and valuable 
contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough. In the context of the above, 
significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its contribution to the 
supply of housing in the Borough.  

Amendments following Refusal of Previous Application

Following the refusal of the previous application and the two applications proposing the 
development of the adjacent sites, the Council’s Casualty Reduction Team carried out a road 
safety audit of the highway works proposed by all three applications. 

In response to the findings of the Council’s road safety audit, the applicant Taylor Wimpey Ltd 
submitted a revised Transport Assessment in support of this application and the application for 
the development on the eastern side of Hollin Lane (reference 15/01195/OUT). 

In respect of this application, the road safety audit identified that the location of the proposed 
junction is close to the 30mph/40mph change in the speed limit on Hollin Lane and it therefore 
recommends that the visibility splay should be increased so that it is taken 4.5m back from the 
junction rather than 2.4m. Notwithstanding this, the local highway authority has previously 
recommended that the 30mph speed limit should be extended further to the north of Hollin 
Lane and this would also address this issue. 

The revised Transport Assessment demonstrates the increased visibility splays can be 
accommodated.  It also proposes the renewal of existing worn road markings at the junction of 
Hollin Lane and Langley Lane and the extension of the zig zag road markings on Hollin Lane 
to reinforce the signalised crossing location to the north of this junction. The existing and 
proposed bus stop locations are also shown on the plans.  

The revised Transport Assessment submitted by the applicant also seeks to address the 
reason for refusal of the previous application in respect of the cumulative impact of this 
development with the other two developments proposed on the highway network. 

The reasons for refusal of the previous application related to the proposed access, the 
cumulative highway implications of this proposal with the two other applications and also the 
impact of the development on local infrastructure capacity, including schools and sports 
facilities. The access and highway implications and the capacity of local education and sports 
infrastructure are considered in turn below.  

Transport and Highway Implications

Two of the three reasons for the refusal of the previous application (14/00849/OUT) related to 
highway and access implications. The Committee considered that the cumulative impact of the 
additional traffic generated by this and other proposed developments in the area, would be 
detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the highway network and would increase 



congestion in the area, contrary to Policies G/A/1 and A/8 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

The Committee also concluded that the proposed access into the development from Hollin 
Lane, in conjunction with that proposed under application 15/00358/OUT and in close 
proximity to the junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and access to St Anne's 
Academy, with an existing pedestrian crossing at the junction, would be harmful to highway 
and pedestrian safety in this location contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

UDP policy G/A/1 requires development to provide for access such as to meet the operational 
needs of the development but minimise the adverse impacts of motorised transport on the 
wider community. Policy A/2 provides a hierarchy of accessibility and requires the safety, 
accessibility and amenity of people who live in or otherwise use the area l be considered 
before the needs of people who are just travelling through. Polices A/3 and A/9 require 
development proposals to provided safe and convenient access.

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity 
of the development;

c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed 

by traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road 
network.

UDP policy A/8 goes on to state that where additional traffic movements directly generated by 
a development proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the 
developer will be required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. The 
works required by the Council could be any or all of the following:

• Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure;
• Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure;
• Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling;
• Other traffic management measures; and/or
• The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that decisions should take account of whether improvements 
can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts 
of the development. Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds 
where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 

The highway works proposed comprise the following:

 Improvements to the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane;
 The relocation and upgrading of an existing uncontrolled pedestrian refuge with a 

signalised pedestrian crossing on Hollin Lane to the north of its junction with 
Hazelhurst Drive in order to provide improved pedestrian crossing facilities.

 A new uncontrolled pedestrian crossing and traffic island to north of proposed site 
access in order to assist pedestrians crossing Hollin Lane near to the new bus 
stops.

 New bus stops on the north and south bound carriageways of Hollin Lane to the 



north of the proposed site access to provide access to bus services. 
 Additional road signage, road markings and traffic calming measures to provide 

right turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in order clam 
traffic speeds along Hollin Lane.

The off-site highway works would be secured through a section 278 agreement under the 
Highways Act, with the exception of the bus stops, which are to be provided by development 
contributions secured through the section 106 agreement.  

Capacity of the Highway Network

Following the previous refusal, a revised Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted 
which supports both the applications resubmitted by Taylor Wimpey. This TA has considered 
and reviewed the existing traffic conditions, the cumulative impact of all three proposals 
including that submitted by Wainhomes, additional travel movements generated by such type 
of development, and the implications on traffic and highway capacity during construction. The 
revised TA also addresses the findings of the safety audit undertaken by the Council following 
the previous refusal. 

Notably, the revised TA considers the impact of the proposed development at Langley Lane 
on the safety and efficiency of the local and strategic highway network. A number of 
development ‘scenarios’ are considered, as follows:

a) Hollin Lane proposals in isolation
b) Langley Lane proposals in isolation, including both Option 1 (up to 150 dwellings) and 

Option 2 (127 dwellings + a primary school)
c) Hollin Lane and Langley Lane proposals in combination
d) Hollin Lane and Langley Lane proposals + the Wainhomes proposals for up to 88 

dwellings to the west of Hollin Lane.

The junction capacity analysis demonstrates that the impacts of the development proposed by 
this application (scenario (ii) above) including both options 1 and 2, can be accommodated 
within the surrounding highway network subject to the implementation of the proposed 
package of access proposals and off-site transport measures. Similarly, this analysis also 
demonstrates that the cumulative impact of both Taylor Wimpey proposals (scenario (iii) 
above) can also be accommodated within the surrounding highway network, subject to the 
implementation of the proposed package of access proposals and off-site transport measures. 

In relation to scenario (iv) above, the analysis shows that with the addition of the 88 dwellings 
proposed by Wainhomes, the impacts upon the existing junction of Hollin Lane with Langley 
Lane would result in the junction operating at its capacity during the evening peak hour. 
However, the residual impact of the development proposals would not be severe and it is 
considered that a refusal of planning permission on this basis could not be substantiated on 
appeal. 

Access

In determining the previous application, the Committee concluded that the proposed access 
into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that proposed by the development 
on the western side of Hollin Lane (Wainhomes) and in close proximity to the junction of Hollin 
Lane with Hazelhurst Drive and the access to St Anne's Academy, with an existing pedestrian 
crossing at the junction, would be harmful to highway and pedestrian safety in this location.

The road safety audit of the junction has not identified any safety concerns with regards to the 
location of the access relative to any other accesses or the pedestrian crossing points.  
However, the safety audit recommends that the visibility splay be increased and the revised 
Transport Assessment submitted by the applicant includes this amendment. The local highway 



authority has previously recommended that the 30mph speed limit be extended beyond the 
access, which would also serve to address this issue identified in the road safety audit. 

The site access would be located approximately 120 metres to the north of the existing 
junction of Hollin Lane with Hazlehurst Drive and approximately 115m to the north of the 
proposed access to the Wainhomes site on the western side of Hollin Lane. In respect of the 
pedestrian crossing points, the proposed signalised crossing would be located approximately 
75m to the south of the site access. Given these distances and the revisions to the visibility 
splays in line with the recommendations of the safety audit, the vehicular access into the site 
is considered to be acceptable and would have no detrimental impact on the safe operation of 
the highway.  

The indicative masterplan submitted by the applicant also shows two emergency access 
points on to and across Stott Lane for use in the event the main access becomes blocked. The 
design of these potential emergency access points will form part of the detailed design and 
layout of the scheme at a later date as part of the reserved matters applications. 

Public Transport, Walking and Cycling

Sections of combined cycle and pedestrian routes within the site are also shown on the 
proposed parameters plan to provide for safe cycle routes which would link into the existing 
footpath and highway networks around the perimeters of the site. It is also proposed to secure 
the provision of financial contributions towards cycle network improvements along a section of 
Hollin Lane from its junction with Langley Lane to its junction with Rochdale Road to the south. 
This would help link the application site to the various employment, leisure, entertainment and 
education facilities the in Middleton Town Centre, but also link into a wider Hollin Lane and 
Junction 19 Cycle Route improvement project which has secured confirmed funding from 
TfGM to provide improved linkages from Langley Lane up to Junction 19 of the M62 
motorway, and further northwest to Heywood Distribution Park and Stakehill Industrial Park, 
and east towards Hopwood Hall College, and Cardinal Langley RC High School.

It is noted that the indicative masterplan provides for a network of footpaths both utilising Stott 
Lane running through the centre of the site and through the areas of open space along the 
north, south, east and west perimeters of the site. In addition, as noted above an appropriate 
travel plan to encourage the take up of sustainable transport modes drawn up in consultation 
with TfGM and Highways England is proposed to be secured by condition.

Parking Provision

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”. 

Details of the exact parking provision to be provided for each dwelling will provided in 
subsequent applications for reserved matters for the detailed development of the site. Any 
scheme would need to come forward in line with the above standards set out in the UDP. 
Nevertheless, in principle given the number of dwellings proposed and layout and size of the 
site it is considered that sufficient parking could be provided on the site for the 205 dwellings, 
in accordance with policy A/10 of the UDP.

Conclusion



Assessing the individual proposal, subject to the measures set out above being secured by 
way of condition and appropriate legal agreements, officers have concluded the following:

1. The development would encourage alternative modes of travel to the private car;
2. The location and design of the accesses into the site from Hollin Lane are acceptable, 

meet relevant standards and accord with the recommendations of the safety audit 
undertaken following the previous refusal; and

3. The proposed development would not be detrimental to the function and safety of the 
surrounding local and strategic highway network.

Therefore, there appears to be no technical evidence to support a view that the access 
arrangements would be harmful to highway or pedestrian safety. It must also be recognised 
that the pedestrian crossings proposed on Hollin Lane, including the signalised crossing in the 
vicinity of the access to St Anne’s Academy, would provide benefits to pedestrian safety. 

In relation to the cumulative impact of this proposed development with the other two in the 
vicinity, the comments of the local highway authority and Highways England on the revised 
Transport Assessment are awaited, but it is noted neither has previously raised any objections 
on this ground. In the absence of any objections being raised by statutory consultees, there 
appears to be no sustainable grounds to refuse this particular application on the grounds of 
access or cumulative impact and a refusal of planning permission on this basis could not be 
substantiated on appeal.

Capacity of Local Infrastructure

The third reason for refusal of application 14/00849/OUT relates to the additional pressure on 
local infrastructure as a result of the development, including schools and sports facilities, 
which would be unable to accommodate the additional demand that would be placed on local 
infrastructure as a result of additional residents and resulting increase in local population 
arising from the proposed development contrary to Policies H/6, G/CF/1, CF/2, G/4 and G/5 of 
the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

The impact of development on local infrastructure is an important consideration in the 
determination of planning applications. Developer contributions are often sought in order to 
ensure the additional demands placed on local infrastructure are mitigated. The NPPF advises 
that Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations (paragraph 
203). Each of the areas of concern raised by the Committee is considered in turn below.  

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of 
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local 
planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to 
meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They 
should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and
• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues before 

applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments 
provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for additional 
school places created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be afforded to the 
Core Strategy policies is limited, the proposed residential development would generate 



additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area.  In 
accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the development on education provision should be 
mitigated. 

The Local Education Authority notes that the existing primary and secondary schools within 
the local area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need for additional 
places to be provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has subsequently 
requested that the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand for education 
places by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing additional education 
facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is considered that the 
provision of such additional education places and facilities would be necessary in order to 
provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of sustainable 
development running through the NPPF. 

The applicant has agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide financial 
contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary school places off-site. Full 
details of the calculations are provided later in this report, however the primary education 
contribution would be in the region of £631,400.51 and the secondary education contribution 
would be in the region of £315,700.20. The basis for calculating the scale of financial 
contributions has been agreed with the Council as Education Authority. A more detailed 
breakdown of the calculation of the necessary financial contributions towards mitigating for the 
education need generated by the proposed development is discussed in the planning 
obligations section of this report.  

Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that; “to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities 
and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 
o Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such as 

local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and 
places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments

o Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services.

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning 
policies in the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate 
provision for recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 
hectare per 1000 population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) 
provision. In the case of developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to 
be met through a financial contribution towards the laying out (including 20 year maintenance) 
and/or improvement of recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-site recreational 
open space are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a 
development and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the 
occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more 
than five contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as recreation 
and sport facilities.  The Council has entered into more than 5 separate contributions for open 
space outdoor sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further contributions sought 
would not comply with the requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations, 
unless specific projects are identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 



contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the site provides for a 
significant amount of on-site open space and this would also provide an open landscaped 
buffer to the open fields beyond. The detailed layout of this will be subject to detailed design 
within future reserved matters applications. With regards to future maintenance, it is intended 
that a landscape open space implementation and management plan will be secured by way of 
a section 106 Agreement.  The provision of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) within the 
public open space would provide formal children’s play facilities for the future occupants. 
Maintenance of on-site facilities would be the responsibility of the developer and it is intended 
that a landscape open space implementation and management plan will be secured by way of 
a section 106 Agreement.  

In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has agreed to enter into an 
s106 agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with the Sport England Sports 
Facilities Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement of existing sports facilities, 
at Bowlee Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the development on sports facilities. On this 
basis, Sport England has offered its support for the application.  

In addition, the applicant states that a 60 metre by 60 metre playing pitch could be located 
within the area of open space in the northern part of the site.  The provision of a suitable 
facility and appropriate maintenance could be adequately secured by way of a Section 106 
Agreement, however Sport England in their comments provided in relation to the previous 
application advised that the preferred option would be for a contribution to be sought to an 
existing site within the locality. As noted above, a contribution is sought towards formal sports 
at Bowlee Playing Fields and it is recommended that the layout of the open space at reserved 
matters stage takes account of Sport England’s comments.   

With regards to informal recreational provision, the applicant has agreed to enter into a 
Section 106 Agreement to provide a financial contribution of £30,000 towards implementing a 
series of improvements to Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve to provide access to and 
enhance this recreational facility. Given the number of dwellings proposed and the proximity of 
the site to the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve Station, and the recommendations of GMEU, 
it is considered that the above financial contribution would accord with criteria set out in 
paragraph 204 of the NPPF.

Other Local Infrastructure

In relation to other local infrastructure, such as doctors surgeries, health centres and dentists, 
the expansion and provision of healthcare infrastructure is a matter for the Primary Care Trust, 
which has a statutory duty to provide the population with access to healthcare. There are no 
reasonable means by which the applicant might address the impact of the development upon 
the provision of healthcare, which would in any event require the strategic input of the NHS 
and PCT responsible for the area. The site of the proposed development is accessible and the 
contributions proposed to sports facilities and Hopwood Woods would promote access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation, which the NPPF recognises 
makes an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities.

Conclusion

The applicant has agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide developer 
contributions to mitigate the impact of the development on education provision, sports facilities 
and Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve. The total contribution in respect of the above is 
£1,167,578.51 (which excludes highway and transport mitigation).

Accordingly, subject to these contributions, the Council as Local Education Authority has 
raised no objection to the proposal and Sport England has offered its support for the 
application. The additional demands placed on local infrastructure would therefore be 



mitigated in accordance with the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, the emerging Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. As such, it is considered that a refusal 
on these grounds could not be substantiated on appeal.  

Impact on Public Rights of Way

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a. Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b. Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c. Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
d. Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that:
a. The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 

landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside and 
establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and 
implement high quality links with such routes from urban areas.

b. Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate 
the greater use of these routes by cyclists, horse riders and those people with impaired 
mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support and 
implement enhancement schemes such as way marking, picnic, interpretation and 
other facilities along the routes.

c. In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the conservation 
of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of agricultural 
interests, areas of nature conservation importance (including designated areas) and 
the character and purpose of the route where appropriate.

UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to 
the scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that 
proposals should ensure:

a. Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and 
buildings, well lit and signed as appropriate;

b. The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the establishment 
of convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access would be 
compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives;

c. Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes;

d. Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility.

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 
improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment 
and the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and such 
improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and accessibility 
for disabled people and other people with restricted mobility.

There a number of rights of way that run around the application site, in particular along Hollin 



Lane and Hazlehurst Drive to the west and south of the site which would both be retained. The 
route along Stott Lane (known as Middleton Rupp118) is a restricted byway that that runs 
north to south through the site from Hazlehurst Drive in the south to Oakenbank Road to the 
north of the site. The proposal would clearly affect Stott Lane as it proposes to cross it; 
however the proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan both provide for the 
retention of this route by limiting the crossings over this route to the single main estate road, 
with two emergency access points along pedestrian and cycle access points. Whilst the 
experience of users of Stott Lane will therefore change significantly as a result of the 
development, it is considered that the proposed development would retain the integrity and of 
this route for pedestrians and cyclists. 

The proposed scheme set out in the parameters plan allows for a network of dedicated 
pedestrian routes, combined pedestrian and cycle routes, connections to the existing right of 
way along Stott Lane, with these new routes also to be connected into a network of residential 
streets. These supplement existing routes and together would form a highly permeable 
townscape and network of routes with a clear hierarchy and mix of types of routes to aid 
movement and use. As a result, it is considered that the proposed indicative scheme would 
provide for a safe and accessible environment in accordance with the above policies of the 
UDP and the policy objectives set out in the NPPF.

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where significant 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities 
should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. Best 
and most versatile agricultural land is classified as grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of lesser quality is 
classified as grade 3B, 4 and 5.  

It is noted that the proposed development would take up approximately 10.8Ha of agricultural 
land most recently been left over for pasture and grazing purposes. A survey has been 
undertaken by the applicant which has concluded that due to the soil quality and climatic 
considerations the land would constitute grade 3A (good quality) in its northern half and grade 
3B (moderate quality) in the southern half of the site. The land within the application site does 
therefore include some of the best and most versatile agricultural land (3A and above) which 
comprises approximately 53% of the application site.  

Whilst part of the site would utilise agricultural land classed as of good quality Grade 3A, it is 
noted that from the submitted evidence that the land being subdivided by Stott Lane, the small 
size of the field and limited presence of arable agriculture and associated infrastructure in the 
vicinity of the site, it would be unlikely to produce high or moderate yields and for a wide range 
of arable and cereal crops. Given the above, it is not considered that the proposals would 
have a significant detrimental impact on the availability of agricultural land in the surrounding 
area and in any event, is necessary to secure the provision of housing. The proposal therefore 
accords with the NPPF.  

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states that 
proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not 
allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or economically 

viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking place; or



3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no economic 
value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction 
taking place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and Brick 
Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development would 
not allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result would sterilise any 
clay or brick reserves which may exist below the site. 

The applicant has submitted a Mineral Assessment report which concludes that the need for 
the development would outweigh the need for prior extraction of the minerals. In addition, that 
report concludes that due to the depth of the coal and brick clay reserves requiring prior 
extraction, and that as a result of the need to provide sufficient buffers to adjacent sensitive 
land uses, insufficient amount of reserves could be extracted to make the process viable.

Comments received previously from the Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Planning 
Unit noted that, whilst they do not accept that prior extraction would not be unviable and 
impossible, that they do consider the need for the proposals in the absence of a five year 
supply would outweigh the need for extraction of the brick and clay minerals and have raised 
no objections to the proposal if this is the case. 

In this instance in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested housing 
land supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed with 
regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of boosting 
housing provision set out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for the 
proposed development to form up to 205 houses would outweigh the need for mineral 
extraction. Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed scheme 
would accord with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

With respect to the presence of former coal mine entries, whilst there are no shallow recorded 
coal mine workings within the development site, there is the potential for unrecorded coal 
mining features to be present within the site and surrounding area. An informative is 
recommended should permission be granted reflecting the sites location within a coal mining 
area, and which has been included in the recommendation accordingly. Having regard to the 
above, it is considered that the proposed scheme would provide for a safe environment for 
future residents, users and occupants of the development in accordance with policy objectives 
within the Council’s LDF Core Strategy.

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment and requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires 
that the level of protection is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will 
be required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built 
environment, and in particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and 
accord with the best of its surroundings. developments that engender local distinctiveness will 
be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their 
surroundings and to enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features which 
make a material contribution to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development 



proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and 
cultural character of the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and historic 
significance.

Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and 
visual implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

a. Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into and 
from the site and surrounding area);

b. Remove incongruous landscape features;
c.  Assist the conservation of:

(i) Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
(ii) Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or 

cumulatively) to landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road 
patterns, existing buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

(iii) Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
(iv) The visual condition of landscape elements; and
(v) Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.”

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.”

With regards to the character of the wider area the site sits within the Manchester Pennine 
Fringe national character area (no. 54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the north 
and Manchester Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury Rochdale and 
Oldham and is described as a transitional zone between elevated, open moorlands and 
densely populated urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described as a transition 
from upland to lowland with smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided valleys, and with 
vantage points provided on elevated areas providing views across Greater Manchester. This 
notes that much of the countryside has been influenced by recreational use of adjacent urban 
areas and diversification of farmland resulting in a distinct urban fringe character.

The site sits immediately to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the 
north leading to the M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood beyond. The 
application site sits within an undulating topography of open fields separated by hedgerows 
with small farm complexes interspersed and set within open fields. The site is located within 
what is characterised as settled farmlands within the Landscape Character Areas defined in 
policy NE/6 of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of more domesticated farmscape with 
occasional small settlements on lower slopes and valley edges; improved grasslands used for 
cattle, sheep and horse grazing, with a varied mix of open land uses including farming, 
equestrian, outdoor sports and managed areas of countryside.

The applicants have submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment in support of the 
application. This provides a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed development 
on the landscape and visual amenity of the surrounding area both during construction and 
throughout the lifetime of the development. From this, it is noted that the proposed 
development would result in temporary moderate adverse landscape impacts during 



construction of the development from the public rights of way, Hollin Lane and properties at St 
Anne’s Academy, Oaken Bank Road, Winwood Fold, Roethorn Close and at Hatters Cottage. 

However, once the development was complete and landscaping and planting implemented, it 
is noted that there would be no significant visual impacts and harm caused to the landscape 
character of the surrounding area, or on landscape features including hedgerows, trees. The 
proposed masterplan retains the defining landscape features provided by the hedgerows that 
run either side of Stott Lane, and those towards the boundaries of the site. Furthermore, it is 
considered that the inclusion of a playing pitch within the open green buffer at the northern 
end of the site would not compromise this transition to the open landscape beyond.

It is noted that the proposal would result in the loss of a significant area of open grassed fields 
adjacent to existing vehicular routes and residential areas when combined with the 
development of adjacent sites currently being considered by the LPA. However, it is also 
noted that if these site were both viewed together they would be seen within the context of the 
adjacent urban area of Middleton.

It is also noted that the site is located adjacent to the Greater Manchester Green Belt that runs 
along the northern boundary of the site and which provides a break from the urban area of 
Middleton to the Green Belt. The proposed scheme would retain an open green buffer along 
the northern boundary of the site adjacent to the Green Belt ranging from between 
approximately 85 metres deep in the west to 15 metres at its easternmost point. This is 
considered to provide for adequate separation and a soft transition between the between the 
built form of the proposed residential development and the open fields of the Green belt to the 
north, to ensure that there would be no significant harm to the character and openness and 
views into and of the adjacent Green belt. 

Having regard to the above, the character of the surrounding area and its location on the 
urban fringe, it is considered that the proposed development would not cause any significant 
over-riding harm to the character, qualities and visual aesthetics of the surrounding landscape 
both individually and cumulatively, in accordance with policies G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the UDP, 
and the policies set out in the NPPF.

Ecology and Nature Conservation Implications

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on 
nature conservation interests are also protected by separate legislation including the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act, which requires Local Authorities to have regard to 
nature conservation and article 10 of the Habitats Directive, which stresses the importance of 
natural networks of linked corridors to allow movement of species between suitable habitats, 
and promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles:

a) if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;



b) proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 
individually or in combination with other developments) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where the benefits of the development, at this 
site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the site 
that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national 
network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;

c) opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply national 
planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – SAC), 
national (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites of 
Biological Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and 
that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek 
to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place an 
unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping and 
open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be supported and 
encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern;

• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the urban 

areas with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.



The application site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open 
agricultural fields characterised by pasture and grazing land with a network of hedgerows 
providing for a network of wildlife corridors and further habitats for wildlife and fauna. Within 
close proximity to the east of the site lies the Hopwood Woods Local Nature Reserve which is 
a Site of Biological Importance (SBI) and also forms an Ancient Woodland. The application 
has been accompanied by a detailed Ecological Assessment which has been reviewed by 
Greater Manchester Ecological Unit (GMEU), who note that the survey was undertaken by a 
suitably qualified and experienced ecologist and in accordance with best practice. Given the 
findings of ecological reports and surveys are valid only for limited periods to account for the 
transient nature of species, GMEU recommend certain surveys should be updated prior to 
commencement of site works and additional conditions are therefore recommended to this 
effect.  

Designated and Non-Designated Sites:

The application site itself is not designated of any specific nature conservation value, however 
as noted above the site is located within close proximity to a site of biological importance and 
ancient woodland at Hopwood Woods. Whilst as a result of the intervening distance of 85 
metres between the northeast corner of the site and Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve there 
would be no direct impact from the development, the proposals do include for a footpath link 
towards the nature reserve and it is considered that the proposals by way of their scale and 
close proximity would lead to an increase in visitor numbers. It is noted that GMEU have 
recommended seeking a financial contribution or management arrangement towards the 
habitat management and access facilities within Hopwood Woods given the likely increase in 
footfall and usage created by the amount of homes within such close proximity. 

With regards to any potential implications on Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI it is noted 
that the proposals may involve the provision of a surface water outfall from the development 
into the watercourse into the brook at Oaken Bank Woods. In order to ensure that the 
appropriate assessment, and any necessary mitigation measures or works to protect the SBI 
and its habitat from the works themselves and any ongoing implications from surface water 
drainage flows, a condition has been recommended requiring that prior to any development 
taking place detailed drainage plans be submitted and approved in writing and if necessary be 
accompanied by an ecological appraisal where works and outfalls are proposed to Glade and 
Oaken Bank Woods.

Habitats:

With regards to the implications on the habitats on site it is noted that the majority of the site is 
characterised by species poor semi-improved grass and pasture land. However, the site does 
include a network of hedgerows, ponds and areas of marshy grassland which will be lost as 
part of the development and impacted on. However, the site does not comprise any protected 
habitats and are not unique and it is noted that the proposal includes the retention of the 
perimeters of the site, and the field boundaries and hedgerows that run either side of Stott 
Lane that act as wildlife corridors, and would also provide for a substantial landscaped buffer 
along the northern edge of the site. 

Both the supporting report and GMEU conclude that subject to the provision of replacement 
pond habitat in the northern landscape buffer, the provision of appropriate planting and 
biodiversity enhancements incorporating local native species within the northern buffer; the 
approval and implementation of a long term conservation management plan for the wildlife 
corridors around the edges and running through the centre of the site; and the protection of 
the existing trees and hedgerows at the site, the proposals would provide for adequate 
mitigation and replacement of habitats. It is considered that these could be appropriately 
secured by way of conditions on the outline permission securing approval prior to the 



commencement of development. 

Protected and Priority Species:

It is noted that there are a number of ponds on the site and in the surrounding area, and 
accordingly appropriate assessments of the presence of Great Crested Newts. These 
identified that a pond approximately 400 metres to the north of the site had a low population of 
great crested newts. It is noted that given the distance from the site and the low population 
and small habitat that GMEU have advised that a great crested newt licence would not be 
required, and any potential impacts on these protected species could be adequately prevented 
by way of the approval and implementation of a method statement setting out any necessary 
reasonable avoidance measures to be undertaken throughout works on site. Repeat surveys 
are also recommended.  

With regards to the implications on local bat populations, the appropriate surveys were 
undertaken which identified a tree along Stott Lane to be retained on site being of high bat 
roost potential. Notwithstanding this, subsequent surveys concluded that the site was of low 
importance to bats with only low levels of the common pipistrelle activity recorded. As a result, 
subject to conditions requiring the retention of the high value tree along Stott Lane or 
otherwise approval of a suitable scheme of mitigation; and the approval of any lighting scheme 
to be implemented during the construction of the development, and subsequently within the 
completed development, including within all the open spaces, carriageways, footpaths, and 
cycle routes and adjacent to wildlife corridors and buffers around the site; it is not considered 
that the proposed development would result in any significant harm to bat populations within 
and around the site.

With regards to other species, it is noted that the surveys found no evidence of barn owls, 
badgers and riparian mammals including water voles and otters within and around the 
application site. Whilst it is noted that there are records of brown hare within the surrounding 
area, and that the site comprises suitable habitat for such species, given the large areas of 
open farmland to the north and west of the site which provide ideal habitat fro brown hares, as 
noted by GMEU it is not considered that the loss of the habitat within the site would cause a 
significant adverse impact on this species.

In order to protect birds inhabiting the site during the bird breeding season, a condition has 
also been recommended preventing vegetation clearance works being undertaken in the bird 
nesting season, unless a suitable ecological survey has been undertaken of the site prior to 
works taking place.

Invasive Species

With regards to the implications from invasive species being present on the site, the submitted 
survey highlights the presence of Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam on the site. In 
order to ensure that an acceptable scheme to remove and avoid the spread of these is 
undertaken, and in accordance with the recommendations of GMEU a condition has been 
recommended requiring the submission an approval of a method statement for the removal 
and management of these invasive species.

Both Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the amended scheme and have 
raised no objections to the proposed development subject to the conditions set out above. 
Subject to these conditions it is considered that subsequent reserved matters applications and 
the proposed development overall would ensure that adequate mitigation and satisfactory 
precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the development would not result in 
significant adverse effects on the nearby Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and the nature 
conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation status of any protected species. 
The proposed development is therefore considered to be in accordance with the requirements 



of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the policies contained within the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

UDP policy NE/7 states that no work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly 
affect the health of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper 
written authority of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or other 
works which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any works 
carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice. 

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 

(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes a network of hedgerows and trees running along the field 
boundaries within the site and along the site edges defining the extent of the existing fields. 
Otherwise the site comprises open fields laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted 
that none of the trees within or adjacent to the site are protected by way of a Tree 
Preservation order or being within a conservation area. 

It is noted that the proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan for the development 
allows for the retention of the hedgerows along the boundaries of the site and those along 
either side of Stott Lane by providing landscaped buffers along all perimeters of the site and 
through the centre of the site. Indeed the proposed indicative masterplan would also retain all 
the medium value trees and the majority of low value trees within the site, and also the 
majority of hedgerows H1, H8 and H5 that divide the two main parcels of land into smaller 
fields and are a characteristic of the agricultural site and its use and also act as wildlife 
corridors and habitats for foraging and nesting. Furthermore, the proposals by providing a 
large open landscaped buffer area to the north provides for opportunities for significant 
additional planting and improvements to tree cover to be incorporated into any future scheme 
at the site.

In order to secure this, a condition has been recommended requiring a detailed landscaping 
and planting scheme for the site to be approved in writing for the site and, or each phase, 
including the use of local native species given the sites proximity to the Hopwood Woods 
Nature Reserve and ancient woodland to the east, and the enhancement of the tree and 
hedgerow cover along Stott Lane and boundaries of the site as recommended in the submitted 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment. Conditions are recommended to secure the protection and 
retention of the existing hedgerows and trees to be retained, and the submission and approval 
of detailed planting plans for the site.

Therefore, in principle it is considered that the proposed development would not result in 
significant harm by way of loss of any important landscape features and through the 
implementation of a comprehensive tree planting and landscaping scheme across the site 
secured in reserved matters applications, it is considered that there would be a significant gain 
in the quantity and spread of trees on the site as a result of the proposed development. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would accord with the requirements 



of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the relevant policies within the NPPF. 

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
• Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 

buildings.
• Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:

• avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
as a result of new development;

• mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where:
• It would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future 

occupants of buildings, or users of open space.

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.

The scheme includes the retention of a landscaped area of public open space along the 
southern tip of the site adjacent to Hazlehurst Drive and along Hollin Lane. As a result, the 
siting of the housing areas as shown within the proposed parameters plan would retain 
sufficient distance to the nearest dwellings to the south, southeast and southwest well in 
excess of those standards set out above for there to no significant harm by way of loss of 
outlook, loss of daylight, or loss of privacy caused to surrounding occupiers. 

In addition, given the density, height and scale of the dwellings proposed it is considered that 
in principle the proposals would provide for an acceptable form residential environment and it 
is noted that the provision of adequate private amenity space, and levels of outlook and 
daylight for each dwelling and its future occupants could be secured through the detailed 
design of the proposed development within reserved matters applications and its assessment 
against the above policies.

The proposed parameters plan would also retain a substantial landscaped buffer along the 
southern boundary of the site adjacent to the existing St Anne’s Academy building and car 
park. The additional car parking previously indicated for the Academy is no logner proposed 
by this application and would instead form additional open space.

With regards to the proposed location of the locally equipped area of play (LEAP) it is noted 
that this would be sited within the large area of landscaped open space towards the northern 
end of the site. Whilst the scheme is in outline there are no details of the exact location and 
siting of dwellings and play area at this stage, given the size of this area of open space it is 
considered that in principle a LEAP could be provided whilst also providing the respective 
buffers necessary for such facilities.

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 



with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental protection and 
pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and 
noise pollution is kept to an acceptable level.

With regards to noise and acoustic implications of the proposed development, the applicants 
have submitted a noise impact assessment with the application which has assessed both the 
implications of noise on the proposed dwellings and the implications of additional noise 
created by the proposed development on the surrounding environment. The indicative 
masterplan indicates an area of open space and tree planting in the northern part of the site 
and also a landscape buffer along the western boundary adjacent to Hollin Lane. It is also 
noted that landscaped buffers would also be provided along the south and eastern boundaries 
adjacent to the St Anne’s Academy site which would help to provide a buffer to the majority of 
dwellings located towards the site boundaries. 

The report concludes that the key noise source affecting the proposed development is the 
road traffic along Hollin Lane to the west of the site and as a result it recommends the 
provision of acoustic fencing between Hollin Lane and those dwellings nearest to the highway. 
In order to also provide for ventilation it also recommend the incorporation of through-frame 
window mounted trickle vents for all noise sensitive rooms within line of sight of Hollin Lane. It 
also recommends setting a maximum noise level of noise to be emitted by fixed mechanical 
plant in order to prevent any unacceptable harm caused to surrounding residents and future 
residents. The Council’s Environmental Health Department have raised no objections to the 
report and its recommendations, and the proposed development itself subject to conditions.

In the interests of the amenity of future occupants of the dwellings and in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Council’s Environmental Health Department it is therefore considered 
that conditions would be necessary to secure the detailed design of acoustic fencing (condition 
no. 22) and ventilation measures within the scheme where necessary, and securing approval 
of a verification report prior to occupation of the dwellings to ensure the measures as 
necessary had been implemented (condition (23), and set maximum noise limits emitted from 
fixed plant at the site (condition no. 21). Subject to these conditions, it is considered that the 
proposed development would in principle provide for a satisfactory level of amenity for future 
occupants and would not harm the amenity of the existing surrounding residents, and 
occupiers of surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, it is noted that again given the sites location on the edge of the urban 
area of Middleton with open fields to the north and the M62 a significant distance to the north it 
is not considered that the proposed dwellings would in principle be subject to concentrated 
levels of air pollutants. Furthermore, it is noted that the indicative masterplan has been 
designed to include significant landscaped buffers of tree planting and open space on all 
boundaries. 

An Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this application which 
concludes that the proposed development would have the potential to cause air quality 
impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the development and from 
road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. However, it concludes that 
subject to the implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the 
site, there would be no significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase, 
and that following the modelling of road vehicle exhaust emission from traffic associated with 



the residential development there would be no significant adverse impacts on sensitive 
receptors including surrounding residents and the adjacent school.

Therefore, with regards to the impact on surrounding residential properties and the adjacent St 
Anne’s Academy during the construction of the development, it is considered that subject to a 
condition securing the approval and implementation of a construction environmental 
management plan which will include the need for approval of the hours of construction, 
building, ground works and delivery, access routes and storage areas, approval of dust control 
measures as set out in section 5.1.3 of the AQA, there would be no over-riding disturbance to 
future occupants by way of noise and disturbance experienced during construction of the 
proposed development.

Given that the scheme is in outline with the detailed layout, design, and scale to be the subject 
of subsequent reserved matters applications, and that the layout of the site indicates the 
provision of a buffer to the, it is considered that subject to conditions securing the scheme of 
air quality attenuation measures, the proposed development would in principle provide for 
adequate levels of amenity for future occupants and not cause significant harm to surrounding 
residents and school users. 

Given the sites location on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, and 
roosting opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would not 
result in any significant harm to surrounding dwellings to the south, and to the character and 
openness of the rural area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring the 
submission and approval of a detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above it is considered that subject to the above conditions the 
proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and associated activity, 
would not cause any significant harm to the surrounding environment and its respective 
receptors by way of additional noise, reduced air quality and light pollution. The proposed 
development would therefore be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies G/EM/1, 
EM/2, EM/3 H/3 and BE/2, and the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere”.

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, which 
aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood zone 1 
is the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
o Peak flow control that for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the 

development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak 
greenfield runoff rate for the same event.

o Volume control that where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the 
runoff volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water 
body in the 1 in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield 
runoff volume for the same event.

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 



1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the 
application site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the 
application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and outline drainage 
strategy. 

It is noted that the proposed residential development would be sited on a relatively raised part 
of the surrounding landscape with the surrounding topography and levels sloping generally 
downwards to the north and west of the site across open fields. It is nevertheless noted that 
the proposed development would result in a substantial increase in the proportion of 
impermeable areas at the site, and result in significant additional foul water generation from 
the number of dwellings proposed. 

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. It notes that the site has not 
been subject to flooding from rivers, the sea, highways, sewers, reservoirs or canals. The 
submitted FRA recommends a surface water drainage strategy discharging surface water into 
the adjacent brook and incorporating attenuation methods including oversized pipes and flow 
control devices to limit the discharge rates so that they would not exceed the existing 
greenfield run off rates. The proposed strategy also proposes foul water connecting into the 
existing combined sewer running to the west of the application site.

The Council as Local Lead Flood Authority have agreed in principle to the approach to 
discharge surface water into the nearby brook, subject to conditions securing the detailed 
design, and agreement of discharge rates. It is also noted that United Utilities in their 
comments on the amended scheme have raised no objections subject to conditions ensuring 
that the foul and surface water drain on separate systems, with foul water being drained into 
the combined sewer and that surface water shall drain into the nearby watercourse and not 
the combined sewer network. The proposals to drain surface water into the nearby 
watercourse and ensure that the peak runoff rate, and the runoff volume to the brook and 
surface water body should mimic and not exceed the greenfield run off rates and volumes 
would be in accordance with the non-statutory standards issued by DEFRA in March 2015, 
and the approach set out in the NPPF and building regulations.

It is noted that the submitted FRA recommends that the scheme include the use of sustainable 
urban drainage system (SUDS) measures within the green landscaped corridors including 
swales and above ground basins. Indeed it is noted that there is sufficient space within site for 
the siting of replacement ponds to mitigate for the loss of existing ponds on site as shown on 
the outline drainage strategy. In addition, that these could be developed within the reserved 
matters applications into a comprehensive scheme for the landscape and wildlife buffer long 
the northern boundary to also incorporate sustainable urban drainage measures in addition to 
biodiversity and wildlife mitigation and enhancements.

A condition has therefore been recommended restricting the discharge of surface water into 
the nearby watercourse to not exceed greenfield run off rates and requiring that the foul and 
surface water drain on separate systems. A condition has also been recommended requiring 
the submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water drainage design to 
demonstrate how surface will be managed (including the control mechanisms to limit the rate 
of surface water runoff to greenfield levels, the provision of on-site water storage and flow 
control mechanisms) prior to the commencement of development in accordance with the 
request of United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority. 

Having regard to the above, it is noted that United Utilities, the Council as Local Lead Flood 
Authority has raised no objection to the proposed development subject to the above conditions 
which have been included in the recommendation. Therefore, it is considered that in principle 
adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development poses no 
unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with 



the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF.

Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of the above act 
similarly requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of any conservation area where relevant. Furthermore, the Court 
of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable importance and weight to 
the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when carrying out the balancing 
exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and 
enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with 
their conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
• When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require 
clear and convincing justification.

• Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 

equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the 
policies for designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the 
historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management 
publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in 
a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence 
(and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record 
evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be 
permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 

sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning permission 
will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such structures 
or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant effect on the site itself or 
its setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features in 
situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is of 
lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of features 
either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In such 
cases, the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper recording of 



archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a programme could be 
secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 obligation negotiated with the 
applicant. In all cases there should be a full and appropriate prior evaluation of the 
archaeological resource detailing its value, the likely impact of proposals and mitigation 
as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent 
to the application site. The site being bordered to the north and on the opposite side of Hollin 
lane by open fields, and to the south and east by, post-war education facilities and suburban 
housing and playing fields respectively. The nearest listed building comprises the Grade II* 
listed Hopwood Hall dating back to the 16th century and grade II listed Hopwood Hall Chapel, 
which are approximately 560 metres from the northeast corner of the site to the east. Given 
the intervening distance and the presence of the substantial amount of mature tree coverage 
at Hopwood Woods and ancient woodland, and the undulating topography, it is noted that the 
proposed development would not impact on the curtilage of the hall and chapel and nor would 
it be visible from these buildings, and nor would they be both visible within the same context 
and setting. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would impact on the 
setting of these heritage assets.

With regards to the presence of Conservation Areas it is noted that the Birch Village 
Conservation Area is located approximately 1 kilometre to the west of the application site and 
Middleton Town Centre Conservation Area is located approximately 900 metres to the south of 
the application site. However, given the intervening distance, the undulating topography of the 
open farmland, and the context of the conservation areas, it is considered that the proposed 
development would not cause any harm to the character and appearance or the significance 
of these conservation areas. 

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted that the 
application has been supported by an Archaeological desk based assessment that includes a 
review of the evidence contained within the historic environment record for Greater 
Manchester. However, it is noted from comments of the Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Advisory Service (GMAAS) that given the sites location, the surrounding topography, and 
close proximity to watercourses the site offers potential for records of archaeological interest 
to be found of earlier periods prior to those that are contained within the historical environment 
record. In accordance with the recommendations of the GMAAS and in order to ensure that 
due record and understanding of any archaeological remains is undertaken in accordance with 
paragraph 141 of the NPPF, a condition has been recommended requiring that an appropriate 
written scheme of investigation (WSI).

Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to conditions, it is considered that the 
proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan would preserve the setting of 
surrounding heritage assets and that sufficient measures would be in place to ensure that the 
importance of potential archaeologically significant assets are recorded and advanced. The 
proposed outline scheme is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, BE15, BE17 of 
the UDP and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:
o the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 

instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 



or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 
o after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 

contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and
o adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect 
that land which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, 
the Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed 
remedial treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in 
accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields 
leftover for pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 
environmental assessment report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk of 
contamination. It also does not predict that there would be any significant sub surface 
obstructions and structure, and although a former mine shaft is reported off-site considers that 
further investigation and if necessary imposition of a no-build zone in its vicinity would ensure 
there would be no risk and the development could take place. As a result, it is noted that there 
are no risks that in principle would prevent the site from being used for residential purposes, 
and the report recommends that to allow for a full assessment that further detailed intrusive 
site investigation and analysis be undertaken. 

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any ground based contamination, 
land stability issues which may exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by 
the imposition of a condition requiring the submission and approval of further detailed site 
investigations and sampling and where necessary the implementation of any appropriate 
remediation measures required before development takes place.

Therefore, subject to a condition securing the submission and approval of an intrusive site 
investigation report and risk assessment, and the approval and subsequent implementation of 
a scheme of remediation works and enabling ground works, it is considered that the proposed 
site would be suitable for the proposed residential development and the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF would be met.

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 



2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents a 
material change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning permission 
on the site.

Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2016, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard 
or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement, 
concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, 
details of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of 
travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be 
brought forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to date 
Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical standards are optional 
and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this should preferentially be 
through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy refers to a Code which 
has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered most appropriate that the 
sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the Building Regulations. 

Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards 
affordable housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with 
UDP policies H/6 and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: Provision 
of Recreational Open Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is important again to 
note that policies in the NPPF and legislation introduced subsequent to the adoption of the 
UDP and SPDs can take precedence. Although limited weight can be afforded to the Core 
Strategy, it is noted that the emerging policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also seek to ensure the 
impact of development is mitigated and that development contributes to physical and social 
infrastructure requirements.  

In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following 
three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being 
collected by an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of 
infrastructure, once five or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 
106 obligations made on or after 6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a 
kind which could be the subject of a community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to 



tariff style contributions (with the exception of affordable housing).  As the Council has entered 
into more than five obligations towards recreational open space, no further contributions can 
be pooled to this type of general infrastructure provision.  The object of the regulations is to 
encourage Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a CIL instead of imposing 
requirements for contributions through section 106 obligations, however it has been 
acknowledged that the pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of infrastructure.  
Contributions may therefore be sought to specific infrastructure projects if they meet the three 
tests above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development 
requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  Therefore, 
the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  To 
ensure viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as requirements 
for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, 
when taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive 
returns to a willing land owner and a willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable. As this application is in outline form, any detailed assessment of viability would 
occur at reserved matters stage once the precise number and nature of dwellings to be 
delivered is identified. It is clear that there will be a need to ensure that contribution 
requirements do not undermine viability and deliverability, having regard to site specific 
requirements and a need to ensure the impacts of the development are adequately mitigated.

Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they meet the 
three tests) are outlined below:

Education Provision:

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF requires that Local Planning Authorities plan positively for the 
provision of facilities and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments. Paragraph 72 also states that great weight should be given to the 
need to create, expand or alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the 
demand for additional school places created by such developments. In this instance, it is 
noted that the proposed residential development of 205 dwellings of a mix of 2, 3, 4 and 5 
bedroom dwellings would generate additional demand for primary and secondary school 
places within the local area. As set out above, due to the lack of capacity in the existing 
primary and secondary schools, the Council as Local Education Authority have requested that 
by way of financial contributions the proposed development mitigates for this additional 
demand for by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing additional 
education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is considered 
that the provision of such additional education facilities would be necessary in order to provide 
for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of sustainable development 
running through the NPPF. 

As set out earlier in this report, it is also noted that the option provided in application reference 
15/01195/OUT is also being considered by Committee to provide land for a school on a nearby 
site off Langley Lane (resubmission of 14/00851/OUT). The potential provision of the school 
land is a matter to be considered under that planning application and it cannot be afforded 
weight in the determination of this particular application.  

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic 



need funding (BNF) per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary).  Based on these figures and the maximum number of 
dwellings, the primary education contribution would be £631,400.51 (pupil yield of 51.25 (205 
x 0.25) = 51.25) multiplied by the basic need funding of £12,320.01). The secondary education 
contribution would be £315,700.20 (pupil yield of 20.5 pupil places (205 x 0.1) multiplied by the 
basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions would provide additional school places in 
Middleton Township. 

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to 
proceed and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at 
reserved matters stage and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the number 
of units in each phase, the BSF pupil yield and the BNF.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

It is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces 
and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health 
and well-being of communities.

In this regard, the site provides for a significant amount of on-site open space which would 
provide for a variety of informal recreational activities and would also provide an open 
landscaped buffer to the open fields beyond. The detailed layout of this will be subject to 
detailed design within future reserved matters applications. However, with regards to its future 
maintenance and management, it is intended that a landscape open space implementation 
and management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.

With regards to formal children’s play facilities, in this instance it is noted that the proposed 
outline scheme includes the provision of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) within the 
area of public open space. In order to secure the approval, implementation and ongoing 
management of this area, it is considered that a clause within a section 106 Agreement 
requiring this would be necessary
 
With regards to mitigating for and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreations needs 
generated by the 205 new homes and in line with the comments of Sport England, the 
applicant has agreed to enter into a s106 agreement to provide developer contributions 
towards formal outdoor sports facilities.  This would be secured and maintained in perpetuity 
by way of a clause within the Section 106 Agreement.

In terms of formal outdoor sports facilities, it is proposed that a contribution of up to 
£190,477.80 be secured by way of a section 106 agreement towards the provision of improved 
outdoor sports facilities and playing pitches at Bowlee Playing Fields to the southwest of the 
application site. It is proposed that these would be calculated using the figures provided by 
Sport England within their Sports Facility Calculator. This would be equivalent of £929.16 per 
dwelling or £386.86 per person derived from current Sport England Sports Facility Calculator 
figures (Sport England correspondence dated 30th June 2015). Utilising the Sport England 
formula, the following financial contributions would be applicable:

• £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 205 x £929.16 = £190,477.80; or 
• £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (205 x 2.4) = 492 x £386.86 = £190,355.12.

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development by 
providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports 
facilities.  The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure it 
is directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with the 



CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in accordance 
with a formula within the s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased manner in 
accordance with the NPPF.  

With regards to more informal outdoor recreational provision, it is proposed that through a 
Section 106 Agreement financial contributions would be secured towards implementing a 
series of improvements to Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve to provide improved access and 
recreational value whilst also safeguarding its ecological importance. Given the number of 
dwellings proposed and the proximity of the application site to the Hopwood Woods Nature 
Reserve Station, and the recommendations of GMEU, it is considered that the above financial 
contribution would accord with the CIL regulations and the criteria set out in paragraph 204 of 
the NPPF.

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. This is also taken forward by policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging core strategy. 

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 
housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 
affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD.

Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

As discussed in earlier sections of this report, a s106 agreement and a s278 Highway Act 
agreement will be entered into to secure a series of on and off-site highway works to ensure 
necessary improvements and alterations are undertaken on the local highway network in 
accordance with paragraph 204 of the NPPF. These are also necessary to ensure the site 
provides suitable facilities for pedestrians and cyclists and provides access to the bus network 
to encourage the take up of sustainable transport modes.  

The following measures would be secured through s278 agreement:
1. Junction improvements incorporating the widening of the eastbound carriageway 

of Langley Lane at its junction with Hollin Lane to create separate lanes for 
vehicles turning northbound and southbound on Hollin Lane;

2. Provision of pedestrian crossing facilities on Hollin Lane;
3. Traffic calming – additional road signing, markings and traffic calming measures to 

provide right turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in order 
to calm traffic speeds along Hollin Lane, including any necessary TRO.



The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:
a) The provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane, one northbound and one 

southbound (£20,000);
b) A financial contribution of Ј23,137.70 towards cycle lane improvements comprising 

new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction 
with Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

It is considered that the above comprise mitigation directly related in scale and kind to the 
development and necessary for the development to proceed in accordance with the CIL 
regulations.  

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open 
land are out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning 
application. Taking account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the 
recalculated RSS target, the Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The NPPF must therefore be afforded significant weight in the determination of 
this application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the 
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole; or where specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

Whilst the application is one of three involved in the development of adjacent parcels of land in 
Middleton and consideration should be afforded to the cumulative impacts of all three 
developments, each application must be considered on its merits. 

In assessing the principle of the development, it is clear that there are no specific policies in 
the NPPF that indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that previous 
appeals in the Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing have been 
allowed in the context of the need to boost significantly the supply of housing within the 
Borough for the reasons set out within the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that such land 
was originally safeguarded to meet future development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted 
for examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this 
suggests that a higher housing requirement is needed for the Borough. Furthermore, going 
forward the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of 
new housing against any planned target given the fact that a significant number of further 
dwellings are proposed to be demolished as part of the continued regeneration of existing 
housing areas. To ensure there is no ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions 
will need to be matched by an equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing 
completions. The evidence demonstrates that significant weight must therefore be afforded to 
the benefits of the scheme in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the 
Borough.  

As with the previous application, subject to appropriate mitigation, the impact of the 
development in respect of protected and priority species, nature conservation, the amenity of 
existing and future occupants, Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve, Glade and Oaken Bank 
Woods SBI, archaeological assets, surface water, drainage and contamination, would be 
acceptable.

Since the refusal of the previous application, the safety audit undertaken by the Council and 



the revised highway works proposed by the applicant demonstrate that the proposed access 
arrangements would be acceptable in respect of highway and pedestrian safety. In addition, 
the revised Transport Assessment submitted by the applicant demonstrates that the 
cumulative impact of this development in addition to the development of up to 88 dwellings on 
the adjacent site to the east and up to 150 dwellings and a primary school on Langley Lane, 
would result in only one junction operating at capacity in the PM peak. 

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF is clear that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. On the 
basis of the evidence submitted, the residual cumulative impacts in relation to the capacity of 
the highway network and the access arrangements of this proposal would not be severe and 
refusal on these grounds could not be substantiated on appeal.  

In addition, the applicant has agreed to provide developer contributions to mitigate the 
demand for primary and secondary school places, increased footfall to Hopwood Woods 
Nature Reserve and formal sports facilities associated with the development. The Local 
Education Authority has again raised no objection and Sport England offers its support subject 
to these contributions and as such, a refusal on this ground could not be substantiated on 
appeal. The total contribution to infrastructure provision is £1,190,716.21 (excluding the 
highway and transport mitigation). 

In terms of benefits, the proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to meet 
housing needs adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable 
location and would contribute to the provision of affordable housing in the Borough.  
Biodiversity enhancements would be secured and economic and social benefits would arise 
through direct capital investment; additional spending of household income on local services 
and facilities; the creation of direct and indirect jobs throughout construction and through the 
longer term additional spend of households within the local area; pedestrian crossing 
improvements on Hollin Lane; and the delivery of cycle lane provision and related 
improvements between the site and Middleton Town Centre. 

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land 
valued by the local community in providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban fringe. 
It is recognised that the proposal would result in the loss of agricultural land, including that 
partly classified as the best and most versatile land. Recognising that there is a third 
application on adjoining land that remains undetermined at the present time, it is also 
accepted that the cumulative impact of all three developments would result in one junction 
operating at capacity in the PM peak, however the residual cumulative impacts would not be 
severe.  In addition, the cumulative impact does not arise with only two of the proposed 
developments. The harm that would arise would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits of the proposal, which is the test of national policy. As such, there are no 
sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission.

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it is 
considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission 
should be granted subject to appropriate legal agreements and the conditions recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission 
subject to the completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure the following: 

• The provision of affordable housing scheme to deliver on site and/or an off-site 
contribution in lieu of on-site provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy 
H/7 and its associated SPD: Affordable Housing.



• A financial contribution towards the provision of primary schools places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.25 per dwelling) multiplied 
by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently £631,400.51 but the final 
calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time);

• A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1 per dwelling) multiplied 
by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently £315,700.20 but the final 
calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time);

• A financial contribution of Ј23,137.70 towards cycle lane improvements comprising 
new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with 
Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

• A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities at 
Bowlee Playing Fields (currently up to £190,477.80 but the final calculation shall be 
based on the Sport England multipliers in place at the relevant time);

• A financial contribution not exceeding £30,000 towards the provision of improvements 
at Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve;

• A financial contribution of £20,000 for the provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane; 
• A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP); and
• A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 

management of the landscape open space within the site.

That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
above and subject to the following conditions:-

1 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the development must be 
begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the date of this permission; or 
(ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004

2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the following 
matters before the development is commenced:- the layout of the development, the 
means of access to it, the scale and external appearance of the buildings and the 
landscaping of the site.

Reason: The application is outline only under the provisions of Article 5 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: The details of the matters referred to in the 
condition have not been submitted for consideration or were submitted for illustrative 
purposes only. 

3 The total number of residential units included in any application(s) for reserved matters 
pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall be limited to a site maximum of 205 
dwellings and the development shall substantially accord with the following plans:

- Site Location Plan - drg no. 448B-34;
- Land at Hollin Lane, Parameters Plan - drg no.448B.51C;
- Land at Hollin Lane, Indicative Layout - drg no.448B.48E;
- Hollin Lane Masterplan Area - Middleton, Indicative Layout (Option 1 without 

primary school) - drg no. 448B.58A;



Reason: The layout of the proposed development incorporates a number of key 
parameters that will guide the detailed reserved matters applications in the interests of 
mitigating the impacts of the development on the surrounding environment, and 
provide for an acceptable scale and layout of development and high quality 
environment, in accordance with policies BE/2, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan.

4 No development shall take place until a phasing plan, which shall include the access 
arrangements for each phase and a specified number of dwellings for each phase 
relative to a site maximum of 205 dwellings, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved phasing plan.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision of 
infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details were 
submitted as part of the application.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning and the 
comprehensive development of the site.

5 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of the vehicular 
accesses onto Hollin Lane, to accord with the approved plan (Hollin Lane access and 
new junction as shown on approved drawing no. ITM6195-GA-010, Proposed Access to 
Hollin Lane Site), and to include construction specification drawings showing existing 
and proposed levels relative to off-site datum, drainage strategy, lighting and materials 
of the access road, and where necessary measures to restrict access, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The vehicular 
access shall be completed in accordance with the approved scheme and maintained as 
such thereafter.  

Reason: In order to provide safe, secure access to the development in the interests of 
public safety, and ensure continued function of the surrounding highway network, in 
accordance with policy A/9 of Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure safe access onto the highway of 
Hollin Lane during construction and operation of the development.  

6 No development shall take place until a scheme for the on and off-site highway works, 
to include timescales for implementation, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved scheme.  

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and to ensure adequate provision of infrastructure to serve each of 
the phases in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and the safety of other 
users of the highway and rights of way networks in accordance with Polices BE/2 and 
A9 of the Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure safe access onto the highway of 
Hollin Lane during construction and operation of the development and in the interests 
of the integrity of the rights of way networks.    



7 No above ground works shall take place within each phase until, details of the finished 
floor and external site levels of the dwellings in that phase relative to off-site datum, 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained 
thereafter.

Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between surrounding buildings 
and to ensure that the development would not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2, 
EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure appropriate consideration of site 
and finished floor levels relative to natural ground levels before works take place. 

8 The reserved matter(s) applications pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall 
demonstrate the connectivity between the site and the network of public rights of way in 
the vicinity of the site and shall include full details of the proposed crossing of Stott Lane 
and associated measures to restrict access.

Reason: In the interests of proper planning and the comprehensive development of 
area and in the integrity of the rights of way in accordance with Policies A/3, A/4, A/5, 
A9, A/13 and A/14 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment has been 
undertaken by competent persons to assess the nature and extent of any contamination 
on the site (whether or not it originates on the site and in addition to any assessment 
provided with the planning application) and a written report of its findings submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The report shall include:
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

• human health;
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock;
• pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes;
• adjoining land;
• groundwaters and surface waters;
• ecological systems;
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

(iii) where contamination is identified, an appraisal of remedial options, a proposal 
of the preferred option(s) and a timetable for remedial works

Remedial works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved report and 
timetable and a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings within each 
phase.  

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation 
strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination 
shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the local planning authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 



development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to contaminated ground on 
commencement. 

10 The first submission of reserved matters pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall 
be accompanied by a comprehensive scheme for the disposal of foul and surface 
waters from the entire development site. The surface water drainage scheme shall be 
based on sustainable drainage principles, shall provide for the total surface water run-
off rate to be limited to not exceed greenfield run off rates in all events and shall 
incorporate adequate on site attenuation storage. The submitted scheme shall include:

(i) Foul and surface water drained on separate systems;
(ii) Details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the 

rate set at Qbar if no infiltration is provided
(iii) Details of exceedence event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change 

allowance
(iv) Where it is proposed to provide a drainage outfall into any watercourse that 

feeds the Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI an appropriate ecological 
assessment of the implications of the proposed outfall works, and the impacts 
of the operation and flows from the outfall.

(v) A timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan 
for the lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for 
adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in 
accordance with the management and maintenance plan.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to 
ensure that surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) 
levels in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, 
Land at Hollin Lane, Middleton (prepared by ironside Farrar Limited, dated 24th June 
2014) and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface and foul water from the site in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works to form the means of drainage.  

11 No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP 
shall include details of the following: 

(i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; 
(ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
(iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
(v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; 
(vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction as set out 

in the approved Air Quality Assessment, Land at Hollin lane, Middleton 
prepared by REC, reference 33821-1R4, dated 8th July 2014; and (viii) a 
scheme for managing and the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works in accordance with the approved Waste Management Plan, 



Hollin Lane, Middleton, prepared by REC, reference 45641_2AP1R0, dated 
June 2014.

The duly approved CMP shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring dwellings during the construction of the development in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure the construction process is 
managed from commencement and measures put in place to protect the amenity of 
nearby residents and highway safety prior to commencement of any building or 
engineering works on site.

12 Notwithstanding any information provided as part of the application and within three 
months of development first taking place, a Travel Plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall contain 
measures for promoting a choice of transport modes and a monitoring regime with 
agreed mode share targets. In addition the Travel Plan shall set out the monitoring 
procedures and mechanisms that are to be put in place to ensure that it remains 
effective and shall be reviewed within a framework approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The initiatives contained in the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented 
before the first occupation of the dwellings unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall continue to be implemented thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel by 
sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Unitary 
Development Plan policy A/12 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

13 No development shall take place within each phase of the development hereby 
permitted until a scheme of Biodiversity Enhancement and Mitigation Measures to be 
provided within that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). 
The scheme shall include: (i) full details of those enhancement measures to be provided 
within that phase, which shall include those measures set out in section 6 of the 
Ecological Assessment ‘land at Hollin Lane, Middleton’ prepared by The Environment 
Partnership (TEP) dated 04-07-2014; and (ii) timescales for their implementation. 

The development within that phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with 
the scheme and implemented in accordance with the approved timescales. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To protect existing landscape features from 
commencement and to secure biodiversity enhancement. 

14 No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The CEMP shall include details of measures to be taken to protect the special nature 
conservation interest of the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve during construction and 
details of measures to ensure the protection of protected species including bats on the 
site in accordance with the recommendations of the approved Ecological Assessment, 



‘Land at Hollin Lane Middleton’, prepared by The Environment Partnership, dated 4th 
July 2014. Development of the site shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
approved CEMP.

Reason: In order to ensure the development protects nature conservation interests 
during the construction period in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure these protections are in place on 
commencement. 

15 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby approved shall 
take place until, a Habitat and Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for all landscaped 
areas of the site (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The HLMP shall include: (i) 
protection measures for all retained trees, waterbodies and greenspace during the 
course of development; (ii) long term design objectives; (iii) management 
responsibilities; (iv) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its implementation. 
The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the duly approved 
details and timetable contained therein.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

16 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall 
take place until a detailed lighting scheme for any external lighting to be installed within 
all highways, footpaths, public open spaces and landscape buffer zones on all 
boundaries of the site within that phase, including during the construction period, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details 
shall include the position and height of means of lighting on the building or site and its 
luminance, angle of installation and any hoods to be fixed to the lights.  Only lighting as 
approved shall be installed on the site in accordance with the terms of any such 
approval.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation 
status of protected species and in the interests of residential amenity in accordance 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/4 and NE/4 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation 
status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

17 No site works shall take place within each phase of the development until the land 
within that phase and within 30m of the site boundaries, has been surveyed to confirm 
the continued absence of badgers and badger setts and the results shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority together with proposals for 
mitigation if required. The development shall be carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved survey(s).

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation 
status of badgers in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: To protect any badgers that may be present 
on the land at the time of commencement of development within each phase. 

18 No site works shall take place until Great Crested Newt surveys of all ponds within 
250m of the site have been undertaken and the results submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Greater Manchester Ecology 
Unit (GMEU). Development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved surveys and any recommended mitigation measures. 

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation 
status of Great Crested Newts in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policy NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To establish the presence or otherwise of 
Great Crested Newts and to ensure any necessary avoidance measures are in place 
before any site works take place.

19 No site works shall take place within each phase of the development hereby permitted 
until a Reasonable Avoidance Method Statement for Great Crested Newts for that 
phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the statement and any approved measures.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation 
status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policy NE/4, the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

Reason for pre-commencement condition: There is a risk to protected species on 
commencement. 

20 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of development 
shall take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) unless an 
ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird nesting. Should the 
survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no sit works, including 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for protecting nest 
sites during the course of the development has been agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. Nest site protection shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved methodology.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

21 No site works shall take place until a scheme of tree and hedgerow protection 
measures in accordance with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition 
and Construction’ incorporating both above and below ground measures to be 
implemented during the construction period has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out 
in strict accordance with the protection measures contained within the duly approved 
scheme throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 



safeguard the health of trees and hedgerows within the site in the interests of the 
amenity of the area, and that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies NE/4 and NE/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to features of ecological importance on 
commencement of engineering works on site.  

22 No site works shall take place until a detailed method statement for the removal or long-
term management/eradication of Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam on the 
site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement. 
The method statement shall include measures to prevent the spread of Japanese 
Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam during any operations such as mowing, strimming or 
soil movement, and measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the 
seeds/roots/stems of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species 
which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to be caused to be spread in the wild Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3. 

Reason for pre-commencement condition: Construction activity increases the risk of 
invasive species spreading. 
 

23 No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or their successors in 
title have secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works. The 
programme of archaeological works should be undertaken in accordance with a Written 
Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The WSI shall cover the following: 

(i) A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to 
include;
• geophysical evaluation 
• evaluation trenching; targeting geophysical anomalies, including targeted 

evaluation trenching of buildings identified in the desk-based assessment 
and providing an adequate spatial sample of the development site

• (depending upon the results of the evaluation) area excavation and 
recording

(ii) A programme for post investigation assessment to include: 
• analysis of the site investigation records and findings 
• production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological, 

architectural and historical interest represented. 
(iii) Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the 

site investigation;
(iv) Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 

investigation;
(v) Nomination of a competent person or persons/ organisation to undertake the 

works set out within the approved WSI.

Reason: In order to protect and preserve the archaeological and historical significance 
of potential below ground heritage assets in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: There is a risk of disturbance to below 
ground features of archaeological importance on commencement. 

24 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, the reserved matters applications for 
each phase of the development hereby approved shall be supported by an 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) for 
that phase. For the avoidance of doubt, these shall demonstrate that the mature oak 
tree on Stott Lane is retained. The statement shall be carried out in accordance with in 
accordance with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction. Any approved mitigation or protection measures for trees and shrubs to 
be retained shall be put into place prior to and remain in place during any construction 
work for any phase.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to safeguard 
the health of trees located within the site and in close proximity to the proposed 
development in order to preserve their amenity value and the character of the area in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies NE/8 and BE/2 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

25 The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut and 
other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 hour) 
in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided at 
all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms.

Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling hereby approved, a verification report shall 
have been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
confirming that the approved ventilation and acoustic measures have been 
implemented and achieve the specified noise levels. 

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the policies within the NPPF.

26 No above ground works shall take place within each phase adjacent to Hollin Lane until 
a scheme for the provision of acoustic fencing to be installed to those dwellings along 
the western boundary of the site in accordance with the Noise Impact Assessment, 
Land at Hollin Lane report, REC Reference 90506R1-1, prepared by REC and dated 
25th June 2014, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include details of the height, materials, design and siting of 
the fencing. The scheme shall be installed in accordance with the approved details 
before any dwelling within that phase is first brought into use and it shall be retained 
thereafter. 

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the policies within the NPPF.

27 No development (other than the hereby approved access to Hollin Lane) shall take 
place to construct the internal estate roads within each relevant phase of the 
development until a scheme for the temporary and permanent crossing of the public 
right of way along Stott Lane affected by this phase of the development, has been 



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Scheme shall 
include: (i)  plans showing the existing and proposed diverted/amended routes of the 
public rights of way as necessary: (ii) details of the design and materials and details of 
any temporary or permanent road crossings where necessary. The route across Stott 
Lane shall not be brought into use until the scheme has been carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and retained as such in perpetuity. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and public access prevent obstruction to 
pedestrian, cycle and vehicular routes in accordance with Unitary Development Plan 
policies A/2, A/3 and A/13 and the policies within the NPPF.

28 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development hereby 
approved, shall be accompanied by a 'Crime Impact Statement’' (CIS) for that phase 
which shall examine all aspects of site security including where necessary, car parking, 
pedestrian footways, entrances, internal layout and external security measures. 
Development of that phase shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CIS 
and any approved site security measures shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is appropriately secured from crime in 
the interests of providing a safe, secure and accessible community in accordance with 
policies G/BE/1, BE/2, of the Unitary Development Plan and the policies within the 
NPPF.

29 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development hereby 
approved shall include a Design and Access Statement demonstrating how that phase 
complies with the approved ‘Hollin Lane, Middleton Design and Access Statement (7 
July 2014). The Design Statement shall include details of the design process 
undertaken; justification for the design approach and architectural styles adopted; the 
core design principles guiding development of that phase and how the phase relates to 
the design objectives and principles, and the overall framework masterplan within the 
approved ‘Land at Hollin Lane Parameters Plan, drwg no. 448B.51C. The statement 
shall include details of how the detailed layout connects into the existing and planned 
surrounding network of routes including roads, footpaths, bridleways and rights of way, 
in particular including the right of way immediately to the east of the site and any 
planned development on the adjacent site.

Reason: In order to secure a high quality form of development and ensure a 
sympathetic relationship with the sites context, its surroundings and adjacent buildings 
and townscape and landscape features in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies G/BE/1, BE/2, and the National Planning Policy Framework.

30 The submission of reserved matters applications shall include detailed landscaping 
plans for the landscape open space and green corridors to be provided within the site. 
The landscaping plans shall follow the principles set out in the approved parameters 
plan (Land at Hollin Lane Parameters Plan, 448B.51C) and ecological assessment 
(Land at Hollin Lane, TEP dated 04-07-2014) and shall show the detailed layout of the 
replacement habitats to be provided including hedgerows, tree planting, ponds and 
grassy marshland. Such a scheme shall include details of the type, species, siting, 
planting distances and the programme of planting of trees and shrubs; the siting, 
dimensions, and depth of ponds; and the timescales for completion. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and timescales. 
Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously 
diseased within three years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar 
size and species to those originally required to be planted. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision of replacement habitats and landscape 



features of ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

31 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development hereby 
approved shall be accompanied by details of measures to be incorporated into the 
development for the management of household waste during the operation of the 
development hereby approved. This strategy shall be developed in accordance with the 
principles and objectives within the approved Operational Waste Strategy, Hollin Lane, 
Middleton, prepared by REC, reference 45641_2BP1R1, dated June 2014. 

Reason: In order to secure the provision of appropriate measures for the storage, 
management and recycling/disposal of waste on the site during the lifetime of the 
development hereby approved, and in the interests of highway safety and the character 
and appearance of the site and surrounding area, in accordance with the requirements 
of Unitary Development Plan policies A/7, G/BE/1, BE/2, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

32 No development shall take place until a Local Labour Agreement (LLA) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The LLA shall 
include measures to secure an agreed percentage of local labour to be employed 
throughout the construction phase of the development hereby approved. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved LLA.

Reason: To secure local economic benefits in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy C7 of the emerging Rochdale Core Strategy.  

Reason for pre-commencement condition: To maximise the potential for local 
employment, apprenticeships and training. 

Report Author Alison Truman

___________________________________________________



Application Number: 15/01195/OUT    Ward: West Middleton      

Proposal: Outline application (including access) for up to 150 dwellings (Use Class 
C3), potential primary school site with associated landscaping, open space, access 
arrangements and car parking provision (Resbumission of 14/00851/OUT)

Site Address: Land Off Langley Lane Middleton    

Applicant: Ms Kate McClean
                  Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

Application reference 14/00851/OUT was previously considered by the Council’s Planning and 
Licensing Committee at its meeting on 21 September 2015, where the Committee resolved to 
refuse the application. The application has been resubmitted with revised information in an 
attempt to overcome the Council’s reasons for refusal. The application is therefore before the 
Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee for comments before referral to the Council’s 
Planning and Licensing Committee for determination.  

SITE

The application relates to a circa 5.81 hectare area of agricultural land located immediately to 
the north of Langley Lane, which currently forms the urban boundary of Middleton.  The area to 



the south of the site on the opposite side of Langley Lane is located within the defined urban 
area of Middleton. The existing housing on the southern side of Langley Lane forms a 
combination of post-war detached, semi-detached and terraced housing built to a moderate 
density in the area known as Langley. Willows Park, Bowlee Community Park, Bowlee 
Community Primary School and Bowlee Playing Fields are located to the south and southwest 
of the site interspersed within the residential area. St Anne’s Academy complex is located 
further to the east of the site off Hollin Lane and there are a collection of commercial and retail 
premises along Hollin Lane and at its junction with Langley Lane to the east of the application 
site. 

The site is located within an area designated as Protected Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map running between the defined urban area of Middleton 
immediately to the south defined by Langley Lane and open fields and the Green Belt to the 
north. Adjoining land flanking the northern and western boundaries lies within the Green Belt, 
with the farm complexes and open fields to the east also falling within an adjoining area of 
Protected Open Land. 

The site forms undulating land separated into two fields by a combination of hedgerows and 
trees. The southern frontage of the site onto Langley Lane comprises timber post and rail 
fencing.  The north, east and western boundaries of the site comprise fragmented clusters of 
trees and shrubs. The undulating topography provides a number of linear valleys and crests 
across the site, with the ground level generally rising slightly into the site in a northerly direction 
from Langley Lane with land levels on the site and in the surrounding area sloping downwards 
in a western and north western direction. The sloping ground levels result in a difference of up 
to 18 metres from the eastern boundary to the lowest point in the north western corner of the 
site.

Surrounding land uses include open farmland, a cluster of agricultural buildings at Langley 
Farm located partially within the Green Belt to the west; a large expanse of open farmland on 
lower lying ground to the north. A butchers and short row of dwelling houses are located to the 
east of the site, with Dingle Farm and the Close Road Farm complex of barns and agricultural 
buildings located to the rear and adjacent to the eastern boundary of the application site.  
Open fields laid to pasture are also located to the east of the site (also falling within the 
designation of Protected Open Land). 

A public right of way (Mid Rupp 114) runs immediately to the east of the site running along the 
eastern boundary of the site. A network of public rights of way also run to the north and west 
of the site largely along field boundaries including nos. MidFp 115; MidFp111; MidFp112; 
MidFp 113 linking into Heywood Old Road to the north west.

PROPOSAL

The application is a resubmission of planning application 14/00851/OUT and seeks outline 
planning permission for a development of up to 150 dwellings, a potential primary school, 
associated open space, landscaping, parking and access. The application includes two 
options for the development of the site: option 1 would provide up to 150 dwellings; option 2 
would provide up to 127 dwellings and land within the application site for a potential one form 
entry primary school. 

The application seeks approval of access only, with layout, scale and external appearance of 
the buildings being reserved for a later stage, along with the landscaping of the site. The 
matter of access is defined in the Development Management Procedure Order 2015 to mean 
“the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the 
positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network.” 



The revised application includes a Revised Transport Assessment and this takes into account 
the safety audit of the proposed highway works undertaken since the refusal of the previous 
application. 

Within both options 1 and 2, the principal access to the site is proposed to be taken from the 
north side of Langley Lane between its junctions with Derwent Road and Braithwaite Road 
directly opposite no’s 97 and 99 Langley Lane. The site access would form a bell-mouth 
junction with Langley Lane, with give way ground markings and a curved kerb radius achieving 
visibility splays of 2.4 metres x 58 metres (westbound) and 2.4 metres x 59.9 metres 
(eastbound) with Langley Lane with a right turn filter lane for vehicles approaching the site 
from the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane. The access (achieving a maximum width of 
26 metres at its junction with Langley Lane) would merge into a 5.5 metre wide estate road 
flanked by two metre wide footways running into the site. 

Option 2 includes a secondary access point off Langley Lane towards the eastern part of the 
application site, to the west of the junction with Wythburn Road and opposite nos. 55 to 61 
Langley Lane.  The secondary access would serve the school and a limited number of 
dwellings. This access would provide 2.4 metre by 60 metre visibility splay eastbound and 2.4 
metre by 58 metre visibility splay westwards. Under option 1 (without a primary school) this 
secondary access would form a surfaced pedestrian route to provide vehicular access in case 
of emergency only.  

Indicative layout plans for both options 1 and 2 show the potential layout of the buildings and 
open spaces within the site. A parameters plan showing indicative building heights has also 
been submitted and shows the principal building locations within the site running east to west 
across the site frontage with Langley Lane to the south. The proposed dwellings would largely 
be two storeys in height with two central points in each half of the site where heights would 
rise to 2.5 storeys. As only access is sought by this application, the layouts and parameters 
plan are for illustrative purposes only.  For both options 1 and 2, the principal estate road runs 
northwards into the application site before turning eastwards and running through the centre of 
the site and providing access on to a number of secondary estate roads and cul-de-sacs 
arranged in a series of blocks.

It is indicated that the proposed development would provide a range of two bedroom dwellings 
(comprising between 5-20% of the total dwellings) three bedroom dwellings (comprising 
between 40 – 55%) four bedroom dwellings (comprising between 20-40%) and five bedroom 
dwellings (comprising between 0-10%).

The submitted parameters plan that would guide future detailed proposals for the site also 
indicates:
 The provision of green corridors comprising a combination of landscaping and public 

open space to all the perimeters of the site, including a linear open space buffer 
alongside the northern boundary where the site adjoins the Green Belt.

 The provision of landscaped open space along the eastern boundary incorporating a 
Locally Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) to include either landscaped open space up to 
the junction with Langley Lane  (option 1) or school playing fields (option 2).  

 A landscaped buffer along the western boundary of the site.
 A primary combined cycle and footpath link providing a continuous route from Langley 

Lane at the eastern end of the site through the application site and residential areas, 
linking into the linear landscaped open space before running southwards back through 
the residential area onto Langley Lane towards the western end of the site.

 Proposed footpaths linking into the adjacent public right of way along the eastern 
boundary of the site.

The application proposes a scheme of off-site highways works comprising the following:
• Improvements to the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane comprising the forming 



of a separate right and left turning lane along Langley Lane for eastbound traffic 
turning on to Hollin Lane;

• The provision of a right turn lane on Langley Lane at the entrance to the site;
• A new traffic island along Langley Lane to the east of the application site to link into the 

adjacent public right of way (MidRupp114) in order to assist pedestrians crossing 
Langley Lane to provide improved pedestrian crossing facilities from the site into the 
adjacent residential area; 

• Kerb build out to create pedestrian crossing point to the west of the proposed 
emergency/school access;

• Parking bays created in front of existing properties on Langley Lane; and
• Additional road signage, road markings and traffic calming measures along Langley 

Lane including 2no. 30 mph roundels either side of the site access to denote the 
gateway into the site in order clam traffic speeds along Langley Lane.

In addition to the above, the application includes the following to be secured through the 
completion of a section 106 planning obligation:

• The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its associated 
SPD: Affordable Housing;

• A financial contribution towards provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £462,003.75 for up to 150 dwellings);

• A financial contribution towards provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township (current calculation of £231,000.15 for up to 150 dwellings);

• A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities 
at Bowlee Playing Fields (current calculation of up to £139,374);

• Provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane, one northbound and one southbound or 
improvements to existing bus stops on Langley Lane (£20,000);

• A financial contribution of Ј16,930.02 towards the provision of cycle lane improvements 
comprising new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its 
junction with Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

• A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP); and

• A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 
management of the open space within the site.

Taylor Wimpey has also confirmed their commitment to providing appropriate training, 
apprenticeships and local labour as part of the development proposals.

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application forms part of a wider framework masterplan submitted by the applicant (the 
‘Hollin Lane Masterplan Area’) which comprises two further parcels of land to the east of this 
site. One parcel comprises land on the eastern side of Hollin Lane, which is the subject of a 
resubmitted planning application, reference 15/01183/OUT for the erection of up to 205 
dwellings, and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car parking 
(resubmission of 14/00849/OUT). That application has been submitted by the same applicant 
and is similarly for outline planning permission with all matters reserved other than access.

Another parcel of land shown within the submitted Hollin Lane Masterplan Area lies 
immediately to the east of this site and indicates a potential future phase of development 
located to the west of Hollin Lane and north of Langley Lane. Part of this area of land is also 
the subject of a resubmitted application, reference number 15/01207/OUT for up to 88 
dwellings, submitted by Wainhomes Ltd (resubmission of 15/00358/OUT). 



RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012. The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Rochdale Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Council’s Core Strategy Examination in Public hearing sessions reconvened in June 2015 
in respect of a single issue, that of housing need.  The Council is currently awaiting the 
Inspector’s recommended Main Modifications and a further period of public consultation will 
take place once these are identified. The Core Strategy can only be afforded limited weight in 
decision making at the current time and it is anticipated that the Core Strategy may be 
adopted in 2016.

The following policies of the emerging Core Strategy (known more formally as the emerging 
Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources



T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan (June 2006):

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health Facilities

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development



G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan (April 2013)

Policy 2 Key Planning and Environmental Criteria
Policy 8 Prior Extraction of Mineral Resources 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

SITE HISTORY

14/00851/OUT - Outline application (including access only) for up to 150 dwellings (Use Class 
C3), potential primary school site with associated landscaping, open space, access 
arrangements and car parking provision. All matters reserved save for access – Refused 
September 2015 for the following reasons:

• The proposed development, by virtue of the cumulative impact of the additional traffic 
generated by this and other proposed developments in the area, would be detrimental 
to the safe and efficient operation of the highway network and would increase 
congestion in the area, contrary to Policies G/A/1 and A/8 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

• The proposed development would place additional pressure on local infrastructure, 
including schools and sports facilities, which would be unable to accommodate the 
additional demand that would be placed on local infrastructure as a result of additional 
residents and resulting increase in local population arising from the proposed 
development. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policies H/6, G/CF/1, CF/2, G/4 and 
G/5 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

14/00691/SO Request for a Screening Opinion under The Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 in respect of a proposed development 
off Hollin Lane, Middleton – not EIA development.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 
submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any development 
takes place.

Design for Security:- No objection in principle. Recommend the proposed development should 



be designed and constructed in accordance with the recommendations contained within 
section 5 of the submitted Crime Impact Statement dated (10/07/2014 – URN: 
2014/0431/CIS/01 Version B) and any reserved matters applications where layout is to be 
considered should be accompanied by a full Crime Impact Statement. 

Education Funding Authority:- Comments as follows:
• The Education Funding Agency (EFA), in our role as the executive agency of the 

Department for Education responsible for running capital investment programmes for 
schools in England, welcomes the opportunity to provide comments in relation to the 
outline planning application above. We recognise the importance of working together 
with LPA’s nationally on developing a strategic view of where capital investment may 
be harnessed to provide education resources and facilities in areas of basic need or 
where demand for new free school proposals exists.  

• The EFA supports the school proposal presented within this outline planning 
application. Our internal pupil place planning team have also confirmed that there is an 
increased primary basic need requirement both across the authority and in this specific 
planning area in the coming five years. It is therefore clear that a school proposal for 
primary aged pupils in this area is needed and the proposed school development 
should be supported as part of the determination of this application.

• The EFA are keen to hold more detailed discussions with planning and education 
officers at the borough council, prior to the determination of this application in order to 
ensure that the size and type of school is being appropriately addressed at this outline 
planning stage. The EFA also want to discuss how the agency could support and 
influence the required delivery mechanism for providing additional local education 
provision in this area, in conjunction with the developers and the local authority.

• The EFA has a north west based team comprising of planning, property, technical and 
legal advisors all of whom play a major role in securing and delivering capital invested 
schemes bringing a wealth of knowledge from initial site identification through to land 
acquisition, feasibility studies, securing detailed planning permissions and opening of 
new schools.  We can therefore provide detailed ongoing technical advice to inform this 
application and subsequent reserved matters applications. 

• I will ensure that our regional planning advisor makes contact with you to discuss all of 
the above and answer any queries you may have and to ensure we maintain a 
dialogue with you on this important application.

Environment Agency: - No objection in principle. Comments as follows:
 The application is within flood zone 1 and we are no longer a statutory consultee in 

relation to flood zone 1 applications and surface water risks. Please contact the Lead 
Local Flood Authority (LLFA) Rochdale Council Engineers for further details.

 We have reviewed the submission of a Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Assessment by 
WSP UK Ltd (June 2014) for the proposed development off Langley Lane, Middleton.

 For the purposes of this response our correspondence relates only to the proposed 
development around the current Langley Farm area. It does not refer to the wider 
proposed development which is marked in some of the appendices for the report we 
have reviewed.

 Our assessment has identified that the site has not been used for any noticeable 
industrial use therefore the likelihood of land contamination is low. We consider that 
planning permission could be granted for the proposed development as submitted if 
the following planning conditions are included:

• If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer 
has submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing 
how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written 
approval from the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be 
implemented as approved.



• No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take place until a 
verification report demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be 
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority. The 
report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in 
accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site 
remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include any plan (a “long-term 
monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term monitoring of pollutant 
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified 
in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be 
implemented as approved.

 Advisory notes to applicant also recommended regarding waste and the Building 
Regulations hierarchy for surface water disposal, which encourages a SUDS 
approach.

Environmental Health Officer (EHO): - No comments received. Comments in relation to 
application 14/00851/OUT:

• A condition should be imposed restricting hours of construction to between 07:30 and 
18:00 Monday to Friday and between 09:00 and 14:00 on Saturdays. No work should 
take place on Sundays.

• The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut and 
other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 hour) 
in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided at 
all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms. 

• Acoustic fences shall be installed in the positions shown in figure 4, appendix 3 of the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment in order to achieve external noise levels of 55 
dB(A) for the dwellings.

• Appropriate conditions should be imposed to deal with the above and a verification 
report should be submitted on completion of the dwellings in order to demonstrate that 
the stipulated noise levels have been achieved. 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): Comments in relation to 
application 14/00851/OUT remain relevant as follows:
 The application is supported by an archaeological Desk Based Assessment (DBA). 

The Historic Environment Record (HER) for Greater Manchester was consulted in 
preparing the DBA. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, historic mapping and 
documentary sources the DBA concludes that, apart from the remains of three 
buildings denoted on the 1839/40 Middleton and Hopwood tithe maps, there is a low/ 
nil potential for unknown archaeology of earlier periods to survive.

 The proposed development area (PDA) consists of six fields in a landscape that is and 
has been in the recent historic past dominated by pasture. There are records for 
prehistoric stone axe hammers (HER 5030.1.0 & 2437.1.0) in the surrounding search 
area. It is possible that these two records are duplicates, and that the most accurate of 
the two is HER 5030.1.0 as it is closest to Hopwood where the discovery was made. 
HER 5030.1.0 lies about 140m east of the PDA boundary. Topographically, the PDA 
occupies an area of relatively level high ground (c.150 – 140m AOD) which is 
surrounded by radiating drainages flowing down to land below c.120m where they join 
Trub Brook to the south and east and Whittle Brook to the north and west. Such 
relatively elevated locations are well understood to have provided a preferred focus for 
prehistoric and possibly early historic activity.

 Whilst the known HER content may suggest there is a low/nil chance of prehistoric 
remains being encountered, this does not take into account the lack of any previous 
fieldwork in the vicinity that would reveal such remains. In addition, the HER does not 
account for the local topographic context in considering where activity of the earlier 



periods might have been focussed, nor the discovery of one or more stone axe 
hammers nearby.

 The DBA concludes that there is some potential for remains of the three post-medieval 
buildings to be encountered in the centre and the south of the site and that 
investigation of these below ground remains may need to be undertaken as a condition 
of any permission. GMAAS accepts these conclusions, but also recommends that a 
conditioned programme of works include phased evaluation of the PDA using 
geophysics and trenching to see if earlier remains do survive.

 A condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring that a programme 
of archaeological works be undertaken in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI). This WSI should include: a geophysical evaluation and trenching, 
a programme for post investigation assessment, provision for publication and 
dissemination of the report on the site investigation, provision for archive deposition of 
the report, finds and records of the site investigation and nomination of an competent 
person(s) to undertake the works outlined in the WSI. GMAAS will monitor the 
implementation of the work on behalf of the Local Authority.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - No objection. Comments as follows:
• The GMEU commented on the previous application 14/00851/OUT and raised no 

objections requesting a number of conditions and informative should permission be 
granted.  Whist the survey information is now becoming out of date, our position has 
not changed.  I have however updated our previous comments to take the age of the 
ecological surveys and recent increased awareness in the planning system of material 
issues relating to watercourses.

Amphibians
• Great crested newt surveys failed to find any evidence.  We accept the findings of the 

survey.  The survey information is now over 1 year old, but given the level of survey 
effort and lack of GCN records from the wider landscape I am happy that this 
information is still valid. Should however the development be delayed beyond 2016 an 
update should be provided as a precautionary measure. 

• Please apply a condition along the following lines: If the development hereby approved 
does not commence before 28th February 2016, all ponds within 250m will be 
reassessed for great crested newt breeding potential and the findings supplied to and 
agreed in writing by the LPA.

Bats
• Trees on site were assessed for bat roosting potential and bat activity surveys carried 

out to identify any important bat commuting or foraging habitat.  All trees on site were 
assessed as having low bat roosting potential. The Whittle Brook and hedgerows 
within the site demonstrated low levels of common pipistrelle activity.  One hedgerow is 
being lost across the centre of the site with mitigation proposed along the Whittle Brook 
and eastern boundary. I am satisfied that the development will not have a significant 
impact upon bats as long as lighting of retained and enhancements is avoided.  

• This can be conditioned along the following lines: Prior to operation a ‘lighting design 
strategy’ for the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  
The strategy shall identify areas/features on site that are potentially sensitive to lighting 
for bats and show how and where the external lighting will be installed (through 
appropriate lighting contour plans), to demonstrate that any impacts on bats are 
negligible. All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with agreed 
specifications and locations set out in the strategy.

• Due to the length of time that has passed since the last survey please apply the 
following condition: If the development hereby approved does not commence before 
30th April 2016, all trees to be removed will be reassessed for bat roosting potential 
and the finding supplied to and agreed in writing by the LPA.



Breeding Birds
• A breeding bird survey was carried out for the site. Generally only common bird 

species were recorded, though skylark utilised the site and starling presumably nesting 
in the surrounding houses appear to forage on the site. Potential breeding habitat will 
be lost. All British birds nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected 
by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended. 

• Please apply the following condition to any permission: No site clearance shall occur 
between the 1st March and 31st August in any year unless a detailed bird nest survey 
by a suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance 
and written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has been 
agreed in writing by the LPA.

Badgers
• No badger setts were recorded on-site, but badgers occur in the wider landscape.  As 

the survey data is becoming out of date please apply the following condition to any 
permission and following informative:

• Prior to commencement of earthworks a survey of the site and within 30m of the 
boundaries for badger setts will occur and the findings supplied to and agreed in 
writing by the LPA.

• The applicant is reminded that under the Protection of Badgers Act 1992 it is an 
offence to intentionally or recklessly interfere with a badger sett. If a badger sett is 
found on or near the developments site work should cease immediately and a suitably 
experienced ecologist employed to advise on how best to proceed.

Invasive Species
• Himalayan balsam was recorded on the site.  It is an offence under the Wildlife & 

Countryside Act 1981, as amended to introduce, plant or cause to grow wild any plant 
listed in Schedule 9 part 2 of the Act such as Himalayan balsam.  

• Please apply a condition along the following lines to any permission: Prior to any 
earthworks a method statement detailing eradication and/or control and/or avoidance 
measures for himalayan balsam, should be supplied to and agreed in writing to the 
LPA.  The agreed method statement shall be adhered to and implemented in full 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA.

Whittle Brook
• The EU Water Framework Directive requires environmental objectives be set for all 

surface and ground waters to enable them to achieve good status or potential for 
heavily modified water bodies by a defined date.  One objective is to prevent further 
deterioration which can include changes to flow pattern, width and depth of channel, 
sediment availability/transport and ecology and biology. Enhancement of the habitats 
along the Brook are proposed which is to be welcomed.  There is however a risk that 
during development prior to establishment of the new vegetation that sediment and 
pollution could enter the Brook causing a deterioration downstream. 

• Please apply the following condition to any permission: No development, site 
clearance, earth moving shall take place or material or machinery brought on site until 
a method statement to protect the Whittle Brook from accidental spillages, dust and 
debris has been supplied to and agreed by the LPA.  All measure will be implemented 
and maintained for the duration of the construction period in accordance with the 
approved details.

Habitat Loss and Landscaping
• The development site covers approximately 5.5ha of generally low value ecological 

habitats, farmland, with moderate to high value habitats associated with the Brook and 
hedgerows.   The scale of the development is such however that despite the low value 
of the majority of the site, mitigation should be provided in order to comply with 
guidance within the NPPF (section 109). Mitigation is proposed along the Whittle Brook 



and landscaping along the eastern boundary, the only moderate value habitat to be lost 
being the hedgerow that crosses the middle of the site and possibly some trees. I am 
satisfied that for the loss of around 4.5ha of generally low value habitat the provision of 
around 1ha. of habitat mitigation and landscaping provides sufficient scope to provide 
adequate mitigation on-site, the detail of which can be conditioned along the following 
lines:

• No development shall take place until an ecological mitigation strategy been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the LPA.  The content of the mitigation strategy shall 
include: (a) A detailed ecological enhancement plan for the Whittle Brook; (b) Mitigation 
for loss of hedgerow and habitat connectivity between Whittle Brook and Langley along 
the eastern and western boundaries; (c) Mitigation for loss of grassland; (d) Mitigation 
for loss of bird nesting habitat; (e) Timing of works; and (f) Maintenance and 
monitoring. The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved 
details.

Animal Welfare
• It is likely that various mammals utilise the site including badger, hedgehog, fox and 

possibly brown hare and rabbit. Whilst not protected under wildlife law it is still and 
offence to cause unnecessary suffering. Please apply the following informative:

• The applicant is reminded that, under the Wild Mammal (Protection) Act 1996 it is an 
offence to inflict unnecessary suffering to wild mammals.  Planning consent does not 
provide a defence against prosecution under this act.

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
 The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 

scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access 
for the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval.

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No objection. I would want to see detailed planting plans and a 
species list, particularly for the woodland areas because of the proximity to Hopwood Woods 
Local Nature Reserve, SBIs and Ancient woodland areas and the possibility of invasive or 
problem species being introduced.  This is particularly important for the Hollin Lane site. The 
proposals offer an opportunity to increase tree cover within the area.

Highways and Engineering: - Comments awaited. 

Highways England: No objection. Comments as follows:
 No objection subject to a condition that none of the dwellings shall be first occupied 

until a travel plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and all the measures in the approved travel plan have been implemented.

Lead Local Flood Authority: - Comments as follows:
• I require further information such as designs, calcs etc and areas of the FRA will need 

to be developed, which will come with plan development. However, the brook they 
elude to may be Langley Brook, which has issues further downstream. Therefore, I 
need clarification on the watercourse in question and also the discharge limited where 
possible.

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments as per previous application as follows:
• The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for coal and brick clay. In accordance 

with policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan, the submitted Minerals 
Assessment investigates the exceptions which would exempt the development from 
the requirements of prior mineral extraction. The report submitted by the applicant 
concludes that mineral extraction should be exempted in line with Policy 8 on the 
grounds that: 

• There is an overriding need for the residential development that outweighs the 



need to avoid sterilisation of the mineral resource; 
• The prior extraction of minerals cannot be carried out in an environmentally 

acceptable manner and would also conflict with policies 2 and 5. 
• Prior extraction is not economically viable due to the depth of the mineral and 

the environmental issues associated with quarrying. 
 The report indicates that Rochdale is currently not meeting its need for 5 year housing 

stock. If this is accurate then the conclusion in point 1 above is agreed and the 
development is exempted from prior mineral extraction requirements in accordance 
with policy 8 of the Joint Waste and Minerals Plan as, in these circumstances, the need 
for housing outweighs the need to avoid sterilisation.

 With respect to points 2 and 3: (2) it is not agreed that extraction could not be 
undertaken in an environmentally acceptable manner. The report mentions the close 
proximity of housing and a school. However, suitable planning conditions could be 
imposed to mitigate the impact of mineral extraction on the environment; (3) The Coal 
Authority report referred to in the Minerals Assessment would only indicate known 
worked seams of coal rather than coal seams underlying the site, as the report is 
aimed at identifying risks from coal mining. No information has been provided as to the 
depth of potential brick clay and so its potential for extraction is unknown. Therefore, 
insufficient information on the underlying geology at site has been provided to make a 
judgment on whether or not extraction would be economic.

Natural England: - No comments to make.  

Peaks and Northern Footpaths Society:- If permission is granted, a condition is recommended 
that there must be no obstruction of any public right of way 114. 

Schools Service:- No objection. Comments as follows:
• In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, the school place 

availability for the Middleton Township as a whole has been considered, rather than a 2 
mile or 3 mile walking distance for primary and secondary places respectively. This is 
because it references our place planning areas, and more closely relates to meeting 
overall school place demand.

• The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional places to meet that expected 
demand in existing schools, without over-providing too many places. The Authority 
consulted during the Summer of 2015 on how additional places will be provided to 
meet current projected demand.

• Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for admission 
in 2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by the Local 
Authority will be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a margin for 
preference and movement.  The School Capacity and projections Returns of 2014 
show there would be a shortfall in capacity without the provision of the additional 
planned places to accommodate the peak in demand.

• A number of primary schools in the Township have been extended, either on a 
permanent or temporary basis to make sure there are enough places to meet planned 
demand to 2016.  As stated in paragraph 2 above, consultation on the need for extra 
Reception places for 2017 and 2018 took place in summer 2015.

• Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 2018. 
The proposals for 2016, 2017 and 2018 are to:

• increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and to 
consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of potential 
housing developments in this area of Middleton; and

• increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a further 2 
years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review).

• To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with 
schools, parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet 
approved proposals to provide 60 extra Year 7 places in the Township for the period to 



2019. These places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places from 
September 2016 onwards at Cardinal Langley RC; and 30 additional places from 
September 2017 onwards at St. Anne’s Academy. This would meet the current 
expected demand, although this will be kept under review.

• The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula across both the Hollin Lane 
and Langley Lanes sites (355 houses) is 89 primary places and 36 secondary places, 
applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an expected 13 children per 
year group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). There would also be an 
expected 7 children per year group post 16.

• Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in the 
Township for both primary and secondary sectors. 

• The reason for this is that, because of the need to meet existing demographic demand, 
existing school sites across the whole of Middleton, north of the Town Centre, will be at 
their realistic maximum capacity. 

• For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated within an existing 
primary school. The developer contribution for primary school places for each site would 
be as follows:
• Option 1: 150 dwellings x 0.25 = 37.5 children) x £12,320.01 = £462,003.75.
• Option 2: 127 dwellings x 0.25 = 31.75 children) x £12,320.01= £391,160.31

• For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 
secondary schools, which would need to be expanded further than currently planned. 
Based on the DfE cost multiplier for Basic Need Allocations for 2014 of £15,400.01 per 
place.
• Option 1: 150 dwellings x 0.1 =15 children) x £15,400.01 = £231,000.15
• Option 2: 127 dwellings x 0.1 = 12.7 children x £15,400.01 = £195,580.13

• Additional considerations: the Local Authority would have to have the contributions 
before the commencement of the development, because the school places would need 
to be ready prior to the occupation of properties on the development. 

• The Local Education Authority confirms that the contributions proposed would mitigate 
the effect of the additional school place demand arising from this development.  

Additional comments in relation to the Education Funding Authority response:
• Rochdale Local Authority submits a report each year to the EFA identifying the need 

for extra places and proposals as to how that demand will be met. The overall strategy 
adopted has been to work with schools and their governing bodies to enlarge existing 
schools, rather than create new schools. The Local Authority has identified the need 
for extra school places taking account of current demographic (birth) data and current 
housing developments.  It has put forward proposals to meet that demand following a 
period of pubic consultation in June and July 2015, which were approved by Cabinet 
on 5th October.

• In respect of this proposal, the applicant has indicated the provision of a school site 
and contribution to capital costs to provide a 0.5fte place primary school. The Local 
Authority response is that the developer contribution should be towards the provision of 
extra places in an existing, nearby primary school. This would be achieved by a 
significant permanent enlargement to Bowlee Park CP School as described above.

• The Local Authority does engage in dialogue with the EFA over school place planning 
issues, and the pressure on school places. However, in respect of this application, the 
Local Authority does not consider that a new school would be the best way of 
addressing the need for extra school places.

• The Local Authority, taking account of the need for additional school places in the 
Township in the next few years, together with the potential effect of additional housing 
proposed, is currently undertaking statutory consultation on the permanent 
enlargement of Bowlee Park CP school, which would meet the current demand for 
places and the potential additional demand arising from additional housing.

• For the secondary sector, the local authority again proposes to enlarge existing 
schools rather than establish a new school. The Local Authority’s proposals for a 



developer contribution would provide the resource to mitigate the potential effect of 
additional pupils.

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - Comments in relation to application 
14/00851/OUT relevant as follows:
• We have consistently recommended that four new bus stops (two northbound and two 

southbound) be provided on Hollin Lane to serve these developments and a 
contribution from each of the three developers would be sufficient to provide new stops 
and/or upgrades.

• The majority of this site is not very well located in relation to public transport (with the 
exception of a small part of the site in the south-eastern corner closest to Hollin Lane).  
There is a Monday to Saturday, Middleton – Rhodes – Birch – Hollin – Alkrington 
circular bus service which routes eastwards along Langley Lane (hail and ride in this 
location) providing access to Middleton town centre.  However this is only an hourly 
service which doesn’t start until after 9.00 am and finishes just after 4.00 pm.  The bus 
stops on Hollin Lane and Windermere Road offer access to more frequent bus services 
to Middleton, Manchester, Heywood and Bury, with earlier start and finish times more 
suitable for commuting, however these bus stops are beyond reasonable walking 
distance (400 metres) from most of the site.  Future residents reliant on public transport 
may be prepared to walk to these bus stops but they do not offer an attractive 
alternative that would encourage car users to access the site by public transport.  
Therefore there will be some access to a choice of travel mode but without further 
incentives, the choice of public transport services on offer are unlikely to significantly 
reduce the amount of car travel generated by this development.   

• Ideally the layout of the site should be designed to try to encourage travel by 
sustainable modes including walking and cycling.  It should be ensured that the 
pedestrian and cycling environment, within and around the site, is designed to be as 
safe, attractive and convenient as possible, including natural surveillance from active 
frontages of the development, where possible.  Particular attention should be paid to 
the walking / cycle routes through the site and links to Langley Lane and the potential 
future links through to Hollin Lane. The development of the site provides an opportunity 
to improve and develop the existing cycle network, there are currently no cycling 
facilities along Langley Lane, a traffic free segregated cycle route could be provided 
along the site frontage of Langley Lane.

• I note that the proposals include an estate road providing access from Langley Lane 
through the site with a potential future link to Hollin Lane, should the site to the west of 
Hollin Lane also be developed. This possible extension to the highway network could 
produce potential new bus routing options for bus services in this area, in the future.  
TfGM would recommend future proofing the design of the estate road to be able to 
accommodate bus services. At the reserved matters stage, it may be useful to confirm 
the acceptability of potential bus stop locations on the estate road as this could 
improve public transport accessibility for the less accessible parts of the proposed 
development.

• It is important to influence people’s travel patterns at the beginning of occupation and 
therefore it is encouraging to note that this application is accompanied by a Framework 
Travel Plan to reduce the dependence on single occupancy car travel and to 
encourage the use of more sustainable transport modes.  The Travel Plan will provide 
the ongoing management tool for implementing the necessary transport measures for 
the site.  The success of the Travel Plan measures will depend on their effective 
delivery and commitment from the occupiers and therefore robust arrangements for the 
implementation and running of the Travel Plan need to be included in the plan itself.  
Should Rochdale MBC be minded to approve this application it is suggested that the 
further development, submission, implementation and monitoring of a full Residential 
Travel Plan be attached as conditions of any planning consent.

Sport England: - Comments as follows:



• Summary: Sport England raises no objections subject to a suitable S106 contribution 
towards sport.

• The occupiers of new development, especially residential, will generate demand for 
sporting provision. The existing provision within an area may not be able to 
accommodate this increased demand without exacerbating existing and/or predicted 
future deficiencies.  Therefore, Sport England considers that new developments should 
contribute towards meeting the demand that they generate through the provision of on-
site facilities and/or providing additional capacity off-site.  The level and nature of any 
provision should be informed by a robust evidence base such as an up to date Sports 
Facilities Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy or other relevant needs assessment.  

• I note that this planning application is the resubmission. In the previous planning 
application, my colleague Ms Pudge wrote on the 9th September 2015, that her 
objection was to be withdrawn subject to a suitable level of contribution towards 
sporting infrastructure is made.

• I note in the applicants Planning Statement Addendum (2) section 2: Sports Facilities, 
paragraph 2.41, the applicants are willing to make a S106 contribution towards sport 
which I welcome.

• The level of the contribution and where it is to be spent I leave up to the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough council, but I would refer both the applicants and the council to 
our Sports Facility Calculator as a guide of the level of contributions which could be 
justifiably sought for the various typologies.

• Sport England, in conjunction with Public Health England, has produced ‘Active 
Design’ (October 2015), a guide to planning new developments that create the right 
environment to help people get more active, more often in the interests of health and 
wellbeing. The guidance sets out ten key principles for ensuring new developments 
incorporate opportunities for people to take part in sport and physical activity. The 
Active Design principles are aimed at contributing towards the Government’s desire for 
the planning system to promote healthy communities through good urban design. Sport 
England would commend the use of the guidance in the master planning process for 
new residential developments.

• This being the case, Sport England offers its support for this application subject to 
suitable contributions being made to the sporting infrastructure.

Strategic Planning:- Assessed within Analysis section of report.  

The Ramblers (Rochdale Group):- Objection. Comments as follows:
- I acknowledge your letter by e-mail in respect of planning application 15/01183/OUT 

and a further e-mail in relation to planning application 15/01207/OUT. In addition I have 
also received a letter dated the 11th November seeking my views in relation to 
15/01195/OUT and the two applications in respect of Hollin Lane. 

- The Rochdale Group of the Ramblers object to the proposals in each of these three 
planning applications.

- This land has been designated as "Protected Open Land" and that status should 
continue. Previous planning applications to develop this land have failed. One recent 
application received over 230 local objections such is the opposition to these 
developments.

- We feel that nothing has changed and we would urge the Council to refuse all three 
applications

- We object on the grounds that this would be a loss of amenity and any development 
would have an adverse effect on the environment and the wildlife. These areas are 
used by local residents and visitors for walking and exercise and link in to an extended 
network of Public Rights of Way which includes part of the Rochdale Way. This area is 
one of the remaining green spaces left between the built up urban areas of Middleton 
and Heywood.

- Rochdale is a town full of brown field development opportunities, old mills and factories 
where there is no rural beauty to destroy. It has not gone unnoticed that the developers 



have chosen a country area on the edge of an attractive green belt within easy access 
of the motorway, factors that would influence sales, rather than develop any one of a 
number of brown field sites available throughout Rochdale.

United Utilities (UU): - No objection. Comments as follows:
• In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system 
with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most 
sustainable way. 

• In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system 
with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most 
sustainable way. The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the 
developer when considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the 
developer to consider the following drainage options in the following order of priority:  
(1) into the ground (infiltration); (2) to a surface water body; (3) to a surface water 
sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; (4) to a combined sewer.

• United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following 
conditions are attached to any approval: -
- Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 

• Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage scheme, 
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance 
with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme 
shall be managed after completion) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The surface water drainage scheme must be in 
accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards and unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall 
discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly. The development 
shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details. 
No surface water from this development is discharged either directly or indirectly to the 
combined sewer network.

• A separate metered supply to each unit will be required at the applicant's expense and 
all internal pipe work must comply with current water supply (water fittings) regulations 
1999. 

• The level of cover to the water mains and sewers must not be compromised either 
during or after construction.

• Should this planning application be approved, the applicant should contact United 
Utilities on 03456 723 723 regarding connection to the water mains or public sewers. 

• Should this application be approved the applicant must contact our water fittings 
section at Warrington North WwTW, Gatewarth Industrial Estate, off Liverpool Road, 
Sankey Bridges, Warrington, WA5 1DS.

• It is the applicant's responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between any 
United Utilities' assets and the proposed development. United Utilities offers a fully 
supported mapping service and we recommend the applicant contact our Property 
Searches Team on 03707 510101 to obtain maps of the site. 

• Due to the public sewer transfer, not all sewers are currently shown on the statutory 
sewer records, if a sewer is discovered during construction; please contact a Building 
Control Body to discuss the matter further. 

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the UDP 
and has the potential to affect public rights of way, notices have also been posted in the 



vicinity of the site and in the local press. 

24 letters of objection and one letter of support have been received to date. Publicity 
undertaken in respect of the previous application (14/00851/OUT) attracted a total of ten 
letters of support and 145 letters of objection.

Those letters in support raised the following matters:
- The proposals would provide opportunities for existing and new residents to upgrade to 

houses with gardens in a nice location.
- The land is not used for anything of importance
- It will create lots of jobs for traders. 
- A new community will be made. 
- It will help young people get on the property ladder. 
- It is in a brilliant location for commuting into the city centre.

The points of objection are summarised as follows:

- Objections made previously are maintained. The applications were refused for 
numerous reasons and nothing has changed since then. 

- The site forms an area of Protected Open Land located outside the Defined Urban 
Area. Applications have been submitted in 1995 and 2010 for development of the site 
and have always been refused. An appeal in 1985 (reference 017143/APP/P/423/A/85) 
has also been dismissed. There has been no change in circumstances since the 
refusal of previous applications and the dismissal of an appeal on the site to indicate 
that a different decision should be reached. The site performs the same function as the 
Green Belt and should remain open, as intended by the policy in the UDP.

- There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should be 
developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. The 
Council’s own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build over 
11,500 new properties throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing land 
supply target without any need to build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an 
annual quota (laid down by government) to construct approximately 400 houses on an 
annual basis within the borough and is currently the only Local Authority in Greater 
Manchester to be ahead of its building quota. Recent applications approved in 
Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) have allowed the construction of over 600 new 
houses in the township. Houses of the type proposed are already freely available on 
the market and those already for sale are currently struggling to sell. Therefore, there is 
no justifiable need for further housing within the borough at the present time, and 
certainly not within the countryside.

- The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in 
Middleton, will detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual 
terms and will diminish the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational purposes 
through the removal and obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths (including 
removing this benefit for future generations).  

- The development of this area of Protected Open Land would see the effective merging 
of Middleton and Heywood and an associated 12 mile long urban sprawl between 
Manchester and Bamford. The land has been left open for centuries and designated as 
Protected Open Land in order to avoid this, and to provide a green buffer between the 
two towns. The release of the land for housing would set a precedent allowing the 
development of additional, adjoining land in the future.

- The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of 
which are protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts).

- The proposed development would lead to a significant increase in traffic generation on 
the already busy thoroughfares of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. This would include 
construction traffic during the course of development and additional vehicles 



associated with future occupiers of the houses. Both schemes propose 2 car parking 
spaces per dwelling, resulting in a minimum of 710 additional vehicles in the locality 
(355 x 2). There is insufficient capacity on surrounding streets and junctions to 
accommodate this increase in traffic and this would also be exacerbated through by the 
forthcoming construction of a new trunk road at junction 19 of the M62, located a short 
distance to the north of the site. Accordingly, the development would have a 
detrimental impact on road safety. Pedestrian safety is also of particular concern in this 
location given the site’s close proximity to St Anne’s Academy.

- I cannot believe that a building firm would consider building a Primary School on a 
housing estate in the middle of two of the busiest roads in Middleton. Langley Lane is 
an exceptionally busy road, especially with all the heavy Lorries which insist on 
thundering up and down during the day.

- Concern regarding construction traffic. From past experience, contractors double park 
their cars on both sides of the main road that will cause inconvenience to road users, 
increase accident rates and will endanger the children at theschool.

- The increase in traffic arising from the development, both during the anticipated seven 
year build regime and following the occupation of the houses, would result in an 
increase in airborne pollutants, which would have an adverse impact on air quality in 
the area and, accordingly, the health of surrounding residents. The length of time 
required to construct the development would also mean noise, disturbance, dust and 
traffic disruption throughout the build period, thereby creating a burden on the local 
community lasting for a number of years.

- It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future 
flooding and whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal 
with the additional foul and surface water generated by the proposal. The water 
pressure in the area is already very low and is likely to be further impacted as a result 
of the development.

- The development is intended to provide executive homes and will result in Middleton 
becoming a commuter town for residents working in Manchester. This type of housing 
would not fall within the definition of social housing and the prices would put the 
houses out of the reach of local people.

- The addition of new homes on the site would put increased pressure on local schools 
and other public services (e.g. transport, GPs, dentists, utilities etc.) which are already 
stretched. The densities are too high and cannot sustained by the local infrastructure or 
public amenities available in the area, such as schools, hospitals, doctors etc.

- The development would also increase the potential for crime and disorder both during 
the construction period and once the houses are finished (e.g. through burglaries and 
trespassing onto a construction site). This would increase pressure on the already 
under-resourced local police force.

- Langley Lane is unable to facilitate the increase in traffic that the new estate would 
produce significant traffic problems in the area, especially at the bottom of Langley 
Lane and Heywood Old Road.

- The developer suggests that the scheme will create new construction jobs for local 
people in the area. However, it is common practice for developers to use their own 
contractors/workforce in such circumstances and, accordingly, this should not be 
considered as an advantage of the development. In addition, the loss of the land would 
result in the closure of existing stables on the site and an associated loss of 
employment for local residents. The development is also likely to result in a reduction 
in houses prices for surrounding occupiers.

- Taylor Wimpy have identified a cost for Abnormals of between £300,000 and £500,000 
per hectare for this site. I find this hard to believe as a Green Field Site how can there 
be abnormals? I view this as an attempt to make the site more financial viable by 
stating a fabricated case regarding abnormals.

- Taylor Wimpy state that a cost of £3000 extra per dwelling for a Code Level Three 
Dwelling should be attributed. This may have been correct six years ago, but 
compliance with Code is no more expensive than complying with building regulations, 



and again is an attempt to fabricate abnormal costs, to achieved code three through a 
fabric first approach has NIL cost.

- There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support 
the views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and 
the force of public opinion.

ANALYSIS

Scope of the Planning Application

The application is a resubmission of planning application 14/00851/OUT and seeks outline 
planning permission for the development of the site to provide up to 150 dwellings with 
associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements and car parking (‘Option 1’).  An 
alternative layout is also under consideration (’Option 2’) which proposes the development of 
up to 127 dwellings, along with land to accommodate a potential one form entry primary 
school.  

The application is outline with only approval sought at this time for access, and therefore 
further reserved matters applications would be necessary to deal with the matters of 
appearance, scale, layout and landscaping of the proposed development. Each of these 
matters is defined in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 as follows:

Access – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network.

Appearance – the aspects of a building or place within the development which determine the 
visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture.

Landscaping – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 
protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes—

(a) screening by fences, walls or other means;
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass;
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks;
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or 
public art; and
(e) the provision of other amenity features;

Layout – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
the development.

Scale – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings.

As access is the only matter applied for in this case, indicative plans in respect of scale, 
layout, landscaping and appearance are not being assessed as part of the application.  
Nevertheless, the indicative plans propose a set of key principles to inform subsequent 
reserved matters applications. 

This application is being considered at the same time as planning application 15/01183/OUT 
for a development of up to 205 dwellings on a site to the east of Hollin Lane (resubmission of 
14/00849/OUT). A further planning application is also under consideration, reference 
15/01207/OUT for up to 88 dwellings on the western side of Hollin Lane (resubmission of 



15/00358/OUT). Whilst consideration is afforded to their cumulative impacts when assessing 
each application, they are entirely separate applications and therefore fall to be considered on 
their respective merits.  

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, 
particularly given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the 
Protected Open Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to 
be allocated for development.  

Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was not 
included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north and 
west of Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt are not 
known but it is noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban areas of 
Greater Manchester were left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the permanence of 
the Green Belt by not making it overly restrictive in terms of meeting the future development 
needs of the existing built up area. This buffer land has been similarly designated as either 
Protected Open Land or Safeguarded Land within the local plans of other Greater Manchester 
Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of 
Protected Open Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at that 
time. It is noted that land was released for residential development to the south of Langley 
Lane (former Bishop Marshall school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of the 
current St. Anne’s Academy in the 1990’s. It is also noted land was released for development 
in the 1980’s to allow for an expansion of Stakehill Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a commitment 
being made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the boundaries of the 
Green Belt in 2011.  

1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 
GMGBLP with some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane was not within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land Protection 
policy (Policy C/9) for land between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green Belt.  Since 
the land in question falls between the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy was relevant to 
this site.  Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was as follows:

On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt and 
the Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will normally 
grant planning permission only for development which would be permissible if the land were in 
Green Belt, or for development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in 

general and especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an 

outdoor facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially 
Policy R/27; and

(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-
(i) an existing dwelling;
(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or



(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact on 
the immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in 
connection with a new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet 
development needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will be 
safeguarded for that purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all the 
provisions of this Policy during the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of both 
the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these requests 
the Inspector considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green Belt: (1) that 
Green Belts should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open, and 
(2) that the boundary around an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it 
becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary development in the future.  The 
Inspector concluded that the addition of these sites to the Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, 
neither was he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment 
development at that time, despite representations received in respect of the land north of 
Langley Lane. On this matter, he concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open 
Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only 
slight change was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed to 
Open Land Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the 
following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development 
proposals will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

• development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
• limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in 

scale with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or
• a limited extension to an existing building which:

- forms part of an existing source of employment; or
- is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which 

satisfies other policies of the Plan; and
-  is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not 

adversely affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing 
buildings.  Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, 
should be sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All 
buildings and extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are 
compatible with the landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and 
environment of adjacent Green Belt.



As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites 
within the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the 
size of the site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review of 
Green Belts within Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance indicated 
that such a review was not necessary. He added that, considering national and regional 
guidance, the objectors had not established the exceptional circumstances sufficient for him to 
recommend a modification to include the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector 
did not deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of the 
approach to identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this wider 
assessment all the omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate number 
of residential allocations. This proposed modification to the plan was not taken forward as it 
was considered that sufficient land would come forward to the meet the relatively low housing 
target for the Borough as set out in regional guidance at that time. 

The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during 
the examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination of 
the Green Belt Local Plan dated 1984.  At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector 
considered requests to include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green Belt. 
The Inspector concluded that: Green Belts should not include land that it is unnecessary to 
keep permanently open; and the boundary around an existing built up area should not be 
drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper provision for necessary 
development in the future.  The Inspector ultimately concluded that the addition of the 
Protected Open Land into the Green Belt was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not 
intended to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate 
future development needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 1999 
Unitary Development Plan.  The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently carried 
forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, to which there are three mutually dependent dimensions: economic, social and 
environmental.  

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in 
people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):

- making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;
- moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature;
- replacing poor design with better design;
- improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and
- widening the choice of high quality homes. 

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 



competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means that local planning authorities should positively seek 
opportunities to meet the development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the 
NPPF indicate development should be restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development means: 

• Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay, and

• Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission unless: 

• Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

• Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development plan, 
specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an assessment of 
the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not they are out-of-date.  

Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the 
purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-of-date 
simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, due 
weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the framework - the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies 
in the framework, the greater the weight they may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (Residential Development Outside Allocated 
Areas), Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (Protected Open Land) of the UDP. 
Policy H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-50 
dwellings per hectare. Minimum density requirements have been removed from national 
guidance and this policy is therefore significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight in 
the determination of this application.

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which 
followed the refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on Protected 
Open Land in the Borough.  These are considered further in the subsequent section of this 
report. 



Release of Protected Open Land in 2013

In allowing two appeals relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Keswick Street, 
Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, Rochdale (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), Inspectors have concluded as follows: 
o The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to 

prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, have 
been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of housing, and 
are therefore effectively out-of-date.

o The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for market 
and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this weighs 
substantially in favour of the proposal.

o The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the land 
supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the accrued 
shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly not 
challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply.

o Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged.

Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when the 
supply of land available for residential development falls below five years, Policies D/10 and 
H/3, which seek to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land 
supply, have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of 
housing and are therefore out-of-date.

Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate 
development should be restricted.  It is noted that the site is not subject to any of the 
designations listed in the NPPF that would indicate development should be restricted; and 
therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts and benefits is necessary to determine 
whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as defined by the NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane 
and Keswick Street, there have been material changes in circumstances of relevance to this 
application: the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 2013; the subsequent 
suspension of the examination following the Inspector’s direction that an update to the 
evidence base was necessary; and the updated evidence base itself.  This is considered in 
further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers may 
also give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of preparation of 
the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and the 
degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF 
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).  



The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector 
was appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took 
place in October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent 
evidence emerging from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth 
and household formation rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 
which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the 
evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set out in the 
submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be 
suspended in order for the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to update 
the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s recommendations on the 
proposed main modifications are currently awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate 
annual housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, 
taking account levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census 
data.  It is important at this point however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need 
between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa based on various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector 
to determine the appropriate housing target.  Until the Inspector issues the final report, the 
Council does not have a tested housing target for the plan period that would determine the 
number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any emerging housing target, whether it 
be 460 or otherwise, would therefore have limited weight at this time. It is however clear that in 
light of this most recent evidence of housing need; the UDP policy requirement for 240 new 
homes per annum is significantly out of date.  

In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to 
consider the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent 
appeal decisions have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial Strategy 
(RSS) target into account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was revoked in 
May 2013, the evidence base supporting the document remains relevant.  The RSS target for 
the Borough was 400dpa and the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ arising as a 
result of completion rates per annum falling below this target since 2003.  

In considering housing land supply targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% be included 
in order to ensure that any target continues to be met. This would typically be land brought 
forward in the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for land. However, 
this approach would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been a record of 
persistent under delivery of new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer should be 
increased to 20% brought forward in the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, housing 
completions in recent years, and taken as a whole since 2003, are well below the previous 
target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) largely as a result of the major 
demolition programmes within the former Housing Market Renewal areas, which applied from 
2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, 
Planning Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be 
applied in assessing whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the 
Borough.  This is the approach taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals in 



the Borough relating to the development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and Keswick 
Street and designated green space for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  

If the recalculated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would 
give an annual target of 672 dwellings per annum (as at 1st April 2015).  This figure could be 
met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with the 5% supply 
buffer but cannot be met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular 
issues faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent 
background of clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal 
pathfinder programme. Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were 
demolished across the Borough. As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 
there was an average net delivery of only 302 dwellings per year, thus well below the RSS 
target and significantly below the recalculated target of 672 dwellings per year.  Following the 
submission of the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions across the 
Borough has been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 in 
2013/14 and 313 for 2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the 
recalculated requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period of 2013 until 2028 
and now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence of 
population growth and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be therefore 
recognised that, were the Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing target for the 
Borough is 460, the Council would already be facing a shortfall of 340 housing completions 
against this target for the first two years of the Core Strategy period.  It is therefore concluded 
that the 20% buffer as advocated within the NPPF and accepted by the Inspectors as being 
relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad Lane and Keswick Street appeals would 
similarly apply at the present time.

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the 
delivery of new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are 
proposed to be demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of 
existing housing areas.  The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new 
housing completions in order to avoid a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of 
new housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed 
to ensure acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing 
needs are met over the Core Strategy plan period. The Inspector, in considering the 
soundness of the Core Strategy, may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and 
dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the 
housing policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, paragraph 
14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
Framework as a whole; or where specific policies indicate development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is 
relevant to the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land 
between the Defined Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy 
acknowledges that if there is evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then the 



development of protected open land may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria within 
the section are satisfied. This has been incorporated in order to provide flexibility and seeks to 
reflect the guidance within NPPF that recommends that policies included in Local Plans are 
sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any changes to development needs over the plan 
period. Again, at the current time, it is not clear whether this policy will be carried forward 
without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively assessed housing need for 
the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited 
weight at this time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for housing 
developments within such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the NPPF in 
providing a more flexible and responsive approach to dealing with changes to development 
needs over the plan period.  However, the Core Strategy covers a period between 2013 up to 
2028. As reported previously, consistent undersupply against the housing target in the Core 
Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan period, would further exacerbate the 
undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the delivery of the Core Strategy 
in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF requirement to boost significantly the 
supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and 
dealt earlier in the plan period.     

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, it is 
also noted that the site is located adjacent to a bus route that runs along Langley Lane 
immediately to the south of the site which provides hourly services into Middleton. However, a 
more frequent bus service is located along Hollin Lane to the east of the site. This route 
provides 3 services into Middleton Town Centre, Bury and Manchester with a frequency of a 
service every 10 minutes during the day provided on one of these services. The site is 
immediately adjacent to a secondary school, and it is noted that there are a number of primary 
schools within a 20 minute walking distance from the site. With regards to other local facilities, 
three small retail and commercial units are located at the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley 
Lane, and a public house and further small convenience shop are located within walking 
distance further along Hollin Lane to the south of the site. A wide variety of employment, 
leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and amenities located within Middleton and 
Heywood, accessible within short bus journey times of 10 minutes, with the regional centre of 
Manchester located approximately a 30 minute journey. Having regard to the above, the 
application site is considered to be within a sustainable location for the purposes of the NPPF. 

It is noted that, under both options, the number of dwellings proposed would make a significant 
and valuable contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough. In the context of 
the above, significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its 
contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

Amendments following Refusal of Previous Application

Following the refusal of the previous application and the two applications proposing the 
development of the adjacent sites, the Council’s Casualty Reduction Team carried out a road 
safety audit of the highway works proposed by all three applications. 

In response to the findings of the Council’s road safety audit, the applicant Taylor Wimpey Ltd 
submitted a revised Transport Assessment in support of this application and the application for 
the development on the eastern side of Hollin Lane (reference 15/01183/OUT).  

In respect of this application, the road safety audit recommended that a designated right turn 
lane be provided on Langley Lane at the main point of access into the site. The revised 
Transport Assessment proposes the right turn lane as recommended, along with additional 
road markings to reinforce the speed limit and reduce speeds on approach to the junctions. In 
addition, the revised Transport Assessment proposes to renew existing worn road markings at 



the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane and to extend the zig zag road markings on 
Hollin Lane to reinforce the crossing location to the north of this junction.  

The revised Transport Assessment submitted by the applicant also seeks to address the 
reason for refusal of the previous application in respect of the cumulative impact of this 
development with the other two developments proposed on the highway network. 

The reasons for refusal of the previous application related to the cumulative highway 
implications of this proposal with the two other applications and also the impact of the 
development on local infrastructure capacity, including schools and sports facilities.  The 
transport and highway implications and the capacity of local education and sports 
infrastructure are considered in turn below.  

Transport and Highway Implications

The previous application (14/00851/OUT) was refused partially on the grounds that the 
cumulative impact of the additional traffic generated by this and other proposed developments 
in the area, would be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the highway network 
and would increase congestion in the area, contrary to Policies G/A/1 and A/8 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

UDP policy G/A/1 requires development to provide for access such as to meet the operational 
needs of the development but minimise the adverse impacts of motorised transport on the 
wider community. 

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

• Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
• Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

• Substantially increase congestion;
• Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
• Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

UDP policy A/8 goes on to state that where additional traffic movements directly generated by 
a development proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the 
developer will be required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. The 
works required by the Council could be any or all of the following:

• Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure;
• Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure;
• Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling;
• Other traffic management measures; and/or
• The removal or restriction of car parking provision.

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that decisions should take account of whether improvements 
can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts 
of the development. Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds 
where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 

The highway works proposed comprise the following:

• Improvements to the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane comprising the 



formation of a separate right and left turning lane along Langley Lane for eastbound 
traffic turning on to Hollin Lane;

• The provision of a right turn lane on Langley Lane to serve the main access;
• A new traffic island along Langley Lane to the east of the application site to link into the 

adjacent public right of way (MidRupp114) in order to assist pedestrians crossing 
Langley Lane to provide improved pedestrian crossing facilities from the site into the 
adjacent residential area; 

• Kerb build out to create pedestrian crossing point to the west of the proposed 
emergency/school access;

• Parking bays created in front of existing properties on Langley Lane; and
• Additional road signage, road markings and traffic calming measures along Langley 

Lane including 2no. 30 mph roundels either side of the site access to denote the 
gateway into the site in order calm traffic speeds along Langley Lane.

Capacity of the Highway Network

Following the previous refusal, a revised Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted 
which supports both the applications resubmitted by Taylor Wimpey. This TA has considered 
and reviewed the existing traffic conditions, the cumulative impact of all three proposals 
including that submitted by Wainhomes, additional travel movements generated by such type 
of development, and the implications on traffic and highway capacity during construction. The 
revised TA also addresses the findings of the safety audit undertaken by the Council following 
the previous refusal. 

Notably, the revised TA considers the impact of the proposed development at Langley Lane 
on the safety and efficiency of the local and strategic highway network. A number of 
development ‘scenarios’ are considered, as follows:

• Hollin Lane proposals in isolation
• Langley Lane proposals in isolation, including both Option 1 (up to 150 dwellings) and 

Option 2 (127 dwellings + a primary school)
• Hollin Lane and Langley Lane proposals in combination
• Hollin Lane and Langley Lane proposals + the Wainhomes proposals for up to 88 

dwellings to the west of Hollin Lane.

The junction capacity analysis demonstrates that the impacts of the development proposed by 
this application (scenario (ii) above) including both options 1 and 2, can be accommodated 
within the surrounding highway network subject to the implementation of the proposed 
package of access proposals and off-site transport measures. Similarly, this analysis also 
demonstrates that the cumulative impact of both Taylor Wimpey proposals (scenario (iii) 
above) can also be accommodated within the surrounding highway network, subject to the 
implementation of the proposed package of access proposals and off-site transport measures. 

In relation to scenario (iv) above, the analysis shows that with the addition of the 88 dwellings 
proposed by Wainhomes, the impacts upon the existing junction of Hollin Lane with Langley 
Lane would result in the junction operating at its capacity during the evening peak hour. 
However, the residual impact of the development proposals would not be severe and it is 
considered that a refusal of planning permission on this basis could not be substantiated on 
appeal. 

Access

As noted above, this application seeks permission for the access to the site, which is proposed 
to be provided by a single access to north side of Langley Lane. Under option 1 for a 
development comprising up to 150 dwellings, the site access would be located on a straight 
stretch of Langley Lane between its junctions with Braithwaite Road and Derwent Road. A 



right turn lane is now proposed on Langley Lane in response to the findings of the safety audit. 
Within the site, the indicative masterplan shows the main spine road bending north through the 
site before turning east into the site with a series of smaller secondary roads leading off to a 
network of smaller cul-de-sacs. 

An emergency access would also be provided on to Langley Lane via a pedestrian route 
opposite nos. 53-59 Langley Lane. The detailed design of this potential emergency access 
point will be subject to consideration at a later date as part of the reserved matters 
applications. However, the siting, size and design of the single access and the provision of an 
emergency access are considered to provide appropriate access to the site and would be 
acceptable in respect of highway safety. 

Under option 2, which includes a potential primary school to be provided within the site, the 
same access to the site is proposed to provide for access to the majority of the 127 dwellings, 
however in this instance the point of the emergency access would form a secondary access 
into the site to serve a limited number of dwellings and the primary school. This secondary 
access would be off-set from nearby highway junctions and would provide adequate visibility 
along Langley Lane having regard to associated vehicle speeds.

The proposed access arrangements accord with the recommendations of the safety audit and 
are therefore considered to be acceptable in accordance with the relevant policies of the UDP 
and the NPPF.  

Public Transport, Walking and Cycling

With regards to the comments of TfGM, it is noted that the bus stops along Hollin Lane and 
Windermere Road to the south and east of the site that provide services into Middleton, 
Manchester and Heywood are some distance from the site, and that the bus service running 
along Langley Lane only offers an infrequent service between 9am and 4pm during the 
working week and on Saturdays. As noted by TfGM, the wider masterplan for the area does 
indicate the potential for the application site to link into a route on the adjacent site and on to 
Hollin Lane, which would, if appropriately designed, provide the facility for a bus service to be 
extended through the site.

Nevertheless, it is noted that the indicative masterplan provides a network of footpaths both 
utilising a clear north to south and east to west direction and these would connect to the 
existing routes around the site. It is also noted these also connect to and run through the 
areas of open space along the north, and east perimeters of the site. In addition, as noted 
above an appropriate travel plan drawn up in consultation with TfGM and the Highways 
England would be secured by condition on the grant of permission. 

It is also noted that the proposed parameters plan provides for a circular network of combined 
cycle and pedestrian routes within the site that would link into the public right of way to the 
east and existing route along Langley Lane to the south, and subject to detailed design would 
provide for safe cycle routes which would link into the existing footpath and highway networks 
around the perimeters of the site. With respect to existing and proposed cycle routes along 
Langley Lane and the surrounding area, it is noted that the Council has secured confirmed 
funding for cycle network improvements along Langley Lane and along Hollin Lane up to 
junction 19 of the M62 and further northwest to Heywood Distribution Park and Stakehill 
Industrial Park, and east towards Hopwood Hall College, and Cardinal Langley RC High 
School. 

In accordance with the recommendations of TfGM and in order to provide for sustainable 
travel options into Middleton Town Centre, it is proposed to secure the provision of financial 
contributions towards cycle network improvements along a section of Hollin Lane from its 
junction with Langley Lane to its junction with Rochdale Road to the south.  This would assist 



in providing a connection between the application site and the various employment, leisure, 
entertainment and education facilities in Middleton Town Centre, but also link into the wider 
Hollin Lane and Junction 19 Cycle Route improvement project.

In order to reduce the overall traffic associated with the development and encourage 
sustainable travel choice, a Framework Travel Plan has also accompanied the application and 
proposes that the subsequent development incorporates a number of physical, management 
based measures to minimise travel by private motor-vehicle. These would include: a Site 
Travel Plan Co-Ordinator; Travel Cards, residents travel information pack; a community 
website and notice board displaying and promoting public transport and other sustainable 
modes of travel; a community car sharing scheme; a bike walk BUDI scheme, and 
personalised travel planning service provided by the travel plan co-ordinator. These would be 
supplemented by physical measures including cycle parking for each dwelling, and provision 
of a permeable layout and form provided by a network of clear footpaths and cycle ways, 
along either residential streets, existing rights of way, or through areas of public open space. 

In order to ensure this framework travel plan is drawn up into a detailed Travel Plan alongside 
the detailed reserved matters applications for the layout and design of the site, a condition has 
been recommended requiring the reserved matters applications to be accompanied by a 
detailed travel plan. 

Parking Provision

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”.  Maximum standards have now been 
removed from national policy.  

As the application submitted is in outline, details of the parking provision for each dwelling and 
the potential school would be determined at reserved matters stage. Nevertheless, in principle 
it is considered that sufficient parking would be provided on the site for the development 
proposed in accordance with policy A/10 of the UDP. 

Conclusion

Assessing the individual proposal, subject to the measures set out above being secured by 
way of condition and appropriate legal agreements, officers have concluded the following:

• The development would encourage alternative modes of travel to the private car;
• The location and design of the accesses into the site from Langley Lane are 

acceptable and meet relevant standards. In addition, the right turn lane now proposed 
on Langley Lane accords with the recommendations of the safety audit undertaken 
following the previous refusal; and

• The proposed development would not be detrimental to the function and safety of the 
surrounding local and strategic highway network.

Therefore, whilst the Committee did not find fault with the access arrangements of this 
particular proposal, there appears to be no technical evidence to support a view that these 
access arrangements would be harmful to highway safety. 

In relation to the cumulative impact of this proposed development with the other two in the 
vicinity, the comments of the local highway authority and Highways England on the revised 



Transport Assessment are awaited, but it is noted neither has previously raised any 
objections. In the absence of any objections being raised by statutory consultees, there 
appears to be no sustainable grounds to refuse this particular application on the grounds of 
cumulative impact. 

Capacity of Local Infrastructure

The second reason for refusal of application 14/00851/OUT relates to the additional pressure 
on local infrastructure as a result of the development, including schools and sports facilities, 
which would be unable to accommodate the additional demand that would be placed on local 
infrastructure as a result of additional residents and resulting increase in local population 
arising from the proposed development contrary to Policies H/6, G/CF/1, CF/2, G/4 and G/5 of 
the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

The impact of development on local infrastructure is an important consideration in the 
determination of planning applications. Developer contributions are often sought in order to 
ensure the additional demands placed on local infrastructure are mitigated. The NPPF advises 
that Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations (paragraph 
203).  

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of 
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local 
planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to 
meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They 
should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and
• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues 

before applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments 
provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for additional 
school places created by such developments. Whilst the weight that can be afforded to the 
Core Strategy policies is limited, the proposed residential development would generate 
additional demand for primary and secondary school places within the local area.  In 
accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the development on education provision should be 
mitigated. 

The Council as Local Education Authority notes that the existing primary and secondary 
schools within the local area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need 
for additional places to be provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has 
subsequently requested that the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand 
for education places by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing 
additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area, which 
would be necessary in order to provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden 
thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF. 

The applicant has agreed to the principle of providing for education need as part of the 
proposed development. Full details of the calculations are provided later in this report, 
however the primary education contribution would be in the region of £486,160.38 and the 
secondary education contribution would be in the region of £231,000.15. A more detailed 
breakdown of the calculation of the necessary financial contributions towards mitigating for the 



education need generated by the proposed development is discussed in the planning 
obligations section of this report.  

It is also noted that the potential option for providing land on the application site for the 
provision of a new single form entry primary school has been included within the revised 
application as option 2 and the Education Funding Authority has expressed support for this. 
This land would be in addition to the contributions noted above. As the school land would be 
provided on a single site, which would in itself only provide up to 127 dwellings in addition to 
the school land,  in considering this planning application, this land would represent an over 
provision and cannot be reasonably justified as mitigation associated with this development. 

Should the committee be minded to support the provision of the school land, it must be 
recognised that the land does not form mitigation associated with the development, but 
represents a benefit of the proposal that must be afforded considerable weight in the planning 
balance.  

Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities 
and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

• Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such as 
local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and 
places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities 
and residential environments; 

• Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services. 

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning 
policies in the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate 
provision for recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 
hectare per 1000 population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) 
provision. In the case of developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to 
be met through a financial contribution towards the laying out (including 20 year maintenance 
maintenance) and/or improvement of recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-site 
recreational open space are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created 
by a development and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the 
occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more 
than five contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as recreation 
and sport facilities.  The Council has entered into more than five separate contributions for 
open space outdoor sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further contributions 
sought would not comply with the requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations, unless specific projects are identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the proposed 
development set out within the parameters plan provides on-site open space, the detailed 
layout of which will be determined within future reserved matters applications. With regards to 
formal children’s’ play facilities, it is noted that the proposed outline scheme includes the 
provision of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) shown within the linear area of public 
open space. Maintenance of on-site facilities would be the responsibility of the developer and 
it is intended that a landscape open space implementation and management plan will be 



secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.  

In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has agreed to enter into an 
s106 agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with the Sport England Sports 
Facilities Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement of existing sports facilities, 
at Bowlee Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the development on sports facilities. On this 
basis, Sport England has offered its support for the application.    

Other Local Infrastructure

In relation to other local infrastructure, such as doctors surgeries, health centres and dentists, 
the expansion and provision of healthcare infrastructure is a matter for the Primary Care Trust, 
which has a statutory duty to provide the population with access to healthcare. There is no 
reasonable means by which the applicant might address the impact of the development upon 
the provision of healthcare, which would in any event require the strategic input of the NHS 
and PCT responsible for the area. The site of the proposed development is accessible and the 
contributions proposed to sports facilities and Hopwood Woods would promote access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation, which the NPPF recognises 
make an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities.

Conclusion

The applicant has agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide developer 
contributions to mitigate the impact of the development on education provision and sports 
facilities. The total contribution in respect of the above is £856,534.53 (which excludes 
highway and transport mitigation).

Accordingly, subject to these contributions, the Council as Local Education Authority has 
raised no objection to the proposal and Sport England has offered its support. The additional 
demands placed on local infrastructure would therefore be mitigated in accordance with the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, the emerging Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. As such, it is considered that a refusal on these grounds could not be 
substantiated on appeal.  

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where significant 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities 
should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. Best 
and most versatile agricultural land is classified as grades 3A, 2 and 1. Land of lesser quality 
is classified as grades 3B, 4 and 5.  

The proposed development would occupy approximately 5.8 Ha of agricultural land to the 
north of Langley Lane. A survey has been undertaken by the applicant which has concluded 
that due to the soil quality and climatic considerations, the majority of the land within the site 
would constitute grade 3B (moderate quality) with two small areas along the north and south 
boundaries of the site being grade 5 (very poor quality). Therefore, the land within the 
application site does not include the best and most versatile agricultural land within grades 3A 
and above. Furthermore, given the limited presence of arable agriculture and associated 
infrastructure in the vicinity of the site, it is considered that the land would be unlikely to 
produce high or moderate yields and for a wide range of arable and cereal crops. 

Given the above, the proposals would not result in the loss of best and most versatile 
agricultural land and the loss of the poorer quality agricultural land is necessary to secure the 
provision of housing. The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF.  



Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests, policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states that 
proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not 
allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

• The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
• It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking 
place; or

• It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no 
economic value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;

• The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction 
taking place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and Brick 
Clay within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development would 
not allow for the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result would sterilise any 
clay or brick reserves which may exist below the site. 

The applicant has submitted a Mineral Assessment report which concludes that the need for 
the development would outweigh the need for prior extraction of the minerals. In addition, that 
report concludes that due to the depth of the coal and brick clay reserves requiring prior 
extraction, and that as a result of the need to provide sufficient buffers to adjacent sensitive 
land uses, insufficient amount of reserves could be extracted to make the process viable.

Comments have been received from the Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Planning 
Unit and whilst they do not accept that prior extraction would not be unviable and impossible, it 
is noted that they do consider the need for the proposals in the absence of a five year supply 
would outweigh the need for extraction of the brick and clay minerals and have raised no 
objections to the proposal if this is the case. 

In this instance, in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested 
housing land supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed 
with regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of 
boosting housing provision set out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for 
the proposed development to form 150 or 127 houses would outweigh the need for mineral 
extraction. With regard to the above, it is also noted that the Coal Authority have raised no 
objections and consider that the requirements of policy 8 have been addressed through the 
appropriate consideration of prior extraction undertaken within the submitted mineral 
assessment. Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed scheme 
would accord with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

With respect to the presence of former coal mine entries, it is noted that the Coal Authority 
have advised that whilst there are no shallow recorded coal mine workings within the 
development site, there is the potential for unrecorded coal mining features to be present 
within the site and surrounding area. The Coal Authority have subsequently raised no 
objections to the proposed development but have recommended the inclusion of an 
informative should permission be granted reflecting the sites location within a  coal mining 
area, and which has been included in the recommendation accordingly. Having regard to the 
above, it is considered that the proposed scheme would provide for a safe environment for 
future residents, users and occupants of the development in accordance with policy objectives 
within the Council’s LDF Core Strategy.

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape



Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment and requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires 
that the level of protection is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will 
be required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built 
environment, and in particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and 
accord with the best of its surroundings. Developments that engender local distinctiveness will 
be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their 
surroundings and to enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features which 
make a material contribution to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development 
proposals, special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and 
cultural character of the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and historic 
significance. 

Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and 
visual implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

 Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into and 
from the site and surrounding area);

 Remove incongruous landscape features;
 Assist the conservation of:

- Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
- Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or 

cumulatively) to landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road 
patterns, existing buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

- Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
- The visual condition of landscape elements; and
- Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or 
which would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area 
will not be permitted.”

With regards to the character of the wider area, the site sits within the Manchester Pennine 
Fringe national character area (no.54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the north 
and Manchester Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury Rochdale and 
Oldham and is described as a transitional zone between elevated, open moorlands and 
densely populated urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described as a transition 
from upland to lowland with smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided valleys, and with 
vantage points provided on elevated areas providing views across Greater Manchester. This 
notes that much of the countryside has been influenced by recreational use of adjacent urban 
areas and diversification of farmland resulting in a distinct urban fringe character.

The site lies immediately to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the 
north and west leading to the M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood beyond. 
The application site comprises an undulating topography of open fields separated by 



hedgerows with small farm complexes interspersed and set within open fields. The site is 
located within what is characterised as settled farmlands within the Landscape Character 
Areas defined in policy NE/6 of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of more 
domesticated farmscape with occasional small settlements on lower slopes and valley edges; 
improved grasslands used for cattle, sheep and horse grazing, with a varied mix of open land 
uses including farming, equestrian, outdoor sports and managed areas of countryside.

The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) that provides 
a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed development on the landscape and 
visual amenity of the surrounding area, both during the construction phase of the development 
and throughout the lifetime of the development. It is noted that the site is located within a 
prominent location visible from Langley Lane to the south and from a network of rights of way 
that run across and between open fields towards the north, east and west of the site. The 
current frontage of the site comprises open post and rail fencing allowing views across the 
open fields of the application site and across to the countryside beyond. 

The submitted LVIA notes that respectively, the proposed development would result in 
temporary substantial and substantial to moderate adverse landscape impacts during 
construction of the development, from the public rights of way immediately to the east of the 
site and from along Langley Lane to the south of the site. It is also noted that there would be 
substantial adverse effects on views from Langley Lane Farm and Langley Lane during 
construction. However, it is noted that these impacts would be experienced for a temporary 
period during construction and are localised to the area immediately around the site.

With regards to post completion and the landscape and visual impacts from the ongoing 
operation of the site, it is noted that the proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan 
respond to those significant impacts set out above with respect to the impacts from Langley 
Lane and the public right of way (MidRupp 114) and properties on Langley Lane, by providing 
a dense landscaped buffer along the eastern boundary of the site and landscaped buffers 
along the Langley Lane frontage and also the west boundary of the site adjacent to Langley 
Lane Farm. Once the development is complete and landscaping and planting implemented 
and matured, it is noted that the impacts from the public right of way to the east would reduce 
to slight adverse. 

With regards to the impacts on those rights of way to the north and west, and from along Hollin 
Lane further to the east, it is noted that due to the undulating topography and intervening 
hedgerows and tree coverage, that there would be no significant adverse impacts on views 
from these routes upon completion of the development. Whilst it is noted that the proposed 
development would result in the loss of open views from Langley Lane Farm and the 
residential properties fronting the south side of Langley Lane, it is noted that these are from 
private residential properties, and following the implementation and maturing of proposed 
landscape planting that there would be no significant harm caused. The impacts on residential 
amenity are discussed elsewhere in this report. However, it is an established principle in 
planning law that there is no right to a view.  

Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that there would be no significant long 
term visual impacts and harm caused to the landscape character of the surrounding area, or 
on landscape features including hedgerows and trees within the site as a result of the 
proposed development. 

It is noted that the cumulative impact of the proposal with the planning applications for the 
development of adjacent sites would result in the loss of a significant area of open grassed 
fields adjacent to existing vehicular routes and residential areas. However, it is also noted that 
the sites would be seen within the context of the adjacent urban area of Middleton and the 
Green Belt.



The site is located adjacent to the Greater Manchester Green Belt, the boundary of which runs 
along the northern boundary of the site, and therefore provides a break from the urban area of 
Middleton and the Green Belt. The proposed scheme would retain an open green buffer along 
the northern boundary of the site adjacent to the Green Belt ranging from between 
approximately 13 metres and 40 metres in width. This is considered to provide adequate 
separation and a soft transition between the between the built form of the proposed residential 
development and the open fields of the Green belt to the north, to ensure that there would be 
no significant harm to views into and of the adjacent Green belt. 

Having regard to the above, the character of the surrounding area and its location on the 
urban fringe, although the development would change the character of the area, the 
development would not cause any significant over-riding harm to the character, qualities and 
visual qualities of the surrounding landscape both individually and cumulatively, in accordance 
with policies G/NE/5 and NE/6 of the UDP, and the policies set out in the NPPF.

Impact on Public Rights of Way (PROW)

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:
 Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 

surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;
 Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 

route to nearby facilities and destinations;
 Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
 Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that:
 The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 

landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside and 
establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and 
implement high quality links with such routes from urban areas.

 Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate 
the greater use of these routes by cyclists, horse riders and those people with impaired 
mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support and 
implement enhancement schemes such as way marking, picnic, interpretation and 
other facilities along the routes.

 In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the conservation 
of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of agricultural 
interests, areas of nature conservation importance (including designated areas) and 
the character and purpose of the route where appropriate.

UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to 
the scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that 
proposals should ensure:
 Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and 

buildings, well lit and signed as appropriate;
 The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the establishment 

of convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access would be 
compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives;

 Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes;



 Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility.

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that public rights of way and other pedestrian routes identified in 
the Council's 'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites 
proposed for development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where 
this would improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking 
environment and the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route 
Network and such improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort 
and accessibility for disabled people and other people with restricted mobility.

There a number of rights of way adjacent to and in the vicinity of the application site, in 
particular immediately to the east of the site, and further to the north and west of the site. All 
these would be retained as part of the proposed development and also within the indicative 
wider masterplan for the Hollin Lane area. Therefore, it is considered that that the proposed 
development would not cause harm to the integrity and quality of this route for pedestrians and 
cyclists. 

The proposed scheme set out in the parameters plan allows for a network of dedicated 
pedestrian routes, combined pedestrian and cycle routes, connections to the existing public 
right of way running along the eastern boundary of the site, with these new routes also to be 
connected into a network of residential streets. It is considered that these would supplement 
existing routes and together would form a highly permeable townscape and network of routes 
with a clear hierarchy and mix of types of routes to aid movement and use - thereby, resulting 
in a safe and accessible environment in accordance with the above policies of the UDP and 
the policy objectives set out in the NPPF. In order to ensure that the connections into the 
adjacent public right of way are brought forward in line with a broader access and layout 
strategy across the site and those within the surrounding area and on adjacent sites, a 
condition has been recommended requiring details of how the detailed layout connects into 
the existing and planned surrounding network of routes including roads, footpaths, bridleways 
and rights of way.

Ecology and Nature Conservation Implications

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued 
landscapes, minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on 
nature conservation interests are also protected by separate legislation including the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act, which requires Local Authorities to have regard to 
nature conservation and article 10 of the Habitats Directive, which stresses the importance of 
natural networks of linked corridors to allow movement of species between suitable habitats, 
and promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles:

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

• proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 



individually or in combination with other developments) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where the benefits of the development, at this 
site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the site 
that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national 
network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply national 
planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – SAC), 
national (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites of 
Biological Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and 
that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek 
to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place an 
unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping and 
open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be supported and 
encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern;

• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the urban 

areas with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that:
 There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
 Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

 Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

The application site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open 



agricultural fields characterised by pasture and grazing land with a network of hedgerows 
providing for a network of wildlife corridors and further habitats for wildlife and fauna. The 
Hopwood Woods Local Nature Reserve, which also forms an Ancient Woodland, is located 
approximately 860 metres to the east of the site. The Glade and Oaken bank Woods, a Site of 
Biological Importance, is also located approximately 960 metres the northeast of the site. The 
application has been accompanied by a detailed Ecological Assessment which has been 
reviewed by Greater Manchester Ecological Unit (GMEU), who note that the survey was 
undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist and in accordance with best 
practice. Given the findings of ecological reports and surveys are valid only for limited periods 
to account for the transient nature of species, GMEU recommend certain surveys should be 
updated prior to commencement of site works and additional conditions are therefore 
recommended to this effect.  

Designated and Non-Designated Sites:

The application site itself is not designated as of any specific nature conservation value, and it 
is noted that due to the distance to the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and Glade and 
Oaken Bank Woods SBI to the northeast that the proposals would not have a direct impact on 
these nature conservation assets. It is noted that GMEU have recommended a financial 
contribution or management arrangement be secured towards the habitat management and 
access facilities within Hopwood Woods given the likely increase in footfall and usage created 
by the amount of homes proposed. However, it is noted that this site itself is disconnected 
from Hopwood Woods and Glade and Oaken Bank Woods, and it is not considered that the 
proposal would justify a contribution in its own right.

Habitats:

With regards to the implications on the habitats on site, it is noted that the majority of the site 
is characterised by species poor semi-improved grass and pasture land. The site does include 
a network of hedgerows, scattered trees and areas of grassland which will be lost as part of 
the development. However, the site does not comprise any protected habitats and those that 
are on site are not unique and it is noted that the proposal includes the retention of the trees 
and hedgerows that are located within the northern part of the site, and that these would be 
enhanced through a substantial landscaped buffer along the northern edge of the site. 

Both the supporting report and GMEU conclude that subject to the provision of replacement 
hedgerow and tree habitats in the north and eastern landscape buffers, the provision of 
appropriate planting and biodiversity enhancements incorporating local native species within 
the northern buffer; the approval and implementation of a long term conservation management 
plan for the wildlife corridors around the edges and running through the centre of the site; and 
the protection of the existing trees and hedgerows at the site, the proposals would provide for 
adequate mitigation and replacement of habitats. It is considered that these could be 
appropriately secured by way of conditions. 

Protected and Priority Species:

It is noted that there are a number of ponds in the surrounding area, and accordingly surveys 
of the presence of Great Crested Newts (GCN) were undertaken. These identified that there 
are major amphibian barriers between a number of these and the site and that GCN were not 
identified to be present in any of the ponds. 

With regards to the implications on local bat populations, the appropriate surveys were 
undertaken which identified none of the trees on site to have bat roost potential. 
Notwithstanding this, subsequent surveys concluded that the site was of low importance to 
bats with only low levels of the common pipistrelle activity recorded. As a result, subject to 
conditions requiring the approval of any lighting scheme to be implemented during the 



construction of the development, and subsequently within the completed development, 
including within all the open spaces, carriageways, footpaths, and cycle routes and adjacent to 
wildlife corridors and buffers around the site; it is not considered that the proposed 
development would result in any significant harm to bat populations within and around the site.

With regards to any potential implications on badgers, it is noted that whilst no evidence of 
badgers was found on site, an active badger sett was located to the north of the site. Given 
the distance to the sett, it is not considered that there would be any significant direct impacts 
from the proposed development on this protected species, however as the site provides a 
suitable habitat for foraging, it is considered that a method statement would be necessary to 
ensure that measure were put in place to protect badgers whilst works are being undertaken 
on and around the site. Accordingly a condition has been recommended requiring the carrying 
out of an up to date badger survey prior to commencement of development, and approval of a 
badger method statement.

With regards to other species, it is noted that the surveys found no evidence of barn owls, and 
riparian mammals including water voles and otters within and around the application site. 
Whilst it is noted that there are records of brown hare within the surrounding area, and that the 
site comprises suitable habitat for such species, given the large areas of open farmland to the 
north and west of the site which provide ideal habitat for brown hares, as noted by GMEU it is 
not considered that the loss of the habitat within the site would cause a significant adverse 
impact on this species.

With regards to the presence of birds within the site, it is noted that those species of concern 
were found to inhabit adjacent sites and that few birds found on site were found to be 
breeding. In order to protect birds inhabiting the site during the bird nesting season, a 
condition has also been recommended preventing vegetation clearance works being 
undertaken in the bird nesting season, unless a suitable ecological survey has been 
undertaken of the site prior to works taking place.

Invasive Species:

With regards to the implications from invasive species being present on the site, the submitted 
survey highlights the presence of Himalayan Balsam on the site. In order to ensure that an 
acceptable scheme to avoid the spread of these, and in accordance with the 
recommendations of GMEU a condition has been recommended requiring the submission an 
approval of a method statement for the management of these invasive species.

In conclusion, GMEU have been consulted on the amended scheme and have raised no 
objections to the proposed development subject to the conditions set out above and conditions 
requiring repeat surveys prior to commencement. As such, it is considered that the proposed 
development overall would ensure that adequate mitigation and satisfactory precautionary 
measures can be put in place to ensure that the development would not result in significant 
adverse effects on the nature conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation 
status of any protected species.  Conditions are also recommended to secure biodiversity 
enhancement. The proposed development is therefore considered to be in accordance with 
the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 



spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 

(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes undulating open farmland predominantly laid over for pasture 
with a row of hedgerows and trees running north to south a defining the extent of the two 
existing fields. There a number of groups of trees located towards the northern boundary of 
the site and along the northeast boundary of the site. Otherwise the site comprises open fields 
laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted that none of the trees within or adjacent to 
the site are protected by way of a Tree Preservation order or being within a conservation area. 

It is noted that the submitted Arboricultural impact Assessment identifies the trees on site are 
of largely low quality, and that the proposed indicative masterplan and parameters plan for the 
development allows for provision of landscaped buffers along the perimeters of the site. 
Indeed the proposed indicative masterplan would retain the majority of trees towards the 
northern edge of the site within this landscape buffer. Furthermore, the proposals by providing 
the landscaped buffer area to the north, and also along the Langley Lane frontage provides for 
opportunities for significant additional planting and improvements to tree cover to be 
incorporated into any future scheme at the site to supplement the existing tree cover and 
replace the vegetation to be lost.

In order to secure this, a condition has been recommended requiring a detailed landscaping 
and planting scheme for the site, including the use of local native species as recommended in 
the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment. 

Therefore, in principle it is considered that the proposed development would not result in 
significant harm by way of loss of any important landscape features and through the 
implementation of a comprehensive tree planting and landscaping scheme across the site 
secured in reserved matters applications, it is considered that there would be a significant gain 
in the quantity and spread of trees on the site as a result of the proposed development. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would accord with the requirements 
of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the relevant policies within the NPPF. 

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by 
ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between buildings and by 
minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to:
o avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 

as a result of new development;
o mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life 

arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where it 
would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants of 
buildings, or users of open space.



In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.

It is noted that the site is on slightly raised land levels with an undulating topography running 
downwards in a roughly north westerly direction. In order to ensure that any subsequent 
scheme is laid out appropriately to not appear overly oppressive or dominant from the street 
scene and facing dwellings along Langley lane, a condition has been recommended requiring 
the submission and approval of land levels for the site and each plot. The proposed scheme 
comprises a mix of two and two and a half storey dwellings with those two and half storey 
dwellings set back from the edges of the site and the frontage along Langley Lane. It is also 
noted that the scheme includes the retention of a landscaped area of public open space along 
the southern tip of the site adjacent to Langley Lane. As a result, the siting of the housing 
areas as shown within the proposed parameters plan would retain sufficient distance to the 
nearest dwellings to the south, southeast and southwest in excess of those standards set out 
above. As a result, it is considered that the proposals would not in principle result in harm by 
way of loss of outlook, loss of daylight, or loss of privacy to surrounding occupiers. 

In addition, it is considered that in principle the proposals would provide an acceptable form of 
residential environment and it is noted that the provision of adequate private amenity space, 
and levels of outlook and daylight for each dwelling and its future occupants could be secured 
through the detailed design of the proposed development within reserved matters applications.

With regards to the provision of land within the site for a single form entry primary school 
under option 2, this would be sited towards the southeast corner of the application site. It is 
noted that this would introduce additional activity during the daytime and working week, and 
would be sited adjacent to Close Road Farm, a butchers and small row of dwellings to the 
east, and that there are residential properties fronting on to Langley Lane to the south of the 
site. The noise assessment submitted with the revised scheme has taken into consideration 
the implications of a single form entry primary school on the residential dwellings in the vicinity 
of the site, and concludes that subject to the provision of acoustic fencing around the school 
playground and use of standard internal acoustic and ventilation measures, there would be no 
unacceptable levels of noise generated by the proposed development.

It is noted that the proposed parameters plan would retain a narrow landscaped buffer along 
the eastern boundary of the site adjacent to the public right of way and access to Dingle Farm. 
A five metre wide landscape buffer would also be provided along the southern boundary and 
Langley Lane frontage of the site to provide separation and a buffer to those dwellings facing 
the site to the south. Furthermore, given the respective hours of use and associated activity 
within this area, it is considered that adequate planting and boundary treatments could be 
included within the detailed design to ensure that adequate levels of amenity would be 
retained by the neighbouring residents to the south and east. 

With regards to the proposed location of the locally equipped area of play (LEAP) it is noted 
that this would be sited within the large area of landscaped open space towards the eastern 
boundary of the site. Whilst the scheme is in outline there are no details of the exact location 
and siting of dwellings and play area at this stage, given the size of this area of open space it 
is considered that in principle a LEAP could be provided whilst also providing the respective 
buffers necessary for such facilities in the interests of existing and future occupants.

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 
with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and 



Standards for Residential Development”, the Rochdale and Oldham Residential Design Guide 
and the NPPF.

Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Policies G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 of the UDP establish that environmental protection and 
pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and 
noise pollution is kept to an acceptable level.

With regards to noise and acoustic implications of the proposed development, the applicant 
has submitted a noise impact assessment to consider both the implications of noise on the 
proposed dwellings and the implications of additional noise created by the proposed 
development on the surrounding environment. The indicative masterplan indicates an area of 
open space and tree planting along the eastern boundary of the site and landscaped buffer 
along the southern boundary adjacent to Langley Lane. It is also noted that narrow 
landscaped buffers would be provided along the south and eastern boundaries adjacent to the 
potential primary school site under option 2, which would help to provide a buffer to the 
dwellings located to the south and east. 

The report concludes that the key noise source affecting the proposed development is the 
road traffic along Langley Lane to the west of the site and as a result, recommends the 
provision of acoustic fencing between Langley Lane and those dwellings nearest to the 
highway. In order to provide adequate ventilation, the report recommends the incorporation of 
through-frame window mounted trickle vents for all noise sensitive rooms within line of sight of 
Langley Lane. It also recommends setting a maximum level of noise emitted by fixed 
mechanical plant in order to prevent any unacceptable harm caused to surrounding residents 
and future residents. The Council’s Environmental Health Department has raised no 
objections to the report and its recommendations, and the proposed development itself subject 
to conditions.

With regards to the implications of option 2 which includes land for the provision of a single 
form entry school, the noise assessment recognises that noise levels from external amenity 
areas at the school would have the potential to exceed recommended levels, and that in order 
to attenuate this a scheme of acoustic fencing would need to be provided around the play area 
to prevent unacceptable noise disturbance. In order to ensure prevent noise break out from 
internal areas, the report also includes the provision of through frame window mounted trickle 
vents within windows to ensure ventilation without the need for windows to be opened.

In the interests of the amenity of future occupants of the dwellings and in accordance with the 
previous recommendations of the Council’s Environmental Health Department, it is therefore 
considered that conditions would be necessary to secure: the detailed design of acoustic 
fencing and ventilation measures within the scheme; a verification report prior to occupation of 
the dwellings to ensure the necessary measures have been implemented; and set maximum 
noise limits in respect of fixed plant at the site. Subject to these conditions, it is considered that 
the proposed development would in principle provide for a satisfactory level of amenity for 
future occupants and would not harm the amenity of the existing surrounding residents, and 
occupiers of surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this 
application. It is noted that given the sites location on the edge of the urban area of Middleton 
with open fields to the north and the M62 beyond, it is considered that the proposed dwellings 
would in principle not be subject to concentrated levels of air pollutants. Furthermore, it is 
noted that the indicative masterplan has been designed to include landscaped buffers of tree 
planting and open space on all boundaries. 

The AQA identifies that the proposed development would have the potential to cause air 



quality impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the development and 
from road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. However, it concludes that 
subject to the implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the 
site, there would be no significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase, 
and that following the modelling of road vehicle exhaust emission from traffic associated with 
the residential development there would be no significant adverse impacts on sensitive 
receptors including surrounding residents and the adjacent school.

In order to minimise the impacts of construction activity on the occupants of surrounding 
residential properties during the construction of the development, a condition is recommended 
to require the approval and implementation of a construction management plan, which will 
include the need for approval of the hours of construction, building, ground works and delivery, 
access routes and storage areas, approval of dust control measures as set out in section 5.1.3 
of the AQA.

Given that the scheme is in outline with the detailed layout, design, and scale to be the subject 
of subsequent reserved matters applications, it is considered that, subject to conditions 
securing the scheme of air quality attenuation measures, the proposed development would in 
principle provide for adequate levels of amenity for future occupants and would adequately 
protect the amenities of existing residents.

Given the location of the site on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, 
and roosting opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would 
not result in any significant harm to surrounding dwellings to the south, and to the character 
and openness of the rural area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring the 
submission and approval of a detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above, it is considered that subject to the recommended 
conditions, the proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and 
associated activity, would not cause significant harm to the surrounding environment and its 
respective receptors by way of additional noise, reduced air quality and light pollution. The 
proposed development would therefore be in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3 H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG ‘Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development’ and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere”.

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, which 
aims to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood zone 1 
is the lowest probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
o Peak flow control that for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the 

development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year 
rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak 
greenfield runoff rate for the same event.

o Volume control that where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the 
runoff volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water 
body in the 1 in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield 
runoff volume for the same event.



The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 
1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the 
application site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the 
application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and outline drainage 
strategy. 

It is noted that the proposed residential development would be sited on a relatively raised part 
of the surrounding landscape with the surrounding topography and levels sloping generally 
downwards to the north and west of the site across open fields. It is nevertheless noted that 
the proposed development would result in a substantial increase in the proportion of 
impermeable areas at the site, and result in significant additional foul water generation from 
the number of dwellings proposed. 

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including 
rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. It notes that the site has not 
been subject to flooding from rivers, the sea, highways, sewers, reservoirs or canals. The 
submitted FRA recommends a surface water drainage strategy discharging surface water into 
the adjacent brook and incorporating attenuation methods including over-sized pipes and flow 
control devices to limit the discharge rates so that they would not exceed the existing 
greenfield run off rates. The proposed strategy also proposes that foul water be connected into 
the existing combined sewer running under either Derwent Road or Braithwaite Road to the 
south of the application site.

The Lead Local Flood Authority has agreed in principle to the approach to discharge surface 
water into the nearby watercourse, subject to conditions securing the detailed design, and 
agreement of discharge rates, which must be limited. It is also noted that United Utilities in 
their comments on the amended scheme have raised no objections subject to conditions. The 
proposals to drain surface water into the nearby watercourse and ensure that the peak runoff 
rate, and the runoff volume to the brook and surface water body should mimic and not exceed 
the greenfield run off rates and volumes would be in accordance with the non-statutory 
standards issued by DEFRA in March 2015, and the approach set out in the NPPF and 
relevant building regulations.

It is noted that the submitted FRA recommends that the scheme include the use of sustainable 
urban drainage system (SUDS) measures within the green landscaped corridors including 
swales and above ground basins, including basins along the south and eastern boundaries of 
the site. Indeed it is noted that there is sufficient space within the site for the siting of ponds to 
mitigate for the increase in hard surfaces within the site and provide for the storage of water in 
a 1 in a 100 year event including 30% allowance for climate change. In addition, it is noted that 
the provision of these over ground basins could be developed within the reserved matters 
applications into a comprehensive scheme for the landscape and wildlife buffer long the 
northern boundary to also incorporate sustainable urban drainage measures in addition to 
biodiversity and wildlife mitigation and enhancements.

A condition has also been recommended requiring a detailed foul and surface water drainage 
design to be submitted with the reserved matters applications to demonstrate how surface 
water will be managed (including the control mechanisms to limit the rate of surface water 
runoff to greenfield levels, the provision of on-site water storage and flow control mechanisms) 
in accordance with the request of United Utilities and the Council as Lead Local Flood 
Authority. 

Therefore, it is considered that in principle adequate measures can be put in place in order to 
ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either on the site 
itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the policies 
within the NPPF.



Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of the above act 
similarly requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of any conservation area where relevant. Furthermore, the Court 
of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable importance and weight to 
the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when carrying out the balancing 
exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and 
enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with 
their conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require 
clear and convincing justification.

 Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 

equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the 
policies for designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the 
historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management 
publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in 
a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence 
(and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record 
evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be 
permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 

sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning permission 
will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such structures 
or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant effect on the site itself or 
its setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features in 
situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is of 
lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of features 
either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In such 
cases, the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper recording of 
archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a programme could be 



secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 obligation negotiated with the 
applicant. In all cases there should be a full and appropriate prior evaluation of the 
archaeological resource detailing its value, the likely impact of proposals and mitigation 
as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent 
to the application site. The nearest listed building comprises the Grade II listed water fountain 
and horse and dog drinking troughs located along Heywood Old Road, which are 
approximately 750 metres to the west of the site. Given the intervening distance, the amount 
of mature tree coverage and the undulating topography, it is noted that the proposed 
development would not impact on the curtilage or setting of the listed structures and nor would 
it be visible from, nor would they be both visible within the same context and setting. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would have no impact on the 
setting of these heritage assets.

With regards to Conservation Areas, it is noted that the Birch Village Conservation Area is 
located approximately 570 metres to the west of the application site and Middleton Town 
Centre Conservation Area is located approximately 900 metres to the southeast of the 
application site. However, given the intervening distance, the undulating topography of the 
open farmland, and the context of the conservation areas, it is not considered that the 
proposed development would cause any harm to the character and appearance or the 
significance of these conservation areas. 

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted that the 
application has been supported by an Archaeological desk based assessment that includes a 
review of the evidence contained within the historic environment record for Greater 
Manchester. However, it is noted from comments of the Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Advisory Service (GMAAS) that given the sites location, the surrounding topography, and 
close proximity to watercourses the site offers potential for records of archaeological interest 
to be found of earlier periods prior to those that are contained within the historical environment 
record. In accordance with the recommendations of the GMAAS and in order to ensure that 
due record and understanding of any archaeological remains is undertaken in accordance with 
paragraph 141 of the NPPF, a condition has been recommended requiring that an appropriate 
written scheme of investigation (WSI).

Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to conditions, it is considered that the 
proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan would preserve the setting of 
surrounding heritage assets and that sufficient measures would be in place to ensure that the 
importance of potential archaeologically significant assets are recorded and advanced. The 
proposed outline scheme is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, BE15, BE17 of 
the UDP and the policies within the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:
• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 

instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 
or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.



In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect 
that land which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, 
the Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed 
remedial treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in 
accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields 
leftover for pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 
environmental assessment report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk of 
contamination. It also does not predict that there would be any significant sub surface 
obstructions and structures, and although a former mine shaft is reported, further investigation 
and if necessary imposition of a no-build zone in its vicinity would ensure there would be no 
risk and the development could take place. As a result, it is noted that there are no risks that in 
principle would prevent the development of the site for residential purposes, and the report 
recommends that to allow for a full assessment that further detailed intrusive site investigation 
and analysis be undertaken. 

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any ground based contamination, 
land stability issues which may exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by 
the imposition of a condition requiring the submission and approval of further detailed site 
investigations and sampling and where necessary the implementation of any appropriate 
remediation measures required before development takes place.  Subject to this condition, it is 
considered that the proposed site in accordance with UDP policy EM/4 and the NPPF.  

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include:

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development;

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 
2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents a 
material change in planning circumstances.  



Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2016, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard 
or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement, 
concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4. 

As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, 
details of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of 
travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be 
brought forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to date 
Local Plans and the Building Regulations. The new technical standards are optional and if the 
Council wishes to refer to them in decision making, it must be through new policies in a Local 
Plan.  The Council’s current policy refers to a Code which has now been revoked and is 
therefore out of date and it is therefore considered most appropriate that the sustainability 
requirements of this development are dealt with by the Building Regulations. 

Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards 
affordable housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with 
UDP policies H/6 and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: Provision 
of Recreational Open Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is important again to 
note that policies in the NPPF and legislation introduced subsequent to the adoption of the 
UDP and SPDs can take precedence. Although limited weight can be afforded to the Core 
Strategy, it is noted that the emerging policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also seek to ensure the 
impact of development is mitigated and that development contributes to physical and social 
infrastructure requirements.  

In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following 
three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being 
collected by an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of 
infrastructure, once five or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 
106 obligations made on or after 6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a 
kind which could be the subject of a community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to 
tariff style contributions (with the exception of affordable housing).  As the Council has entered 
into more than five obligations towards recreational open space, no further contributions can 
be pooled to this type of general infrastructure provision.  The object of the regulations is to 
encourage Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a CIL instead of imposing 
requirements for contributions through section 106 obligations, however it has been 
acknowledged that the pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of infrastructure.  
Contributions may therefore be sought to specific infrastructure projects if they meet the three 
tests above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development 



requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  Therefore, 
the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  To 
ensure viability, the costs of any requirements applied to development, such as requirements 
for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, 
when taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive 
returns to a willing land owner and a willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable. As this application is in outline form, any detailed assessment of viability would 
occur at reserved matters stage once the precise number and nature of dwellings to be 
delivered is identified. It is clear that there will be a need to ensure that contribution 
requirements do not undermine viability and deliverability, having regard to site specific 
requirements and a need to ensure the impacts of the development are adequately mitigated.

As noted above, the previous application (14/00851/OUT) was in part refused on the impact of 
the proposal on local infrastructure, including schools and sports facilities. It is however noted 
that the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 agreement to provide developer 
contributions to mitigate the impact of the development on sports facilities and education 
provision. Details of the contributions to be secured as part of the development (including how 
they meet the three tests) are outlined below:

Education Provision:

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF requires that Local Planning Authorities plan positively for the 
provision of facilities and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments. Paragraph 72 also states that great weight should be given to the 
need to create, expand or alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure (including education facilities) to meet the 
demand for additional school places created by such developments. The proposed residential 
development of up to 150 dwellings would generate additional demand for primary and 
secondary school places within the local area and as set out above, due to the lack of capacity 
in the existing primary and secondary schools, the Council as Local Education Authority has 
requested that the proposed development mitigates this additional demand through financial 
contributions to provide additional education facilities at existing primary and secondary 
schools within the local area. It is considered that the contributions would be necessary to 
provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of sustainable 
development in the NPPF.

As set out earlier in this report, it is noted that option 2 proposes to provide land for a school 
on the application site.  However, the land to be provided is over and above that necessary to 
enable this particular development for 150 dwellings to proceed.  This remains the case in 
cumulation with the application at Hollin Lane, submitted by the same applicant and to require 
this to be provided as mitigation would be unreasonable. As a result, officer consider that the 
more appropriate method for mitigating for the need generated by the proposed development 
is option 1 and thus a financial contribution towards primary and secondary education 
provision off-site. 

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic 
need funding (BNF) per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary). Based on these figures and the maximum number of 
dwellings, the primary education contribution would be £486,160.38 (pupil yield of 38 (150 x 
0.25) = 38) multiplied by the basic need funding of £12,320.01). The secondary education 
contribution would be £231,000.15 (pupil yield of 15 pupil places (150 x 0.1) multiplied by the 



basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions would be pooled to provide additional 
school places in Middleton Township.  

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to 
proceed and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at 
reserved matters stage and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the number 
of units in each phase, the BSF pupil yield and the BNF. Should the committee be minded to 
support the provision of the school land, which would be provided in addition to the 
contributions, it must be recognised that the land does not form mitigation associated with the 
development, but represents a benefit of the proposal that must be afforded considerable 
weight in the planning balance.  

On the basis of these contributions, the impact of the development on school place provision 
would be mitigated in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
emerging core strategy.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

Paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and 
well-being of communities.  

In this regard, the site provides a linear area of public open space adjacent to the northern 
boundary of the site and this provides on-site informal open space and also younger children’s 
play facilities in the form of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP).  The detailed layout of 
this on-site open space will be subject to detailed design within future reserved matters 
applications.  The implementation and ongoing management of this area would be the 
responsibility of the developer and would be secured within a section 106 Agreement.  

With regards to mitigating and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreation needs 
generated by the development, a financial contribution is proposed towards off-site outdoor 
sports and recreation facilities at Bowlee Playing Fields located to the southwest of the 
application site. The Sport England ‘sport facility cost calculator’ determines that the sports 
facility needs from the proposed residential development is equivalent to £929.16 per dwelling 
or £386.86 per person (based on current figures provided by Sport England dated 30th June 
2015).  Utilising the Sport England formula, the following financial contributions would be 
applicable: 

• £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 150 x £929.16 = £139,374; or 
• £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (150 x 2.4) = 360 x £386.86 = £139,269.60

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development by 
providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports 
facilities. The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure it 
is directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with the 
CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in accordance 
with a formula within the s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased manner in 
accordance with the NPPF.  

On the basis of these contributions, the impact of the development on formal sports facilities 
would be mitigated in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
emerging core strategy.  

Affordable Housing:



UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the Borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. Policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging core strategy also reflect this requirement.  

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 
housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 
affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD.

Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

In accordance with the recommendations of the Highways Authority, Highways England and 
TfGM the applicant has agreed to enter into a section 278 highway act agreement and a 
section 106 agreement to secure the implementation of a series of off-site highway and public 
transport infrastructure improvement works in the vicinity of the application site.  As a result, it 
is considered that there would be an adequate mechanism to mitigate the impact of the 
development on the local highway network. 

The following measures would be secured through s278 agreement:
• Junction improvements to include the widening of the eastbound carriageway of 

Langley Lane at its junction with Hollin Lane to create separate lanes for vehicles 
turning northbound and southbound on Hollin Lane; 

• Pedestrian crossing improvements on Langley Lane;
• Traffic calming - additional road signage, road markings and traffic calming measures 

to provide right turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in order 
calm traffic speeds along Langley Lane around the application site, including any 
necessary TRO.  

The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:
• Cycle lane improvements - new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin 

Lane from its junction with Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road 
(comprising re-lining cycle lane, and green cycle lane for approximately a 1 km 
distance); and

• Provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane or improvements to existing bus stops on 
Langley Lane (£20,000).  

Whilst this site is located on Langley Lane, TFGM note that the bus services on Langley Lane 
are infrequent and services on Hollin Lane provide more frequent services including to 
Manchester. Given the comments of TfGM, it is considered that the provision of bus stops on 
Hollin Lane would be reasonably related to this development and necessary to encourage the 
take up of sustainable transport modes given this site’s location.  In the event the bus stops on 



Hollin Lane are provided in association with the developments coming forward to the east and 
west of Hollin Lane, the monies could potentially be used to upgrade existing bus stops on 
Longley Lane as an alternative.  

Through the discussion above, it is noted that the development would mitigate its impact on 
the demand for school places and the local highway network and would encourage the take up 
of sustainable modes of travel.  It is considered that these requirements are necessary for the 
development to proceed and directly related in scale and kind in accordance with the NPPF 
and CIL Regulations.  

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open 
land are out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning 
application. Taking account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the 
recalculated RSS target, the Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
housing land. The NPPF must therefore be afforded significant weight in the determination of 
this application and the presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the 
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole; or where specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

Whilst the application is one of three involved in the development of adjacent parcels of land in 
Middleton and consideration should be afforded to the cumulative impacts of all three 
developments, each application must be considered on its merits.

In assessing the principle of the development, it is clear that there are no specific policies in 
the NPPF that indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that previous 
appeals in the Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing have been 
allowed in the context of the need to boost significantly the supply of housing within the 
Borough for the reasons set out within the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that such land 
was originally safeguarded to meet future development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted 
for examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this 
suggests that a higher housing requirement is needed for the Borough. Furthermore, going 
forward the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of 
new housing against any planned target given the fact that a significant number of further 
dwellings are proposed to be demolished as part of the continued regeneration of existing 
housing areas. To ensure there is no ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions 
will need to be matched by an equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing 
completions. The evidence demonstrates that significant weight must therefore be afforded to 
the benefits of the scheme in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the 
Borough.  

As with the previous application, the proposal would not result in the loss of any areas of best 
and most versatile agricultural land and subject to appropriate mitigation, the impact of the 
development in respect of protected and priority species, nature conservation, the amenity of 
existing and future occupants, archaeological assets, surface water, drainage and 
contamination, would be acceptable.

Since the previous refusal, the safety audit of the affected junctions has been undertaken and 
the revised highway works proposed by the applicant address the findings of the audit. The 



development of up to 150 dwellings and a primary school can be accommodated on the 
highway network subject to the highway mitigation proposed by the applicant and 
recommended by the local highway authority. 

Since the refusal of the previous application, the safety audit undertaken by the Council and 
the revised highway works proposed by the applicant demonstrate that the proposed access 
arrangements would be acceptable in respect of highway and pedestrian safety. In addition, 
the revised Transport Assessment submitted by the applicant demonstrates that the 
cumulative impact of this development in addition to the development of up to 88 dwellings on 
the adjacent site to the east and up to 205 dwellings to the east of Hollin Lane, would result in 
only one junction operating at capacity in the PM peak. 

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF is clear that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. On the 
basis of the evidence submitted, the residual cumulative impacts in relation to the capacity of 
the highway network would not be severe and a refusal on this ground could not be 
substantiated on appeal.  

In addition, the applicant has agreed to provide developer contributions to mitigate the 
demand for primary and secondary school places and formal sports facilities associated with 
the development. The Local Education Authority and Sport England have again raised no 
objection subject to these contributions and as such, a refusal on this ground could not be 
substantiated on appeal.  

In terms of benefits, the proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to meet 
housing needs adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable 
location and would contribute to the provision of affordable housing in the Borough.  
Biodiversity enhancements would be secured and economic and social benefits would arise 
through direct capital investment; additional spending of household income on local services 
and facilities; the creation of direct and indirect jobs throughout construction and through the 
longer term additional spend of households within the local area; and the delivery of cycle lane 
provision and improvements between the site and Middleton Town Centre. 

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land 
valued by the local community in providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban fringe, 
and the loss of agricultural land. Recognising that there is a third application on adjoining land 
that remains undetermined at the present time, it is also accepted that the cumulative impact 
of all three developments would result in one junction operating at capacity in the PM peak, 
however the residual cumulative impacts would not be severe.  In addition, the cumulative 
impact does not arise with only two of the proposed developments. The harm that would arise 
would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal, which is the 
test of national policy. As such, there are no sustainable grounds to justify a refusal of 
planning permission.

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it is 
considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and planning permission 
should be granted subject to appropriate legal agreements and the conditions recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Committee resolve that it is minded to grant planning permission 
subject to the completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure the following: 



• The provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its 
associated SPD: Affordable Housing;

• A financial contribution towards the provision of primary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development multiplied by the relevant 
basic need funding allocation (currently £462,003.75 but the final calculation shall be 
based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time); 

• A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school places in Middleton 
Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1 per dwelling) multiplied 
by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently £231,000.15 but the final 
calculation shall be based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time);

• A financial contribution of Ј16,930.02 towards cycle lane improvements comprising 
new and renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction 
with Langley Lane southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road;

• A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities 
at Bowlee Playing Fields (currently up to £139,374 but the final calculation shall be 
based on the Sport England multipliers in place at the relevant time);

• A financial contribution of £20,000 for the provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane or 
improvements to existing bus stops on Langley Lane;

• A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP); and

• A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and 
management of the landscape open space within the site.

That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
above and subject to the following conditions:-

1 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the development must be 
begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the date of this permission; 
or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  

 2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the following 
matters before the development is commenced:- the layout of the development, the 
means of access to it, the scale and external appearance of the buildings and the 
landscaping of the site.

Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 5 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 
and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration.

 3 The total number of residential units included in any applications for reserved matters 
submitted pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall be limited to a maximum of 
150 dwellings and the development shall be substantially in accordance with the 
following plans:

- Site Location Plan, drg no. 448B-34; 
- Hollin Lane Masterplan Area – Indicative Layout (Option 1 without primary school) – 
drg. No. 448B.58
- Indicative Layout Option 1, drg no. 448B – 47D;



- Land at Langley Lane, Parameters Plan, drg no.448B.50C Parameters Plan

Reason: The layout of the proposed development incorporates a number of key 
parameters that will guide the detailed reserved matters applications, and in the 
interests of mitigating for the impacts of the development on the surrounding 
environment, and provide for an acceptable scale and layout of development and high 
quality environment, in accordance with policies BE/2, NE/2, NE/3, NE/4 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

 4 No development other than that undertaken pursuant to condition number __ of this 
permission, shall take place until a phasing plan for construction of the development 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
phasing plan shall include a programme for works for the provision of 1) each of the 
proposed land uses within the site and 2) the area(s) of recreational public open space 
and the other areas of amenity open space. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved phasing plan(s).

Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision of 
infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details were 
submitted as part of the application.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning and the 
comprehensive development of the site and that any construction works will pre-
determine these details.

 5 Prior to the commencement of development of the vehicular access on to Langley 
Lane hereby approved, full details of that access including construction level drawings 
showing the levels, drainage strategy, lighting and materials (as necessary) of the 
access road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The vehicular access shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
plan (no. ITM6195-GA-011, Proposed Access to Langley Lane Site; and ITM6195-GA-
022, Potential Second Access to Langley Lane Site with Pedestrian Refuge) for the 
access, unless any minor variation is agreed with the Council and the timescales set 
out in the Site Phasing Plan approved pursuant to condition no.5:

Reason: In order to provide safe, secure access to the development in the interests of 
public safety, and ensure continued function of the surrounding highway network, in 
accordance with policy A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 6 No above ground works shall take place within each phase until, details of the finished 
floor and external site levels of the dwellings in that phase, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between surrounding buildings 
and to ensure that the development would not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2, 
EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 7 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment has been 
undertaken by competent persons to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on the site and in addition to any 



assessment provided with the planning application) and a written report of its findings 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The report shall include:
i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
• human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,
livestock,
• pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes,
• adjoining land,
• groundwaters and surface waters,
• ecological systems,
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;
iii) where contamination is identified, an appraisal of remedial options, a proposal of the 
preferred option(s) and a timetable for remedial works

Remedial works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved report and 
timetable.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to contaminated ground on 
commencement. 

 8 No development shall take place until details of a scheme to dispose of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority in consultation with GMEU. The surface water drainage scheme 
shall be based on sustainable drainage principles, shall provide for the total surface 
water run-off rate to be limited to not exceed greenfield run off rates in all events and 
shall incorporate adequate on site attenuation storage. The submitted scheme shall 
include:

i) details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the rate set 
at Qbar if no infiltration is provided
ii) details of exceedence event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change 
allowance
iii) where it is proposed to provide a drainage outfall into any watercourse that feeds 
the Glade and Oaken Bank Woods SBI an appropriate ecological assessment of the 
implications of the proposed outfall works, and the impacts of the operation and flows 
from the outfall.
iv) a timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan for the 
lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any 
public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in 
accordance with the management and maintenance plan.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to 
ensure that surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) 
levels in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, 



Land at Langley Lane, Middleton  (prepared by Ironside Farrar Limited, dated 24th 
June 2014) and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface and foul water from the site 
in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works and on site storage attenuation, these details are required prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site.

 9 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: 

(i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; 
(ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
(iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
(v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; 
(vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction as set out 
in the approved Air Quality Assessment, Land at Langley Lane, Middleton prepared by 
REC, reference 33831-2R3, dated 4th July 2014; and (viii) a scheme for managing and 
the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works in accordance with 
the approved Waste Management Plan, Land at Langley Lane, Middleton, prepared by 
REC, reference 45641_1AP1R1, dated 11th June 2014.

The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.
Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works an understanding will therefore be necessary of what measures will 
be put in place to protect the amenity of nearby residents prior to commencement of 
any building or engineering works on site.

10 No above ground works shall take place within each phase of the development hereby 
permitted until a scheme of Biodiversity Enhancement and Mitigation Measures to be 
provided within that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). 
The scheme shall include: i) full details of those enhancement measures to be 
provided within that phase, which shall include those measures set out in sections 6.5 
to 6.10 of the Ecological Assessment ‘land at Langley Lane, Middleton’ prepared by 
The Environment Partnership (TEP), dated 24-06-2014; ii) timescales for their 
implementation. 

The development within that phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with 
the scheme and implemented in accordance with the approved timescales. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.



11 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby approved shall 
take place until, a Habitat and Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for all 
landscaped areas of the site (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The HLMP 
shall include: (i) protection measures for all retained trees, waterbodies and 
greenspace during the course of development; (ii) long term design objectives; (iii) 
management responsibilities; (iv) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its 
implementation. The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the 
duly approved details and timetable contained therein.

Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 
ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

12 No above ground works within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall 
take place until, a detailed lighting scheme for any external lighting to be installed 
within all highways, footpaths, public open spaces and landscape buffer zones on all 
boundaries of the site, within that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall include its position and height on 
the building or site and its luminance, angle of installation and any hoods to be fixed to 
the lights.  Only lighting as approved shall be installed on the site in accordance with 
the terms of any such approval.

Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation 
status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policy NE/4, the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

13 No development shall take place within each phase of the development hereby 
permitted until, a Reasonable Avoidance Method Statement for Badgers for that phase, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the statement and any approved 
measures.
Reason: In order that the development does not prejudice the favourable conservation 
status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policy NE/4, the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to species and an assessment of the 
mitigation will therefore be necessary prior to commencement of any building or 
engineering works on site.

14 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird nesting. 
Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no development 
including clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for 
protecting nest sites during the course of the development has been agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. Nest site protection shall be provided in accordance 
with the approved methodology.



Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

15 No development shall take place until a detailed method statement for the removal or 
long-term management/eradication of Himalayan Balsam on the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement. The method 
statement shall include measures to prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed and 
Himalayan Balsam during any operations such as mowing, strimming or soil 
movement, and measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the 
seeds/roots/stems of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species 
which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to be caused to be spread in the wild, in accordance with the objectives of 
Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As there are invasive species on site a 
method statement setting out their disposal will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site.

16 No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or their successors 
in title have secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works. The 
programme of archaeological works should be undertaken in accordance with a 
Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The WSI shall cover the following: 

1. A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to 
include: 
- geophysical evaluation 
- evaluation trenching i) targeting geophysical anomalies and ii) including targeted 
evaluation trenching of buildings identified in the desk-based assessment and iii) 
providing an adequate spatial sample of the development site. 
- (depending upon the results of the evaluation) area excavation and recording 
2. A programme for post investigation assessment to include: 
- analysis of the site investigation records and finds 
- production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological, architectural and 
historical interest represented. 
3. Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the site 
investigation. 
4. Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 
investigation. 
5. Nomination of a competent person or persons/ organisation to undertake the works 
set out within the approved WSI.

Reason: In order to protect and preserve the archaeological and historical significance 
of potential below ground heritage assets in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to archaeologically important sites an 
assessment of the necessary mitigation or preventative measures will therefore be 
necessary prior to commencement of any building or engineering works on site.



17 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, the reserved matters applications for 
each phase of the development hereby approved shall be supported by an 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
for that phase. The statement shall be carried out in accordance with in accordance 
with BS 5837:2012 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction. Any 
approved mitigation or protection measures for trees and shrubs to be retained shall be 
put into place prior to and remain in place during any construction work for any phase.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to safeguard 
the health of trees located within the site and in close proximity to the proposed 
development in order to preserve their amenity value and the character of the area in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies NE/8 and 
BE/2.

18 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development in each phase of the 
development hereby approved shall take place until, a scheme of tree protection 
measures for that phase incorporating both above and below ground to be 
implemented during the construction period has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out 
in strict accordance with the protection measures contained within the duly approved 
scheme throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 
safeguard the health of trees and hedgerows within the site in the interests of the 
amenity of the area, and that the development does not prejudice the favourable 
conservation status of protected species in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policy NE/4, NE/7, the National Planning Policy Framework 
and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to ecologically important sites an 
assessment of the necessary buffer zone will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site

19 The dwellings should be constructed in accordance with the recommendations in the 
submitted Noise Impact Assessment and designed to ensure that noise from passing 
traffic does not exceed: (i) 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut and 
other means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; (ii) 35dB(A) Leq (1 hour) 
in other habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided at 
all times; (iii) 45 dB(A) Lmax in bedrooms.

Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling hereby approved, a verification report shall 
have been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
confirming that the approved ventilation and acoustic measures set out in section 5.2 
of the Noise Impact Assessment, Land at Langley Lane report, REC Reference 
90506R0-2, prepared by REC and dated 25th June 2014, have been implemented.

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  



20 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the provision of acoustic 
fencing to be installed in accordance with Appendix 4 of the Noise Impact Assessment, 
Land at Langley Lane report, REC Reference 90506R0-2, prepared by REC and dated 
25th June 2014has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include details of its height, materials, design and siting. 
The scheme shall be installed in accordance with the approved details before any 
dwelling within that phase is first brought into use and shall be retained thereafter. 

Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 
measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

21 Notwithstanding any information provided as part of the application, within three 
months of development first taking place a Travel Plan shall be submitted for the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall contain firm 
measures for promoting a choice of transport mode and a monitoring regime with 
agreed mode share targets. In addition the Plan shall set out the monitoring 
procedures and mechanisms that are to be put in place to ensure that it remains 
effective and shall be reviewed within a framework approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The initiatives contained in the approved Travel Plan shall be implemented 
before the first occupation of the buildings unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall continue to be implemented thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel to the 
site by sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Unitary 
Development Plan policy A/12 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

22 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development hereby 
approved, shall be accompanied by a 'Crime Impact Statement’' (CIS) for that phase 
which shall examine all aspects of site security including where necessary, car parking, 
pedestrian footways, entrances, internal layout and external security measures and 
which shall be capable of meeting 'Secured by Design' requirements. Development of 
that phase shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CIS and any approved 
site security measures shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is appropriately secured from crime in 
the interests of providing a safe, secure and accessible community in accordance with 
policies G.BE/1, BE/2, of the Unitary Development Plan and the policies within the 
NPPF.

23 The submission of reserved matters relating to each phase of the development hereby 
approved shall include a Design and Access Statement demonstrating how that phase 
complies with the approved ‘Langley Lane, Middleton Design and Access Statement (7 
July 2014). The Design Statement shall include details of the design process 
undertaken; justification for the design approach and architectural styles adopted; the 
core design principles guiding development of that phase and how the phase has been 
designed to accord with the design objectives and principles, within the approved 
Design and Access Statement, and the overall framework masterplan within the 
approved ‘Land at Langley Lane Parameters Plan, drwg no. 448B.50C. The statement 
shall include details of how the detailed layout connects into the existing and planned 
surrounding network of routes including roads, footpaths, bridleways and rights of way, 
in particular including the right of way immediately to the east of the site and any 
planned development on the adjacent site.



Reason: In order to secure a high quality form of development and ensure a 
sympathetic relationship with the sites context, its surroundings and adjacent buildings 
and townscape and landscape features in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies G/BE/1, BE/2, and the National Planning Policy Framework.

24 The submission of reserved matters applications shall include detailed landscaping 
plans for the landscape open space and green corridors to be provided within the site. 
The landscaping plans shall follow the principles set out in the approved parameters 
plan (Land at Langley Lane Parameters Plan, 448B.50C) and ecology report 
(reference) show the detailed layout of the replacement habitats to be provided 
including hedgerows, tree planting, ponds and grassy marshland. Such a scheme shall 
include details of the type, species, siting, planting distances and the programme of 
planting of trees and shrubs; the siting, dimensions, and depth of ponds; and the 
timescales for completion. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and timescales. Any trees or shrubs removed, 
dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of 
planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted. 

Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision of replacement habitats and landscape 
features of ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

25 The reserved matters applications for each phase(s) shall be accompanied by details 
of measures to be incorporated into the development for the management of 
household waste during the operation of the development hereby approved. This 
strategy shall be developed in accordance with the principles and objectives within the 
approved Operational Waste Strategy, Langley Lane, Middleton, prepared by REC, 
reference 45641_1BP1R1, dated June 2014. 

Reason: In order to secure the provision of appropriate measures for the storage, 
management and recycling/disposal of waste on the site during the lifetime of the 
development hereby approved, and in the interests of highway safety and the 
character and appearance of the site and surrounding area, in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/7, G/BE/1, BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Author Alison Truman

____________ __---------------------------------------------------------------
__________________


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Submitted Planning Application

